

MASTER THESIS

BARRIERS AND STRATEGIES FOR THE MARKET DIFFUSION OF SOLAR ELECTRIC VEHICLES IN INDIA

SAI PAVAN NANDIGAM

MSc. Sustainable Energy Technology



This page is intentionally left blank.

Barriers and Strategies for The Market Diffusion of Solar Electric Vehicles in India

by

Sai Pavan Nandigam

to obtain the degree of Master of Science in Sustainable Energy Technology at the Delft University of Technology, to be defended publicly on Tuesday, September 26, 2023

Cover page image courtesy - Vayve Mobility

Student number:5498988Project duration:December 2022 - September 2023Thesis committee:Dr. L. M. Kamp,Chairperson, Delft University of TechnologyDr. Ir. J. A. Annema,Supervisor, Delft University of Technology

An electronic version of this thesis is available at http://repository.tudelft.nl/.



This page is intentionally left blank.

Acknowledgements

This thesis project marks the final phase of my journey in the MSc. Sustainable Energy Technology program at Delft University of Technology. As an enthusiast of automobiles, and sustainable energy, my interest and passion in combining these two technologies resulted in the idea of pursuing this thesis on Solar Electric Vehicles (SEV). Recognizing the imperative to integrate SEVs into our transportation networks, along with the escalating demand for electric vehicle innovation in India, led me to select this specific geographical context for my thesis.

I extend my sincere gratitude to the members of the graduation committee for their guidance and invaluable supervision throughout this thesis project. My deepest appreciation goes to my main supervisor, Jan Anne Annema. Your guidance steered me right from the beginning through some of the difficult phases of my thesis research. Your honest feedback during every phase of my thesis shaped the foundation of this work and contributed significantly to its depth and quality. To my thesis chairman, Linda Kamp, I express my gratitude for your invaluable input that helped shape the trajectory of my thesis. Your expertise provided a critical perspective that refined and deepened the focus of my research. Your guidance, and especially your inputs on choosing the right framework and thoughtful insights have been pivotal in refining my thesis process.

I deeply appreciate all the experts I've interviewed, for taking their time and expressing their willingness and interest to contribute to my thesis. Your expertise and firsthand knowledge of the Electric Vehicle industry in India gave me invaluable insights into what works and what doesn't when introducing SEVs in the Indian automobile market.

I extend my sincere appreciation to my parents for all their sacrifices and their unwavering support. There are no words through which I can express how their love and support helped me through everything. To my mother, Vema, thank you for checking in on me every single day. To my father, Rama Krishna Prasad, thank you for your unwavering belief in me, and constant reassurance that everything would eventually fall into place.

A special mention goes to one of my closest friends, Nithin Harish, for being there through thick and thin. Thank you for everything.

I am extremely grateful to all the people I've met and the experiences I've had. Throughout this journey, not only did I learn a great deal about myself, but also learned to appreciate the things which I would have otherwise taken for granted.

Sai Pavan Nandigam Delft, September 2023 This page is intentionally left blank.

Executive Summary

The transportation sector has been known to be one of the most emission-intensive sectors. Within this sector, road transportation accounts for 45% of the total emissions. Switching to electric mobility is one of the solutions that could potentially cut down the emissions, especially in countries like India, which accounts for 7.3% of annual global emissions. However, technological challenges associated with Electric Vehicles (EVs) could potentially hinder the growth and slow down the transition to electric mobility. Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs) have the potential and the ability to deal with the challenges EVs have encountered. In this thesis, their potential is studied by exploring the socio-technical conditions that affect the market diffusion of SEVs in India. Hence these socio-technical conditions are studied in detail through the Technological Innovation Systems (TIS) framework. In order to apply this framework, and identify the conditions which influence the market diffusion of SEVs, the following main research question was raised:

What are the socio-technical conditions that affect the market diffusion of Solar Electric Vehicles in the Indian market?

A qualitative research approach was followed in order to gather relevant information on these socio-technical conditions namely, barriers, opportunities, strategies, and the perspectives/s-takeholders involved that could potentially influence the large-scale diffusion of SEVs in India. This thesis was conducted in four different phases, with desk research and expert interviews as the main research methods.

Firstly, the current status of EVs and their similarities with SEVs were explored, and the favorable policies supporting the development and diffusion of electric vehicles. It has been identified that solar EVs have a similar base architecture as that of battery EVs, with a solar panel as an additional component, often incorporated into the roof of the vehicle. Having an additional power source (solar panel) increases the value of the vehicle as SEVs have two sources of power when compared to the traditional EVs. Although there have been multiple attempts at commercializing SEVs, globally, they are yet to be introduced into the Indian market.

Several frameworks focused on technological innovations discussed in the literature were reviewed in order to determine the conditions that influence the market diffusion of SEVs in India. The TIS framework proposed by Ortt and Kamp (2022) was used to research the sociotechnical conditions surrounding a radical innovation, in the context of a developing country (India). The niche strategy framework proposed by Ortt et al. (2013) was used to identify and extend the list of strategies applicable to commercialize high-tech products. And, the Best Strategy framework proposed by Dwisatyawati (2022), was used to formulate and validate the links between the identified barriers and strategies.

By studying the characteristics of disruptive technology, it was found that SEVs could be classified under disruptive technologies. Therefore, the elements (TIS building blocks, influencing conditions) surrounding a technological innovation, proposed by Ortt & Kamp (2022), were

investigated further to understand their influence on the market diffusion of SEVs. Determining the status (completeness) of the building blocks is crucial to understand whether or not, a large-scale diffusion is possible.

The seven TIS building blocks are (1) product performance and quality, (2) product price, (3) production system, (4) complementary products and services, (5) network formation and coordination, (6) customers, and (7) innovation-specific institutions. In addition to that, the seven influencing conditions are (1) knowledge and awareness of technology (2) knowledge and awareness of application and market, (3) natural, human, and financial resources, (4) competition (5) macro-economic and strategic aspects, (6) socio-cultural aspects, and (7) accidents and events.

The barriers, their underlying influencing conditions, and the affected TIS building blocks were researched further, and linked based on the guidelines provided in the literature (Schulz (2019)). Ultimately, this resulted in the linking of the barriers with their underlying causes. Also, a certain ranking/level of threat according to experts (from high to low) was given to each barrier to understand the threat they pose to the large-scale diffusion of SEVs in India. Based on the rankings given by the experts, the status of TIS building blocks for SEVs in India was determined. Ultimately, it was found that out of 7 TIS building blocks, 2 are incomplete (product price and production system), 4 are partially complete (product performance and quality, network formation and coordination, customers, and innovation-specific institutions) and only 1 of them is fully complete (complementary products and services). The pricesensitive nature of the Indian market and the high upfront cost of the vehicle pose an immediate threat to SEV technology diffusion. Similarly, the threat level of other barriers discussed in this thesis such as 'lack of (technical) knowledge and awareness', 'lack of competition', and 'lack of collaboration among stakeholders' have been identified to be high. However, due to the availability of repair/service and maintenance, and the less reliance of SEVs on the charging infrastructure, the threat level of those barriers is considered to be low. Through such analysis, a total of 24 barriers have been identified with different levels of threat (from high to low), hindering the large-scale diffusion of SEVs in India.

According to Ortt et al. (2013), and Ortt & Kamp (2022), early niches appear when the TIS building blocks are not complete, ultimately resulting in hampered large-scale diffusion processes. However, it was also proposed that certain (niche) strategies can be implemented to circumvent those barriers. In this thesis, such strategies were investigated further and classified into the perspectives of the government, industry, and customers. After carefully analyzing their relevance to SEVs, a total of 34 strategies were proposed and validated through expert interviews. An extra layer of validation has also been provided through case studies on solar mobility companies, Aptera Motors, and Lightyear. These case studies were used to validate the identified theoretical strategies by justifying their implementation in the SEV market.

In order to overcome the identified barriers, using the identified strategies, there are several links possible between them. These links were identified by analyzing the underlying cause of those barriers and proposing several relevant strategies for every underlying influencing condition. A certain guideline was followed to link the strategies with the barriers, based on the rubrics provided by Dwisatyawati (2022). However, this guideline was primarily proposed with the perspective of the industry in consideration by Dwisatyawati (2022). Therefore, this guideline was followed to propose all the relevant links between the strategies with the barriers and has been extended to all the perspectives identified in this thesis. After framing such links it was evident that more than one strategy can be implemented to circumvent each barrier. Later, these links were validated using expert opinions on what they perceived to be the most important strategy. Ultimately, the guideline that was followed and the opinions from the expert interviews paved the way to identify the important strategy decision per barrier.

The rankings provided for these strategies are (in the order of their priority) as follows: (1) Finance sourcing strategy, economic/financial incentives strategy; (2) Research and development (niche) strategy; (3) Partnerships niche strategy; (4) Marketing strategy, word of mouth strategy, promotion/awareness campaign strategy, geographical niche strategy, continuous user engagement strategy; (5) Product variants strategy. The important strategy decision per barrier can be made by considering the strategies that were given a highest ranking, and varying if the highly-ranked strategy is present in the list of relevant strategies linked for each individual barrier. In the case when multiple strategies are given the same ranking, the important strategy decision is made by selecting the a strategy that can benefit multiple stakeholders upon its implementation.

It was identified that the barriers and strategies associated with the financial aspects are some of the crucial socio-technical conditions having a major influence on the large-scale diffusion of SEVs. It was also evident that SEVs have a huge potential to disrupt the urban mobility market (which falls within the geographical scope of this thesis) as the purchasing power of the population living in the urban areas in India is higher than that of the rural areas. For instance, the high upfront cost of the vehicle prevents potential customers from purchasing an SEV. Therefore, SEVs with high purchase costs (>17000 EUR) are less likely to succeed in the mass market. However, introducing affordable financing schemes or offering the vehicle at a lower cost, facilitates the middle-class Indian consumer an opportunity to purchase the vehicle, thereby removing the immediate threat to the large-scale diffusion of SEVs.

By analyzing all the barriers to SEVs, a vicious cycle of barriers (pattern) was identified, where each barrier contributes to another, making it challenging to break this loop to facilitate the growth of the SEV industry in India. For instance, limited developments in the technology and limited availability of variants, affect the decision of the policy makers, ultimately, resulting in less awareness among potential end users. Due to the lack of awareness, creating a demand would be challenging, ultimately preventing the companies from taking the necessary initiatives. The list of strategies (discussed above) in their order of priority can be incorporated into the process of breaking this vicious cycle and addressing the barriers identified in this thesis. Ultimately, the recommendations originating from this key finding are provided to each of the stakeholders/perspectives identified in this thesis. This page is intentionally left blank.

Contents

1	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	General background	1
	1.2	Climate change in India and EV development	3
	1.3	Problem definition	3
	1.4	Knowledge gap and research objective	4
	1.5	Research questions and sub-research questions	4
	1.6	Research scope	5
	1.7	Thesis structure	6
h	Deer	and Mathedalam.	0
2	Rese	arch Methodology	0
	2.1	Research Phases	8
	2.2	Desk research	10
	2.3	Expert interviews	12
3	The	oretical Framework	16
	3.1	Disruptive technologies	16
	3.2	Technological Innovation System Framework	17
	3.3	Ten Niche Strategies To Commercialize New High-Tech Products	21
	3.4	Best Strategy Framework	23
Δ	Curr	ent Status of EVs in India	24
-	/ 1	Evolution of EVs in India	24
	4.1 4.2	Favourable Policies for the Development of EVs	25
	1.2 1 3	Comparison of EV and SEV technologies	$\frac{20}{26}$
	4.4	Bationale for Solar Electric Vehicles: Drawing Parallels with the Electric Vehicle	20
		Sector	27
	4.5	Tracing the Evolution and Journey of Solar Electric Vehicles	28
	4.6	India's First SEV	29
5	Pote	ential Barriers and Opportunities for Market Diffusion	31
0	51	Barriers identified from literature	31
	5.2	Opportunities for Market Diffusion	36
	53	Chapter summary	38
	0.0		00
6	Pote	ential Strategies for Market Diffusion	40
	6.1	Important observations on theoretical strategies	40
	6.2	Strategies applicable to industry	42
	6.3	Strategies applicable to government	45
	6.4	Strategies applicable to customers	47
	6.5	Case study on strategies: Aptera Motors and Lightyear	47
	6.6	Chapter summary	50

Contents

7	Exp	ert Interviews	53
	7.1	Interviews - Phase 2	53
	7.2	Interviews - Phase 3	55
	7.3	Interviews - Phase 4	58
	7.4	Chapter summary	60
8	Res	ults and Discussion	62
	8.1	Results from phase 2	62
	8.2	Results from phase 3	69
	8.3	Results from phase 4	71
9	Con	clusion and Recommendations	76
	9.1	Conclusion	76
	9.2	Recommendations	79
	9.3	Contribution of this research	83
	9.4	Relevance of this research	84
Ap	pend	lix A	95
•	1	Functions of Innovation Systems: A broader perspective	95
Ap	pend	lix B	97
	1	Expert interviews	97
Ap	pend	lix C	99
-	1	List of strategies based on master thesis reports	99
	2	Strategy description	101

List of Figures

1.1	Thesis structure	7
$2.1 \\ 2.2 \\ 2.3$	Research flow diagram	8 11 12
3.1	The element of a barrier (AB) and its influence (C) on the large-scale diffusion process by Schulz (2019)	19
4.1	Comparing SEV and BEV technology by mapping their sources of energy, to the process of energy conversion and their end energy use (Dwisatyawati, 2022)	26
4.24.3	The difference in the design of various SEVs, Lightyear (top left), Aptera Motors (top right), and Vayve Mobility (bottom), (Lightyear, 2021), (Apter Motors, 2022), (Vayve Mobility, 2023)	27 27
4.4	Evolution of solar mobility companies	29
$7.1 \\ 7.2$	Classification of interviews into different phases of this thesis	53
7.3	literature	54
	literature	56
$8.1 \\ 8.2$	Extension of original TIS framework to SEVs in India Link between TIS building blocks and underlying influencing conditions of the	62
83	main barrier adapted from Schulz (2019)	63
0.0	of a main barrier and the suitable strategies	72

This page is intentionally left blank.

List of Tables

$2.1 \\ 2.2$	Purpose of each interview	13 14
$3.1 \\ 3.2$	TIS building blocks and influencing conditions proposed by Ortt & Kamp (2022) Ten niche strategies to commercialize new high-tech products (Ortt et al., 2013)	21 22
$5.1 \\ 5.2$	Barriers affecting the adoption of electric vehicles in India (Tarei et al., 2021) Barriers affecting the adoption of electric vehicles from the perspective of cus-	32
$5.3 \\ 5.4$	Barriers encountered by Tesla Motors (Stringham et al., 2015) Barriers encountered during the transition to natural gas vehicles (Hidayatno	33 34
5.5	et al., 2020)	35
5.6	nologies (Kemp et al., 1998). Final list of barriers and opportunities obtained from literature .	$\frac{36}{39}$
$6.1 \\ 6.2 \\ 6.3 \\ 6.4$	Strategies tailored for industry perspective	$44 \\ 46 \\ 47 \\ 52$
7.1	Key findings from interviews with experts A and B and their relevance with barriers from literature	55
7.3	strategies from literature	57
7.4	strategies from literature	58
7.5	barriers from literature	58
81	Barriers underlying influencing conditions and the affected TIS building blocks	64
8.2	Validation received from experts A and B on the barriers	67
8.3	Status of TIS building blocks for SEVs in India	69
$8.4 \\ 8.5$	Validation received from experts C and D and F on the strategies Linkages between barriers and strategies, along with the perspectives/stake- holders involved	71 74
$\frac{1}{2}$	Strategies applicable to radical innovations in niches by Schulz (2019) Strategies applicable to multiple actors associated with sustainable energy tech-	99
	noiogies by t veid (2020) \ldots	100

List of Tables

3	Strategies pertaining to the mass adoption of solar electric vehicles by Dwisatyawati
	$(2022) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $

List of Abbreviations

AGV	Automated Guided Vehicle
Al	Artificial Intelligence
AMP	Automotive Mission Plan
BWM	Best-Worst Method
DHI	Department of Heavy Industries
EMA	Exploratory Modeling and Analysis
EVs	Electric Vehicles
FAME	Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of (Hybrid &) Electric Vehicles
ICEVs	Internal Combustion Engine Vehicles
DOs	International aid and Development Organizations
ISM	Interpretive Structural Modeling
MDCM	Multi-Criteria Decision Making
NACS	North American Charging Standard
NBEM	National Board for Electric Mobility
NEMMP	National Electric Mobility Mission Plan
NGOs	Non-Governmental Organizations
RECC	Reva Electric Car Company
SETs	Sustainable Energy Technologies
SEVs	Solar Electric Vehicles
TIS	Technological Innovation Systems

1 Introduction

1.1 General background

If there is one major challenge that humanity is facing currently it is climate change. From the Northern to Southern hemispheres, and from east to west, almost every region on Earth has seen the consequences of climate change due to global warming. Although global warming was noticed during the late 19th century, it wasn't until after rapid industrialization and globalization that the consequences were realized (Bose, 2010). The rapid increase in global temperatures in the 1980s and the resulting droughts, wildfires, and watershed events led to the stark realization of climate change ("Climate", 2017). Now, the causes of climate change are manifold. However, the burning of fossil fuels such as coal, oil, and gas accounts for the highest contribution to climate change, and as a result, the emission of large amounts of greenhouse gases (Akpan, 2012).

Burning of these fuels has been essential in almost every sector to generate the required energy. However, the consequences due to that have been ignored, at least until the late 20th century (Carvalho, 2017). Now, there are several sectors that are energy (emission) intensive such as electricity, industry, transport, commercial, residential, etc. Among all these sectors, transportation has been recorded to be a significant emissions-intensive sector accounting for one-fifth of global greenhouse gas emissions (Bilgen, 2014). If we look closer into the transportation sector, emissions from road transport account for about 45% of the whole sector, while the remaining comes from aviation, rail travel, and freight (Ritchie et al., 2023). Therefore, the focus of this research has been limited to road transportation.

One of the solutions for limiting these emissions is to electrify the transportation sector by phasing out the Internal Combustion Engine Vehicles responsible for the release of greenhouse gases (Duarte Souza Alvarenga Santos, 2021). Therefore, several countries and the big players in the automobile field are transitioning toward electric mobility (Dijk et al., 2013). Although the invention of electric vehicles dates back to the early 1800s, they did not gain the importance and popularity they currently have, until the late 20th century (Simpson et al, 2014). Due to the high availability and affordability of oil and gas production in the US and the OPEC (The Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries), during the early 20th century, the majority of the vehicles on the road ever since have been Internal Combustion Engine Vehicles (Mirchi et al, 2012). As a result, the sources of petroleum and oil have been exploited rapidly, which led to their high prices and scarcity. Therefore, to reach energy independence, technologies with a better fuel economy, and lower fuel prices were explored (Alliance, 2019). This resulted in a gradual (political and technological) shift towards hybrid and electric vehicles. General Motors (GM) was one of the pioneers in the modern electric vehicle industry. Although GM's first model EV1 did not achieve the anticipated success in reaching the mass market, it started the (modern) EV revolution (Edelstein, 2021). It wasn't until the release and the worldwide success of Toyota's hybrid electric vehicle Prius in 2000, EVs didn't gain the awareness and attention they needed (Danstrong, 2013). Toyota Prius set the benchmark for most of the EVs that originated ever since.

1 Introduction

As batteries are an essential component within an electric vehicle, be it, Hybrid Electric Vehicles (HEVs), Battery Electric Vehicles (BEVs), Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles (PHEVs), Fuel Cell Electric Vehicles (FCEVs), and also Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs), any change in the battery market has a direct impact on the EV market (Melin et al., 2021). Therefore, an increase or decrease in battery prices affects the growth of EVs accordingly. The cost of batteries, especially Lithium-ion batteries, has proven to continuously decline, year by year, as there are more technological advancements that resulted in smaller sizes and higher capacity when compared to two to three decades ago. For instance, the cost of Lithium-ion batteries per kWh in 1991 was close to \$7500, while the same costs about \$150 now (Nykvist et al., 2015). With this decline, EVs are close to their tipping point in competing with ICEVs (Carrington, 2021). This rapid decline in the prices of batteries (and the overall cost of an EV) encouraged many automobile manufacturers to consider producing more EVs, and people to buy EVs over ICEVs.

Although it is anticipated that EVs will solve the problems associated with greenhouse gas emissions and soaring oil and gas prices, there are a few drawbacks to EV technology. For example, one of the barriers is the range anxiety for the EV owner due to the limited capacity of batteries (energy for propulsion) when compared to the ICEV counterpart which limits the possibility of driving long ranges on a single charge (Goel et al., 2021). In addition to that, higher charging times have also proven to be a barrier to purchasing an EV. Charging times are proportional to the size of the batteries. Hence larger batteries will require more time to charge from an empty state to a reasonably higher or full state (Goel et al., 2021). Another (external) barrier is the lack of adequate (and sustainable) grid infrastructure to charge the EVs whenever necessary, especially during peak demand hours. Therefore, researching the capability of Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs) and their potential to eliminate some of the barriers that EVs encounter is crucial (Newman, n.d.).

SEVs, along with the most common features of an EV, also have an additional power source; solar modules over the roof/surface of the vehicle (Newman, n.d.). These solar modules convert the sunlight into useful electrical energy by charging the battery and powering electric motors to propel the vehicle forward. SEVs came to light in 1985 during the first solar car race in Switzerland (Heinrich et al. 2020). Due to the high costs and low yield of solar technology, it was almost impossible to introduce them to the market. However, the cost of solar technology decreased over time, and now, it is cheaper than ever (Barker et al., 2005). This reduction in the price and increase in the efficiency of solar technology is a great argument for the development of SEVs by companies such as Lightyear, Sono Motors, and Aptera Motors (Bringam, 2022). The well-known benefit of SEVs is that their overall carbon emissions are much lower compared to ICEVs (Newman, n.d.). What makes SEVs stand out is the additional range provided by the solar panels. Newman (n.d.) claims that the solar yield could be up to 20000 km per year just from solar energy, depending on the size and the efficiency of the solar roof. While most of the solar range is obtained during sunny days (summer), it has also been observed that the owner of the vehicle can save electricity costs from charging. This, in turn, would cut down the frequency of plug-ins to charge the vehicle by 23-40%. Overall, they are capable of reducing the burden on the electricity grid caused by EVs, and (potentially) can assist the grid by providing the energy back to the grid (Vehicle-to-grid) whenever necessary.

Although there are certain benefits of SEVs, there are a few limitations within the technology itself. The geographical location where SEVs are in use must have a considerable amount of solar irradiation for the vehicle to run on solar energy. Therefore, the market for such vehicles is predominantly limited to countries with moderate to high solar irradiation. Hence sunnier countries such as Spain, Morocco, Australia, Indonesia, India, etc are seen as the potential market for such vehicles.

1.2 Climate change in India and EV development

Over the past three decades, the realization of climate change in India has occurred due to several abnormal conditions of living such the drastic changes in the temperature, ocean warming, sea level rise, changes in rainfall, droughts, etc (Krishnan et al., 2023). To tackle the problems associated with climate change, the Government of India (GOI) took measures by increasing the share of renewable energy (primarily the energy generated from wind and solar) and transitioning to electric mobility (Vidhi et al., 2018).

India's current CO_2 emissions are close to 2.7 billion tons, about ten times higher than the emissions in 1980, which accounts for 7.3% of annual global emissions (Ritchie et al., 2020). The burning of coal and oil is primarily responsible for these emissions. Although usage of coal is predicted to increase in the coming years, the Indian government plans to curb the overall emissions by increasing the capacity of renewable energy to 500 GW, and expanding the forests for them to absorb close to 3 billion tons of CO_2 by 2030 (Luthra, 2022). Out of all the sectors in India, power, industry, and transportation are by far the largest emitting sectors (Ritchie et al., 2020). Switching from fossil fuel-powered plants to renewables to produce power and relying on energy from renewables for industrial purposes would limit the CO_2 emissions to a greater extent in power and industry sectors. Similarly, transitioning to electric mobility will limit tailpipe emissions from the transportation sector. Due to the increased awareness and the necessity many countries, along with India, are currently striving to transition to electric mobility.

1.3 Problem definition

After establishing the importance of the transition to electric mobility in India, it is crucial to identify and address the challenges to this transition. After investigating this further, it was identified that the EV sector in India is in its nascent stage (Chaturvedi et al. 2022). Technological innovations supporting and complementing the development of the EV sector are crucial and are needed in order for the technology to mature. SEVs have the potential to address the challenges that the EV sector is encountering, and consequently, the potential to accelerate India's transition to electric mobility. Since SEVs are an up-and-coming technology, globally, the author of the current research took an interest in investigating the feasibility of SEV technology in India. Therefore, through this research, the author aims to study the market conditions and different factors that influence the adoption of SEVs in India. As SEVs are still in the early stages of technological advancement, certain challenges are likely to be anticipated in the process of their introduction and large-scale diffusion. In order to address those challenges, certain strategies that apply to commercialize SEV technology have to be researched and developed (Ertmer, 1999). Therefore, the author of the current work aims to explore the barriers and the strategies that circumvent those barriers, in this thesis.

1.4 Knowledge gap and research objective

In order to understand the success of SEVs in a particular region, it is crucial to study the technologies that are closely associated with SEVs, such as electric vehicles and solar photovoltaics (PV). Even though the EV and solar PV markets (individually) have experienced growth due to extensive research and development, backed by the policy initiatives of the Government of India, SEVs have gained little to no attention. The extent of the attention and interest in SEVs has been limited to the prototypes developed by students across various universities in India and other individual small-scale efforts (Prajapati et al., 2020).

Prajapati et al. (2020) discussed the successful (non-commercial) implementation of various solar vehicles through case studies across India. These case studies demonstrate the huge potential that SEVs have in India (Prajapati et al., 2020). In addition to that, the geographical advantage due to the high solar irradiation makes India an attractive market for SEVs. Although the introduction of SEVs into the Indian automobile market is currently pending, they have the potential to transform the automobile sector and contribute to the transition toward India's electric mobility. By the end of this thesis research, the knowledge gap in this area will be filled, and a detailed explanation of the conditions that influence the entry of SEVs into the Indian market will be provided.

The knowledge gap described above has been identified during the initial literature survey. During the literature survey, the following search query,

("Barriers OR challenges") AND/OR ("Strategies") AND ("mass adoption" OR "development" OR "market" OR "market diffusion" OR "introduction") AND ("Solar Electric Vehicles" OR "Solar cars" or "Vehicle Integrated Photovoltaics") AND India,

has been used. From the multiple combinations of such search queries, the existing literature reveals a significant gap in research pertaining to the Indian market. This knowledge gap, later, was also validated from the interviews with experts.

1.5 Research questions and sub-research questions

Based on the identified research gap in the literature, the following research question(s) are formulated to get the most out of the research and address the knowledge gap. These questions will be answered primarily through desk research, followed by expert interviews. In the case of a lack of data, valid assumptions will be extrapolated from the industries or technologies that are closely associated with SEVs, such as electric vehicles and solar PV, to draw conclusions. This resulted in framing the main research question:

"What are the socio-technical conditions that affect the market diffusion of Solar Electric Vehicles in the Indian market?"

In order to understand the strategies that are applied for market diffusion, it is crucial to study the barriers that prevent SEVs from entering the market. After identifying the barriers, the corresponding strategies will be proposed to address those barriers. This discussion will be based on the answers to the following questions.

1. Why does solar mobility present a viable option, and how can parallels between the electric vehicle (EV) sector and Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs) be drawn to understand their applicability and potential in India?

- 2. What according to the existing theories in literature could be labeled as barriers that hinder and opportunities that facilitate the introduction and diffusion of SEVs in India?
- 3. What are the strategies available to address the barriers faced by SEVs (high-tech innovations) according to the existing literature? How can these identified strategies be used to develop and diffuse SEV technology at a large scale in India?
- 4. Based on existing frameworks, what are the possible links between the barriers and the strategies identified? From the established link between strategies and barriers, how can the best strategy be selected per barrier?

1.6 Research scope

In order to gather relevant data on SEV technology (through the main research methods, desk research, and expert interviews) a specific scope was established for this thesis. This section elaborates on the extent of this study.

- 1. Focused perspectives: The study concentrates on specific viewpoints, including those of government, customers, and industry stakeholders, in order to delve deeply into their roles and impact. Other stakeholders such as research, financial institutes, competitors, NGOs, and IDOs face their own barriers and can implement their own strategies, but due to targeted perspectives, those conditions are not explored in detail.
- 2. Geographical focus: The research is limited to the conditions prevalent in India and similar countries, narrowing down the context for analysis. Therefore, the findings are applicable mainly to developing countries like India and regions with ample sunlight. It may not fully encompass nations outside these criteria. In order to ensure uniformity throughout this thesis, the focus of this thesis is limited to the conditions of cities (urban areas) in India, as the conditions vary in rural areas based on the demography.
- 3. **Specific vehicle focus**: The research concentrates on Solar Electric Vehicles that share the foundational architecture of Battery Electric Vehicles, with the addition of solar panels, limiting its scope to this specific vehicle type. Moreover, the investigation pertains only to passenger cars and autocycles that can integrate solar technology, defining a specific category of vehicles under study.
- 4. Aerodynamic aspect: The aerodynamics of the vehicle highly influence the performance of the vehicle such as the driving speed, energy consumption, and related parameters. Therefore, such technical parameters and their influence on the socio-technical conditions of SEVs are not considered in this thesis.
- 5. Current landscape (situation): The applicability of findings is primarily based on the current landscape and the current conditions of the market. As circumstances evolve, new barriers may emerge or fewer barriers may exist when compared to the present situation, therefore, necessitating adjustments in strategies.

1 Introduction

1.7 Thesis structure

This section explains the structure followed throughout this thesis as shown in figure 1.1. Firstly, in Chapter 1, an introduction to this research is provided, along with the problem statement, research questions, and scope of this thesis. In Chapter 2, the research methodology is elaborated, while Chapter 3 focuses on the theoretical framework followed to conduct this thesis. Chapter 4 deals with the current status of the EV market in India, and its similarities with SEVs. In Chapter 5, theoretical barriers, and opportunities are explored, followed by the theoretical strategies from three different perspectives in Chapter 6. Expert interviews conducted during this thesis and the key findings from these interviews are discussed in Chapter 7. The results obtained from the analysis of the theoretical barriers, opportunities, and strategies including the key findings from the interviews are presented in Chapter 8. Ultimately, the conclusions obtained from this thesis are outlined in Chapter 9, along with the recommendations.



Figure 1.1: Thesis structure

2 Research Methodology

In this chapter of this thesis, the step-by-step approach followed to investigate the topic of "Barriers and Strategies for the market diffusion of Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs) in India" is outlined. The research for this thesis is conducted throughout four phases. Due to the qualitative nature of this study, two research methods with the objective of gathering the data are identified and implemented, namely, desk research and empirical research (expert interviews). The research phases and the research methods are discussed in detail in the following sections. Section 2.1 outlines multiple phases in this thesis. Whereas in section 2.2, the literature review, and the perspectives identified from the literature are highlighted. Finally, in section 2.3, the approach followed to conduct expert interviews is highlighted.

2.1 Research Phases

In order to properly classify the information gathered during the research and to ensure a proper structure is maintained throughout the research, this thesis is conducted in four phases. The relevant literature identified is thoroughly reviewed in each phase. Expert interviews were conducted only during phases 2, 3, and 4.



Figure 2.1: Research flow diagram

Phase One:

The research process began with a comprehensive review of the existing literature on Solar Electric Vehicles in order to gain a general understanding of the topic. It was observed that there was a scarcity of literature available, with only one notable work (Barriers and Strategies Analysis on Mass Adoption of Solar Electric Vehicles in Indonesia) by Dwisatyawati (2022).

Recognizing the need for suitable frameworks to guide the research, various frameworks that are applicable to the study were explored. Two frameworks, namely the Technological Innovation Systems (TIS) framework proposed by Ortt and Kamp, and the framework developed by Hekkert et al., were identified. Upon further research and review, it was determined that the TIS framework by Ortt and Kamp would be the most suitable for the current research.

The subsequent step involved examining master thesis documents that utilized the TIS framework to gain insights into its application. This analysis aimed to understand how the framework had been effectively employed in previous research. By leveraging the experiences and outcomes documented in these master theses, the author sought to enhance their understanding of the TIS framework's practical implementation and its relevance to the study of SEVs in India.

Phase Two:

In this phase, the author identified the barriers and opportunities of SEVs in India from various scientific literature related to SEVs, particularly electric vehicles. It was also crucial to identify the different perspectives from which the barriers can be studied. Therefore, SEV technology is studied from the perspective of companies (industry), government (policymakers), and customers. After classifying the identified literature according to the different perspectives, all the identified barriers relevant to SEVs are summarized in the chapter summary.

However, as the SEV industry is in its infancy, there is limited research and information available. Hence, the author conducted interviews with experts in the (solar) electric vehicle field to gather information and validate the results. The interviews included experts from the industry, the Ministry of Transport (policymakers), and academic researchers. The author believes that these interviews offered a valuable contribution to the literature as they provided a more in-depth understanding of the current state of SEVs in India.

The findings from the desk research and the interviews are summarized in the results section, where the completeness of the functions in the TIS framework is discussed. The TIS framework is employed to group (classify) the identified barriers, and the TIS building blocks together, using the influencing conditions that cause the barrier. Based on the level of impact of the barriers (validated from the interviews), the status of TIS building blocks for SEV technology in India is determined.

Phase Three:

The objective of this phase was to research the strategies used to diffuse a disruptive technology in the mass market. Ortt's ten niche strategies, and Dwisatyawati's (2022) Best Strategy Framework (elaborated on in section 3.4), are used as a basis for identifying the available strategies. Once all the available (and relevant) strategies are identified, a procedure is followed, similar to the steps taken during the second phase, i.e., validating the identified strategies with expert interviews. The desk research (studying various types of literature on theoretical strategies) along with expert interviews, are used as a basis to rank all the strategies identified. The author believes that this research provided a comprehensive understanding of the strategies used to diffuse disruptive technologies and how they can be applied to the SEV industry.

Phase Four:

In this phase, the author of the present work identified the link between the barriers and strategies and identified the best strategy (per barrier) based on the author's logical thinking supported by research findings and interviews. TIS framework was used as a basis to form the link between the barriers, their underlying conditions, and the affected TIS building blocks.

2 Research Methodology

These links were later used to map all the applicable strategies that can circumvent a particular barrier. Also, the links proposed across multiple pieces of literature were reviewed to identify the logical strategy links that are applicable in circumventing the barriers to high-tech innovations. From the list of all the possible strategies to circumvent a barrier, the most important strategy is selected (per barrier) based on the ranking given to the identified strategies by the experts.

2.2 Desk research

In the literature review phase, several pieces of literature such as master thesis documents, and published articles related to the barriers and strategies were identified. From this research, different perspectives were identified according to various literature. Depending on the types of barriers faced, they are categorized into the barriers faced by industry (companies), government (policy makers), customers (technology users), as shown in Fig. 2.2. Firstly, the barriers that any disruptive technology encounters during the market entry phase are studied. In order to understand the barriers faced by Solar Electric Vehicles, the barriers faced by closely associated technologies (such as electric vehicles, and other renewable energy technologies) are studied in depth. From the literature search, it has been identified that various research has been conducted in line with the barriers associated with EV technology. The literature review was conducted in such a way that there is less overlap in the barriers identified from various literature, and only the articles/publications that highlight certain new barriers (different from the already identified barriers but relevant to a disruptive technology) are discussed.

The literature review on the potential strategies began by conducting a comprehensive search for strategies related to solar electric vehicles (SEVs) and sustainable energy technologies in general. Various academic literature (from TU Delft repository), research journals (Research Gate), and reputable websites (Google Scholar) were consulted to identify studies, articles, and reports relevant to strategies.

In summary, it became evident during the initial exploration that limited direct literature was available, specifically addressing the barriers and strategies for SEVs in the Indian context. Recognizing this research gap, the focus shifted towards summarizing the findings from existing literature on sustainable energy technologies and electric vehicles that were relevant to SEVs and adaptable to the Indian context. To ensure a comprehensive analysis, the findings from the existing literature were carefully evaluated. This approach facilitated the classification of strategies into three perspectives: government (policy makers), industry (companies), and customers.

2.2.1 Identification of perspectives from the literature

In this thesis, strategies and barriers for the market diffusion of Solar Electric vehicles (SEVs) have been identified from various perspectives, including industry (companies), government (policymakers), and customers (end users). Painuly (2001) acknowledges the perspective of the government and emphasizes the role of policymakers in facilitating the diffusion of Sustainable Energy Technologies (for example, SEVs). According to 't Veld (2020), the government holds the power to liberalize the markets and facilitate guaranteed markets for the actors (companies) entering the market. After realizing the importance of the role of government, it

has been identified to be a crucial perspective by the author of the present work. Therefore, the government (policymakers) perspective has been incorporated into this thesis.

Schulz (2019) highlights that the role of industry is crucial, and collaboration among multiple stakeholders is paramount in bringing in the research and development needed to support the growth of innovations such as SEVs (Dwisatyawati, 2022), ('t Veld, 2020). Acknowledging the role of various industry players in the market diffusion of SEVs, the industry (company) perspective has been incorporated into this thesis.

Krishna (2021) researched the perspective of customers on the adoption of electric vehicles. It was identified that end-user awareness and acceptance are at the heart of technology diffusion (Krishna, 2021). Therefore, the final perspective of customers (end users) has been added to this thesis. However, it was evident from the literature review that there are more perspectives that influence the mass adoption of SEVs such as the perspectives of investors, competitors, educational institutes, etc ('t Veld, 2020). While the focus of the thesis is primarily on the theories applicable to the industry, government, and customers, it is important to acknowledge the existence of other perspectives and their potential relevance to the research.

Ultimately, the thesis provides a comprehensive analysis of the diffusion of SEVs, focusing primarily on the industry, government, and customer perspectives. It is important to note that while perspectives such as investors, competitors, and educational institutes are recognized in the research, the thesis does not delve into these perspectives, in-depth. However, relevant findings from these perspectives that are deemed essential to the research objectives and contribute to the understanding of the diffusion of SEVs are incorporated and discussed within the corresponding sections.



Figure 2.2: Multiple perspectives of the identified barriers and strategies

2.3 Expert interviews

This section explains the steps followed to gather information and validate the findings of this research through semi-structured qualitative interviews. According to Döringer (2020), such qualitative interviews are crucial in investigating the expertise and perspectives of the interviewees (experts) to understand the social reality of the topic in question (SEVs in this research) (Döringer, 2021). Semi-structured interviews offer the flexibility to ask open-ended questions to the interviewees, thereby allowing the interviewees to share their (in-depth) knowledge about the topic (Adams, 2015).

2.3.1 Interview structure

After selecting a particular expert for the interview, the following procedure has been followed to gather information and validation in the interviews. Firstly, the interview begins through the introduction, followed by briefing the interviewee on the thesis topic, and the structure of the interview. Once, the introduction part of the interview is done, open questions related to the (Solar) Electric Vehicles were asked. These questions were different (from interview to interview) based on the phase of the thesis, and also the expertise of the interviewee. As the interviews were conducted in phases, the questions asked during the interviews also changed, depending on the phase. For example, during phase 2 of this thesis, the research focus was primarily on the barriers and opportunities for SEVs in India. Therefore, the questions during the open discussion were also focused on the barriers and opportunities. As the experts chosen for the interviews were from different backgrounds, the questions also were focused on the area of their expertise. For example, during phase 3, in the interview with one of the experts, Co-founder and COO at Vayve Mobility, most of the questions revolved around the strategies that were applicable to SEVs, from an industry perspective. Overall, the open discussion part of the interview provided insights ranging from the policies, industry conditions, as well as the consumer's perception of SEVs.

Once the open discussion part of the interview is done, the discussion is focused on validating the theoretical findings (such as the barriers, and strategies based on the existing literature). This validation is used for analyzing the level of influence a particular strategy or barrier will have on the introduction and large-scale diffusion of SEVs. In figure 2.3, the flow of the expert interviews is shown.



Figure 2.3: Flow of the semi-structured interview

As the discussion during the interview was based on the phase of the thesis and the expertise of the interviewee, the information and the validation received were also unique to a particular interview. Table 2.1 provides an overview of the type and the purpose of each interview.

							Expert G	Expert G	
Interview purpose	Expert A	Expert B	Expert C	Expert D	Expert E	Expert F	(interview 1)	(Interview 2)	Expert H
(New) information on barriers	✓	 ✓ 					✓		✓
Validation of theoretical barriers from									
literature	~	 ✓ 							
(New) information on strategies			✓	✓	✓	✓	✓		✓
Validation of theoretical strategies									
from literature			~	 ✓ 		 ✓ 			
Recommendations for linking barriers									
and strategies							~		~
Validation of the theoretical links									
between barriers and strategies								1	~

Table 2.1: Purpose of each interview

2.3.2 Selection of experts

A certain process of selecting experts for interviews was followed to ensure a thorough exploration of Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs). This process had three main steps.

- Firstly, experts whose knowledge was related to SEVs or other fields closely connected to them were researched using LinkedIn and also through the author's personal connections.
- Secondly, the positions and the roles of these experts in their respective organizations were considered. It was made sure that the experts selected were from different backgrounds and viewpoints, to ensure a well-rounded understanding of (Solar) Electric Vehicles from various angles.
- Most importantly, the selection was based on the availability of the experts and their willingness to participate and contribute their time and knowledge to this research.

A total of 36 experts were approached by the author of the present work. Out of all the experts approached 8 of them expressed their willingness and agreed to contribute to this research, resulting in a response success rate of 22.22%. Upon reviewing the feedback from several interviewees, it became evident that certain individuals preferred to maintain their anonymity, while others granted permission for their names to be disclosed. To ensure uniformity and coherence in the presentation of interview data within this thesis, the author of this study has opted to preserve the anonymity of all expert names. Therefore, the interviewees have been given the codes expert A, expert B, expert C, and so on, in the order (timeline) of the interviews conducted. Since all the selected experts were based outside the Netherlands, the Microsoft Teams platform was used to schedule, record, and transcribe, all the (online) interviews, after receiving consent from the interviewees. Each of these experts was given a color (consistent throughout this thesis) in order to identify their contribution to this research with ease.

2 Research Methodology

Interviewee	Role/designation	Associated organization (or) company	Interview timeline	No. of interviews
Expert A	Assistant Professor	Indian Institute of Technology (IIT), Dhanbad	May	1
Expert B	Deputy Director	Ministry of Transport, Delhi	May	1
Expert C	Consultant	Rocky Mountain Institute (RMI), Delhi	June	1
Expert D	Consultant	World Bank, Delhi	July	1
Expert E	Senior Research Associate	Evreporter, Gurugram	July	1
Expert F	Co-founder and COO	Vayve Mobility, Pune	July	1
Expert G	Associate Director - Electric Mobility	Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation, Delhi	July/August	2
Expert H	Program Manager	Aptera Motors, Los Angeles	August	1

Fable 2.2: Background	of the	experts :	selected	for	the	interviews
-----------------------	--------	-----------	----------	-----	-----	------------

Expert A, an esteemed Assistant Professor at the prestigious Indian Institute of Technology, is an expert in sustainability and electric vehicle supply chain research within India. Their expertise aligns closely with the research focus of this thesis. Notably, a research article authored by expert A significantly contributed as a reference during research phase 2, underlining the relevance of their insights. This recognition of their valuable input led to the decision to select the interviewee, seeking deeper insights into the challenges and opportunities surrounding the mass adoption of (solar) electric vehicle technology.

Expert B, Deputy Director of Delhi Transport Infrastructure Development Corporation's EV cell, brings seven years of experience and a comprehensive background in electric mobility. His prior role in the Ministry of Power focused on charging policy implementation, adds a deep layer of expertise. Currently shaping Delhi's sustainable transportation policies, expert B's selection for this interview was driven by his exceptional insights from the perspective of a policymaker, which was vital for a comprehensive understanding of the role of government.

Expert C, currently serving as a Consultant at Rocky Mountains Institute (RMI) in India, possesses a unique expertise focused on policy advocacy for electric vehicles (EVs). With a distinct emphasis on international, national, and local policy evolution, particularly within India, their insights are crucial in understanding the dynamics of EV policies. Given their extensive knowledge and experience, expert C's insights into the current market conditions and strategies contributed valuable perspectives to the study.

Expert D possesses 14 years of experience in the electric vehicle (EV) and sustainability sectors. Notably, they have served as an independent consultant for reputable institutions like the World Bank and the World Resources Institute, focusing on EV-related projects. The interviewee's extensive experience in EVs, sustainability, and their recent roles with distinguished organizations such as the World Bank and the World Resources Institute made them a crucial addition to gathering insights on how the current market conditions could facilitate the adoption of SEVs.

Expert E, currently a senior research associate at EV repoter.com, is an experienced professional with a master's degree in urban planning. Their expertise lies in researching, reporting, and quantitative analysis of electric mobility in India. With a history of working on automotive research and industry-related projects, their practical knowledge has been a great addition to this thesis.

Expert F is the Co-founder and COO of Vayve Mobility. With a proven track record spanning 15 years, Expert F is a senior global business leader who offers a wealth of expertise in marketing, cost-cutting, and risk mitigation across diverse market segments. As the Co-founder

and COO of the first SEV company in India, their insights were crucial in understanding the dynamics of the Indian EV sector from the point of view of a SEV company.

Expert G is currently working as associate director of the electric mobility program at Shakti Sustainable Energy Foundation. They have a history of working in the various verticals of the power and energy sector. With a master's degree in energy engineering, Expert G has over 10 years of experience in programs related to electric mobility and energy transition. With knowledge in both the power sector and the electric mobility sector, expert G's insights are a valuable addition in understanding the barriers the EV technology is currently facing, and strategies that are applicable in overcoming those barriers.

Expert H is currently working as a program manager at Aptera Motors. With a degree in industrial engineering, and experience working directly in the SEV industry, their insights directly contribute to understanding the barriers faced by Aptera Motors, as an SEV company, and the strategies Aptera Motors implemented to overcome those barriers.

During the interviews with all 8 experts, (hand-written) notes were taken on the important points and the new information that was highlighted by a particular expert. Upon taking such notes, after the interviews, the recordings of the interviews were carefully observed to fully comprehend the important points that were brought up by the expert. In the end, all the useful information collected from the interviews is tabulated in the tables in the chapter 7. The information from the interviews was used to identify the relevant barriers and strategies that were particularly highlighted by the experts, and later linked with the barriers and strategies identified from the literature. This consolidated the findings from the literature, and most importantly, confirmed that the findings from the literature are applicable specifically to SEVs. Additionally, these interviews were also used to validate the barriers and strategies that were not specifically discussed during the open discussion, and the experts were requested to rank the influence (of all the barriers and strategies) on the large-scale diffusion of SEVs from high to low. By doing so, the similarities and differences in the opinions of the experts were comprehended.

3 Theoretical Framework

In this chapter, the theoretical frameworks applicable to navigating the socio-technical conditions encountered by innovative technology such as SEVs are explored. Firstly, the concept of disruptive innovation is investigated in section 3.1. In section 3.2, a Technological Innovation Systems framework proposed by Ortt & Kamp (2022) is investigated further. Upon identifying the influencing conditions that are the underlying cause behind a barrier, the relationship between TIS building blocks, the influencing conditions, and the resulting barriers are explained in section 3.2.1. In the section 3.3, niche strategies proposed by Ortt et al. (2013) to commercialize high-tech products are studied. Finally, in section 3.4, the framework proposed by Dwistyawati (2022) is examined, and its relevance to this thesis is discussed.

3.1 Disruptive technologies

For any (new) technology to make an entry into the market, there are certain stages in the process, from technology ideation to product diffusion, that a product will go through. According to Peres et al. (2010), market diffusion of new and innovative products is the process of market penetration which is influenced by several factors including consumers and market players (Peres et al., 2010). In such a process, the innovation potentially faces several barriers to entering and diffusing in the market (Stringham et al., 2015). In order to overcome such barriers, certain frameworks have been proposed by researchers in the field of technological innovation. In this chapter, the frameworks which are closely associated with technology innovation are studied. The barriers and strategies identified from these frameworks will be discussed in detail in further chapters.

According to Hardman et al. (2013), if the newly introduced technology is capable of displacing the existing market leaders, by moving up the market, it can be classified as a 'disruptive technology'. Such disruptive technologies possess certain characteristics which account for their success in the market. Although these characteristics are commonly observed in successful disruptive technologies, it is not a requisite for successful technologies to exhibit such characteristics (Hardman et al., 2013). Modern automobiles were once considered a disruptive technology because, before the introduction of automobiles, horse-drawn carriages were predominantly used for transportation. Therefore, with the introduction of mass-produced automobiles, horse-drawn carriages were replaced gradually. Similarly, the potential of SEVs can be recognized by studying the seven characteristics of a disruptive technology defined by Hardman et. al (2013).

The characteristics of disruptive technology have been identified to be the (i) threat they pose to the incumbents, (ii) high initial cost, (iii) low quality, (iv) value addition to the customers, (v) gradual progression through different levels in a market, (vi) capacity to push existing market leaders into niche markets and (vii) possibility of eventually being replaced by new technology. According to Hardman et al. (2013), these seven characteristics could be further narrowed down to three unique criteria that qualify a disruptive technology. They are:

- **Disruptive to market leaders**: Disruption can occur either if the company producing the innovative technology is different from that of the incumbent technology or due to the technology created by the same company as the existing market leaders.
- **Disruptive to end users**: Disruptive technologies also influence the change in the behavior of consumers or end users. This occurs either due to the improvement in the services offered by the technology (when compared to that of an incumbent) or the way the end users interact with the technology.
- **Disruptive to infrastructure**: Often, disruptive technologies require a new or improvement in the existing infrastructure. However, not all disruptive technologies demand new infrastructure.

A higher level of disruption could be expected depending on the more criteria a disruptive technology fulfills. However, for a technology to be truly disruptive, it must meet at least two of the three criteria mentioned above.

Firstly, the TIS framework is studied to identify where SEV technology currently stands in the market. This is done by applying TIS from multiple perspectives. Understanding the status of SEV technology is crucial in framing the strategies. In most cases, the status of a newly introduced technology in the market can be (often) compared to that of an incumbent or established competitor.

3.2 Technological Innovation System Framework

Radically new technological innovations, unlike the established incumbents, have been observed to go through a series of stages from their first introduction to the market until the large-scale diffusion. This time interval between the initial introduction and the diffusion stage can also be addressed as an adaptation phase (Ortt & Kamp, 2022). The Technological Innovation System (TIS) framework can be used to study the (niche) introduction strategies of radically new technological innovation.

According to Carlsson and Stankiewicz (1991), a technological innovation system is a dynamic network of actors involved in the generation, diffusion, and utilization of technology that are interrelated in a specific field.

The research on the relevant frameworks was conducted in order to understand the different perspectives from which the innovation can be studied. The requirement for this research was to utilize a framework that can facilitate the understanding of technology from multiple perspectives, such as companies, policymakers, and end users. Ortt and Kamp (2022) proposed the TIS framework to address a wider systems perspective, especially targeting radically new innovations. In this wider systems perspective, the market around the company is also addressed, including the network partners, customers, and supporting systems. Therefore, the perspectives of all the actors that are important in the formation of a system around technological innovation are considered. As the perspectives addressed by Ortt and Kamp (2022) align with the perspectives of this thesis research, their TIS framework is used as a basis for the present work's theoretical framework. Ortt and Kamp (2022) derived four structural

3 Theoretical Framework

components that are present in TIS. They are (i) technology, (ii) a network of actors, (iii) supporting institutions, and (iv) demand for the technology.

Ortt and Kamp (2022) proposed seven building blocks that make up the TIS framework from the perspective of a company. The market introduction strategies are evaluated by analyzing the TIS building blocks, which are elaborated on below.

- 1. **Product performance and quality**: Companies aiming to introduce new technology into the market should launch the product by targeting a (sufficiently) high performance and quality in order to attract customers. The performance and the quality should be high enough for the customers to consider this a reasonable option over (alternative) competing technology.
- 2. **Product price**: Often when a new technology is introduced into the market the product price is initially high or expensive compared to similar (competing products). The high initial price (often) could be due to the financial and non-financial costs incurred by a company. Offering the product at a reasonable price is often necessary to achieve large-scale diffusion.
- 3. **Production system**: Another major building block of TIS is the ability to deliver good quality products in large quantities. It has been proven that eventually, the reduction in the price of the product will boost its competitiveness, and hence the demand. Therefore, establishing a production or manufacturing facility to keep up with the demand is a major step in large-scale diffusion.
- 4. Complementary products and services: Offering complementary products or services in various stages such as distribution, repair, maintenance, disposal, etc, will not only assist in technology diffusion but also help in aligning strategies of multiple innovations within the same firm.
- 5. Network formation and coordination: Coordination among the network of actors who share a similar vision is crucial in the successful diffusion of a product in the (mass) market. This coordination could be in terms of supplying raw materials, manufacturing or assembling the product parts, their distribution, and also providing complementary products or services.
- 6. **Customers**: Since a technology or product is (often) launched with the aim of solving a problem in a segment, customers associated with that segment are crucial in technology diffusion. The attractiveness of the product must be created in order for the customers to see its benefits, and to acquire and use the technology.
- 7. Innovation-specific institutions: Government policies, laws, standards, and regulations are crucial for technological innovation in order to facilitate its market introduction and diffusion. A stable innovation-specific institution with a (favorable) long-term supportive policy is essential for the market diffusion of a product.

All the seven TIS building blocks discussed above are crucial for the large-scale diffusion of radically new technology (Ortt & Kamp, 2022). On the other hand, if one or few of these building blocks or incomplete or incompatible with technological innovation, that can be regarded as a barrier. If innovation is not compatible, and in order for it to overcome these barriers, small-scale niche strategies are introduced to circumvent these barriers. Ortt and Kamp (2022) proposed a few influencing conditions that determine the type of niche-introduction strategy needed by understanding the cause of the barrier. These seven influencing conditions will be
studied in detail in the following section to understand the underlying causes of barriers to the market diffusion of SEVs in India.

3.2.1 Influencing conditions

In order to understand the cause behind a particular barrier, and to understand the reason why the barrier exists, seven influencing conditions were proposed in the TIS framework (Ortt & Kamp, 2022). Identifying such causes behind a barrier is crucial to formulate and propose suitable strategies. It is due to their "influence" on the TIS building blocks, in the framework they are referred to as influencing conditions. Schulz (2019) provides further insights into how a barrier is formed, and how these seven influencing conditions affect the TIS building blocks (also referred to as core factors), and in turn, form a barrier to large-scale diffusion. Insights from both Ortt & Kamp (2022) and Schulz (2019) are crucial to this study. Their frameworks serve as the foundational basis for elaborating the underlying causes of barriers specific to SEVs, as identified in this thesis.

Core and influencing factors proposed by Schulz (2019)

A barrier obstructing the large-scale diffusion process can be defined as a problem associated with the building blocks (core factors) of TIS which in turn is influenced by an inhibiting influencing condition (Schulz, 2019). According to Schulz (2019), a barrier consists of two elements, a core factor (B), also referred to as TIS building blocks by Ortt & Kamp (2022), and an inhibiting influencing condition (A), and the effect of such a barrier is the influence due to deficient core factor (C) as shown in fig 3.1. Each of these factors (often) consists of several smaller elements that together form the factor. For example, the factor 'product quality' can be divided into features, reliability, performance, conformance, durability, serviceability, aesthetics, and perceived quality. Each of these smaller elements influences the factor 'product quality' as a whole.



Figure 3.1: The element of a barrier (AB) and its influence (C) on the large-scale diffusion process by Schulz (2019)

The core factors, also called TIS building blocks, are elaborated in section 3.2. The influencing conditions are formed based on knowledge, resources, and macro-environmental conditions that affect the innovation system formation (Ortt & Kamp, 2022). These influencing conditions are elaborated on below in detail, and listed in the table 3.1.

3 Theoretical Framework

- 1. Knowledge and awareness of technology: This refers to the fundamental and applied technological knowledge. The components such as product, production system, and complimentary products are the prime focus of fundamental knowledge. The factors such as developing, producing, repairing, maintaining, producing, and improving these components are applied technological knowledge. Such knowledge can be developed through experimentation and research and development, and can be transferred through education and training.
- 2. Knowledge and awareness of application and market: This factor refers to the knowledge pertaining to the application of innovation along with market structure and relevant actors involved. Learning by experimentation, learning by doing, using, and interacting with relevant actors are considered to be various elements within this factor. Lacking any of these elements among the relevant actors could hamper the large-scale diffusion of innovation.
- 3. Natural, human, and financial resources: Multiple resources are required for an innovation to be developed initially, and diffused in the market at a later stage. In order to create products, run production systems, and offer complimentary products, natural resources are crucial. Apart from natural resources, human resources with appropriate knowledge are required to develop these products. Most importantly, financial resources are essential in bringing natural and human resources together.
- 4. **Competition**: New innovations compete with incumbent technologies, especially while the formation of an innovation system. Another possibility for competition is the different versions of the new technology. Competition can sometimes be chaotic and hamper largescale diffusion because of the formation of an alternative network of companies.
- 5. Macro-economic and strategic aspects: Macro-economic aspects such as economic recession and economic growth have a significant influence on the development of an innovation. Contemporary market structure and business strategies are taken into consideration while framing the strategic policies in various countries.
- 6. Socio-cultural aspects: Socio-cultural aspects are the (informal) norms and values that are essential to the customers and other relevant stakeholders within the innovation system. When compared to the laws, rules, and regulations, although socio-cultural aspects are more informal, they have a significant influence on market diffusion.
- 7. Accidents and events: Both internal (within a TIS) and external (outside a TIS) events are considered accidents. For example, accidents in a production facility or failure of the product can be considered internal accidents. On the other hand, wars and natural disasters are considered external accidents.

The insights obtained from studying all the influencing conditions in detail were used to formulate the links between the barriers, their underlying causes, and ultimately the affected TIS building blocks of SEVs in India. These links are discussed in detail in the section 8.1.

Building blocks	Influencing conditions
Product performance and quality	Knowledge and awareness of technology
Product price	Knowledge and awareness of application and market
Production system	Natural, human, and financial resources
Complementary products and services	Competition
Network formation and coordination	Macro-economic and strategic aspects
Customers	Socio-cultural aspects
Specific institutional aspects	Accidents and events

Table 3.1: TIS building blocks and influencing conditions proposed by Ortt & Kamp (2022)

3.3 Ten Niche Strategies To Commercialize New High-Tech Products

According to Ortt et al. (2013), strategies are crucial in the context of commercializing new high-tech products such as SEVs. Ortt et al. (2013) proposed niche strategies based on an assumption that these strategies come into the picture when the development, production, or large-scale diffusion and the usage of a new high-tech product are hindered. They provide a framework and direction for organizations to navigate the complexities of the market and effectively bring their products to customers. By studying the strategies proposed by Ortt et al. (2013), valuable insights, and guidance was obtained in selecting and implementing niche strategies, specifically tailored to the commercialization of high-tech products.

The lack of clarity due to the gaps in the scientific literature pertaining to different types of niche strategies and their compatibility with specific situations makes it challenging for companies to make informed decisions. Ortt's research aims to address these gaps by identifying generic actors, factors, and functions that play a role in commercialization and can hinder the large-scale diffusion of high-tech products (Ortt et al., 2013). By analyzing various market situations and historical cases, the study identifies ten generic niche strategies that can be applied in different situations. These niche strategies serve as a practical tool for companies to purposefully select the most appropriate strategy based on the specific context they are facing. These niche strategies are described in the table 3.2

3 Theoretical Framework

Table 3.2: Ten niche strategies to commercialize new high-tech products (Ortt et al., 2013)

Generic Niche Strategies	Description
Demo, experiment and develop niche strategy	In situations where there is a limited understanding of the technology, leading to restricted product availability and limited functionality, this strategy can be employed. This approach involves showcasing the product to the public to address concerns about its limited performance quality. Experimentation facilitates ongoing product development, where enhancements can be made to improve functionality and overall quality.
Top niche strategy	A limited understanding of the technology hinders the product's availability at a reasonable cost, and also its production system. To overcome these challenges, top niche strategy can be implemented, offering customized, small-scale production for a specific high-end market segment. Alternatively, a skimming strategy can be employed to prioritize supplying a unique product to the top niche customers.
Subsidized niche strategy	Lack of knowledge and the resources required to develop the product predominantly affects the product price. This strategy can be adopted in such a way that the product can be subsidized to a particular segment of customers
Redesign niche strategy	This strategy facilitates the introduction of a simplified product version produced with available knowledge and fewer resources to achieve a more affordable price. This strategy can also be adapted in such a way that it can be explored in the areas where institutional aspects are more supportive and also the customers and the suppliers have the least resistance.
Dedicated system or standalone niche strategy	This strategy involves using a product independently or creating a specialized system of complementary products and services, such as a local network, especially when a broader infrastructure is not accessible.
Hybridization or adaptor niche strategy	This involves utilizing the new product alongside the existing product, enabling the reuse of complementary products and services. Another option is to provide an adapter or converter to ensure that the new product and existing complementary products and services are compatible with each other.
Educate niche strategy	This involves focusing on transferring knowledge to suppliers, aiming to enhance their understanding of the product. Also it emphasizes on implementing an educating and experimenting to increase customer knowledge and familiarity with the product.
Geographic niche strategy	Focusing on geographic areas where institutions, such as laws and rules, are more flexible or less stringent, allowing for easier implementation of the strategy and the resulting policies. Similar to redesign niche strategy, geographic strategy suggests moving the operations of a company to areas with availability of resources, potential suppliers and customers.
Lead user niche strategy	Identifying and engaging with innovators or lead users who are at the forefront of innovation. These individuals play a role in co-developing the product and providing valuable feedback, while innovators are often open to experimenting with the product.
Explore multiple markets niche strategy	This strategy involves the exploration of various customer applications and stimulating customers to experiment and utilize the product in novel ways. This approach encourages exploration and creates opportunities for diverse and innovative applications.

Ultimately, studying the strategies proposed by Ortt can enhance the understanding of the complexities of the market, capitalize on niche opportunities, and increase the chances of successful commercialization of high-tech products (Ortt et al., 2013). These strategies were considered as a starting point or basis to find more such strategies to commercialize high-tech products.

However, according to Dwisatyawati (2022), Ortt's niche strategies do not address all the barriers that SEVs could potentially encounter. The author of the present work agrees with Dwisatyawti (2022) and believes that most of the strategies discussed address only the lack of knowledge, resources, sociocultural aspects, and institutional aspects. Some of the other barriers identified in the chapter 5 are not addressed, and will need more (niche) strategies to circumvent them. Therefore, several scientific articles and reports (explained in chapter 6) were referred to analyze more (niche) strategies to study their relevance to the market diffusion of Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs).

3.4 Best Strategy Framework

The Best Strategy Framework, developed by Dwisatyawati (2022), builds upon the TIS and ten niche strategies frameworks to assist users and readers in identifying the most effective strategy for overcoming the combination of barriers that hinder the widespread adoption of an innovation (Dwisatyawati, 2022). This comprehensive framework extends the application of the TIS building blocks, influencing factors, and a diverse range of strategies toward the mass adoption of SEVs in Indonesia. It establishes the links between the influencing factors and barriers and employs scoring models to evaluate their significance.

The best strategy framework provides guidelines, particularly on identifying the links between the barriers and the strategies and validating those links with expert interviews. Incorporating those guidelines by modifying the research findings pertaining to the Indian market, ultimately provides insights into the socio-technical conditions that influence the SEV market diffusion. Furthermore, countries with markets similar to Indonesia, such as India, can benefit from utilizing the Best Strategy Framework to approach strategies effectively.

Within the framework, scoring models are employed. These scoring models are incorporated into the present work by identifying the strategies that circumvent the highest number of barriers. In this thesis, such strategies are identified based on the insights gained from the expert interviews on what experts perceive as the important strategy that can circumvent a barrier. According to Dwisatyawati (2022), the strategy that circumvents most of the barriers or the highest number of barriers is considered the best strategy, also referred to as the 'important strategy' in this thesis. However, it was identified that Dwisatyawati (2022) proposed these links, with the perspective of just the high-tech companies (industry), in consideration. Therefore, in chapter 8 and section 8.3, the guidelines on extending this framework to other actors involved within the TIS of SEVs are elaborated.

4 Current Status of EVs in India

This chapter discusses the current situation of the electric vehicle market in the Indian context. Firstly, the evolution of the EV industry will be elaborated in section 4.1. Followed by that, the favorable policies that assisted the development of EVs in India will be discussed in section 4.2. In order to understand the technical differences between EVs and SEVs, a comparison with respect to their energy source is explained in section 4.3. The relevance between the research on EVs with that of SEVs is explained in the section 4.4, followed by the evolution of different SEV companies 4.5. Finally, the status of India's first solar car is discussed in section 4.6. Ultimately, this chapter answers the sub-research question "Why does solar mobility present a viable option, and how can parallels between the electric vehicle (EV) sector and Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs) be drawn to understand their applicability and potential in India?"

4.1 Evolution of EVs in India

In order to understand the applicability of SEVs in India, it is crucial to analyze the historical events pertaining to the emergence of electric mobility in India. By analyzing the historical events, insights into the factors that influence the success of SEVs can be gained. India's transition to electric mobility started in the early 1990s, when the company Eddy Current Controls launched its first-ever electric car Lovebird (Sudarshan, 2021). Another attempt at electrification of the transportation sector was done by the company, Electromobiles India Limited, which manufactured an electric two-wheeler (Moped), Komal, about 10 years before Lovebird was introduced (Khatri, 2021). Due to the limited advancement in the EV sector such as high battery costs, limited range, limited infrastructure, and most importantly, lack of awareness, Lovebird and Komal weren't successful enough to penetrate the markets. Later, in the late 1990s, India's first electric three-wheeler, Vikram Safa was launched by Scooter's India Pvt Ltd (Sudarshan, 2021). This led to the expansion of the EV sector beyond cars (four-wheelers).

For the next two decades (although there were a lot of challenges), the EV sector in India experienced growth due to the efforts, of both, the industry, in terms of technological innovation, and the Government, in terms of introducing favorable (and attractive) policies. In order to look at the growth of the EV industry, it is imperative to understand the journey of the first electric car company, Reva Electric Car Company (RECC) which came close to being a successful mass-market EV in India. With its inception in 1994, RECC's aim was to produce (and sell) an affordable and compact electric city car. With this vision, RECC launched REVA, India's first successful EV, in 2001 (Maini, 2005), (Chandran, 2003). It was not only built for Indian roads, as RECC also launched REVA in countries like the UK, Norway, Malta, and Cyprus in Europe, and also tests were conducted in the US and Japan (Maini, 20015), (Shepard, 2005). At that point, even ICEVs in India haven't attained their tipping point yet. This led many to perceive EVs as an unnecessary innovation, as the price of REVA was relatively higher than other ICEVs in the market, and the batteries were heavier, which

needed constant replacement. In addition to that, the subsidies promised by the government were not sufficient to scale up the production of REVA. It is due to the aforementioned reasons that the success of REVA evaporated very quickly. Another automobile giant, Mahindra & Mahindra, also focusing on alternative fuel/electric vehicle technologies, acquired a part of REVA as RECC's EV technology was very advanced in 2010 (Dhote et al., 2023), (Bureau, 2010).

4.2 Favourable Policies for the Development of EVs

The 2010s marked a decade of the EV revolution in India. With Mahindra & Mahindra's acquisition of RECC, big players like TATA's investment in EVs, and new entrants such as Ather Energy and Okinawa into the market, there was a change in awareness regarding EVs. On the one hand, there were numerous technological advancements in the automobile industry. The government of India, on the other hand, introduced the National Electric Mobility Mission Plan, 2020 (NEMMP) (originally named National Mission on Electric Mobility in 2011) and set up the National Board for Electric Mobility (NBEM) (Nouni et al., 2021). With the purpose of promoting and fast-tracking the research and development of the (hybrid) electric vehicle market, by bringing in various schemes, policies, and initiatives, GOI introduced NEMMP (Raju et al., 2021). Under NEMPP, the Indian Government, specifically the Department of Heavy Industries (DHI), came up with a Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of (Hybrid &) Electric Vehicles (FAME) scheme to assist the EV ecosystem in India.

The FAME scheme was introduced in two phases, FAME I and FAME II. With a focus on developing EV technology by creating demand through pilot projects and charging infrastructure development, FAME I was launched in 2015 (Raju et al., 2021). The first phase of FAME went through a series of updates and extensions due to the attractive subsidies that were provided through this scheme. Contrary to the originally intended period of 2 years (till 2017), FAME I was active until 2019 (PTI, 2018). The overall period allowed the GOI to outlay an amount of 8.95 billion Indian Rupees (102 million euros). Automobile industry leaders favored such policies that facilitated the development and accelerated the transition to electric mobility. Due to the overwhelming demand for such schemes (and subsidies) DHI planned to formulate a new phase of FAME, FAME II. Building on the original purpose of the FAME scheme to incentivize the demand for electric vehicles and improve the charging infrastructure, FAME II also facilitates public awareness campaigns by educating the public and sharing knowledge across domains (Raju et al., 2021). Through FAME II, the Indian Government plans to allocate 100 billion Indian Rupees (1.15 billion euros) over the next couple of years starting from 2019 (Livemint, 2021). Similar to the first phase, the originally intended period (until 2022) has been extended till 2024. This allows for the further electrification of the entire transportation sector, including buses, four-wheelers (cars), three-wheelers (auto rickshaws and cargo vehicles), and two-wheeler vehicles (motorcycles and mopeds).

As can be observed from the various aforementioned cases and the FAME schemes, India's transportation sector is primarily classified into (electric) two, three, four-wheelers or cars, and buses. However, the focus of this research is primarily on cars.

4.3 Comparison of EV and SEV technologies

According to Dwisatyawati (2022), the base architecture of SEVs and EVs (or BEVs) is similar, as both technologies have a battery pack and an electric motor to provide the energy for the propulsion of the vehicle. It was also evident from the research that the main difference between a SEV and an EV is that the SEVs have an additional solar panel incorporated on the roof of the vehicle (Dwisatyawati, 2022). This solar panel serves as an additional source of power, apart from the (external) electricity provided to the battery. As can be seen in figure 4.1, with an additional source of power, SEVs have an advantage, as they have the potential to provide an extended driving range. On the other hand, EVs have a pre-determined driving range which is in turn limited by the capacity of the battery.



Figure 4.1: Comparing SEV and BEV technology by mapping their sources of energy, to the process of energy conversion and their end energy use (Dwisatyawati, 2022)

The following figure 4.2 shows different variations in the designs incorporated into SEVs. According to Paterson et al. (2016), the performance of a solar car is highly determined by the aerodynamics of the vehicle, as the power obtained from the solar roof is limited. Therefore, companies make a design trade-off between high efficiency, performance, and the cost of the vehicle (Paterson et al., 2016). As can be observed from the figure, the designs of Lightyear and Aptera Motors are highly aerodynamic, when compared to that of Vayve Mobility (Lightyear, 2021), (Apter Motors, 2022), (Vayve Mobility, 2023).

4.4 Rationale for Solar Electric Vehicles: Drawing Parallels with the Electric Vehicle Sector



Figure 4.2: The difference in the design of various SEVs, Lightyear (top left), Aptera Motors (top right), and Vayve Mobility (bottom), (Lightyear, 2021), (Apter Motors, 2022), (Vayve Mobility, 2023)

4.4 Rationale for Solar Electric Vehicles: Drawing Parallels with the Electric Vehicle Sector

In order to understand and analyze the socio-technical conditions that SEVs are expected to face in India, it is crucial to understand the similarities between EVs and SEVs, and why inferences drawn from the EV sector can also be applicable to SEVs. In this section, three layers of rationale, as shown in the figure 4.3 are provided to justify the similarities between EVs and SEVs.



Figure 4.3: Rationale for SEVs, and justification of similarities with EVs

• Rationale I: As presented in the section 4.3, SEVs are basically an extension of EVs,

4 Current Status of EVs in India

with an additional power source, solar panel, on the roof of the vehicle to generate (additional) power to propel the vehicle forward. Therefore, based on this reasoning, and the author's own understanding of the technology (based on the literature reviewed on barriers and strategies), the primary rationale is provided.

- Rationale II: The assumption made (as discussed in Rationale I) from the theoretical findings on barriers and strategies was validated by experts from the EV industry, especially experts F and G, who belonged to two solar mobility companies, Vayve Mobility in India, and Aptera Motors in the United States, respectively. Upon discussing the literature findings with the experts, the relevance of the theoretical findings on the barriers and strategies to SEVs was confirmed, thereby corroborating this argument.
- Rationale III: Finally, a case study was conducted (primarily, on the strategies implemented) on the two existing solar mobility companies, Aptera Motors and Lightyear, to validate the theoretical findings on the strategies, and their relevance and applicability to SEVs. These case studies are explained in detail in the section 6.5. The primary reason for selecting these two companies for the case study is because they have been working on SEV technology for longer than the other companies that were identified in this thesis. Moreover, relevant information on the strategies implemented by the companies was found through the publicly accessible reports. Upon conducting this case study, the (technical) measures taken by the SEV companies to develop and introduce the technology in the market were analyzed carefully. And, these measures were classified into the most relevant strategies that were identified from the literature, thereby supporting the argument on the relevance of findings from the literature to SEV technology.

4.5 Tracing the Evolution and Journey of Solar Electric Vehicles

Although the concept of SEVs has been there since 1985, due to the high costs and low yield from solar technology, the attempts at commercialization haven't started until the late 2010s (Heinrich et al. 2020). Therefore, it is interesting to observe how solar mobility companies have evolved over time. A total of seven companies have been identified to make an attempt at introducing the concept of SEVs. In the figure 4.4, the timeline for the evolution of SEV companies has been provided. Four out of the seven companies (Lightyear, Sono Motors, Squad Mobility, and Vayve Mobility), have been identified to be the pioneering startups within SEV industry, whereas established companies such as Hyundai and Hanergy, also attempted to introduce the concept of SEVs (Young, 2023). On the contrary, although Aptera Motors was established in 2005, their attempt at making SEVs only began in the 2010s, as there was a period when the company was bankrupt (Hunt, 2023). From the research on companies, it can be inferred that, although solar PV and EV technologies have existed for a while, there are quite a few barriers that hindered companies like Aptera and Lightyear from bringing this technology to the market.



Figure 4.4: Evolution of solar mobility companies

4.6 India's First SEV

As discussed in section 1.4, so far the attempts at making Solar Electric Vehicles in India have been limited to students across various universities and the experiments by passionate individuals. However, recently, the prototype of India's first SEV, 'Eva' was launched at Auto Expo 2023, by the company Vayve Mobility (Gupta, 2023). Vayve Mobility is a startup that primarily focuses on building a solar car that is an efficient and affordable passenger car for urban mobility. Vayve Mobility claims that its SEV (Eva) has the capability to run up to 3000 km per year on solar energy alone. Along with solar energy as the power source, the car has the ability to run up to 250 km on a single charge (Pandya, 2023).

The targeted customer segment or targeted early adopters for Eva are the customers in urban areas with the daily need to travel within the city (Gupta, 2023). By targeting such a customer segment, Vayve Mobility aims to accelerate the transition to sustainable mobility, especially in urban areas. According to Vayve Mobility, 'Eva' has the capability to disrupt the market focused on urban mobility. Especially, the market segment with users whose daily travel requirements are within 20-40 km. Vayve Mobility is currently all set to start the production of 'Eva', and is expected to be introduced into the market in early 2024.

As it is India's first SEV, Vayve Mobility can be considered a pioneer or early entrant in the SEV market in India. This is a technological breakthrough for both the EV and SEV markets. However, as is the case with any new entrant (new technology) in the market, there are certain barriers to entry that SEVs are prone to face. Therefore, it is crucial to understand and analyze such barriers, specific to (Solar) Electric Vehicles, to research the strategies that

4 Current Status of EVs in India

are required for this technology to diffuse in the mass market. Hence the potential barriers to market diffusion will be explored in the following chapter.

5 Potential Barriers and Opportunities for Market Diffusion

This chapter primarily focuses on the potential barriers that disruptive technology faces during large-scale diffusion, along with the opportunities the technology facilitates to solve the existing problems. Firstly, barriers discussed in multiple pieces of literature are discussed in the section 5.1. These identified barriers validated using expert interviews are presented in the section 7.1. In section 5.2, several opportunities that make SEVs a viable option in India are discussed. Finally, in section 5.3, the final list of barriers and opportunities identified in this thesis are listed.

5.1 Barriers identified from literature

As the fundamental architecture behind a SEV is an EV, the barriers pertaining to the adoption of electric vehicles in India are studied, from multiple perspectives. Therefore, several pieces of literature highlighting the barriers faced by EV technology were explored.

Literature 1: Barriers to the adoption of electric vehicles: Evidence from India

The research by Tarei et al. (2021) was explored and investigated further because of the relevance of their work on the barriers to the mass diffusion of EVs in the Indian EV market to this thesis. A comprehensive understanding of the challenges discussed by Tarei et al. (2021) is essential to address similar challenges in the context of SEVs.

Their research provided an understanding of the general barriers to adoption in the Indian market from a wider perspective. With the focus on identifying crucial barriers impeding the faster adoption of EVs in India, Tarei et al. (2021) conducted extensive research, corroborated with expert interviews to investigate the shortcomings of the EV market (Tarei et al., 2021). By identifying the barriers, Tarei et al. (2021) were able to establish relationships among several barriers. Once those relationships were established, all the identified barriers were ranked based on the outcome of a hybrid two-phased Multi-Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) method. These methods are namely, Best-Worst Method (BWM) and Interpretive Structural Modeling (ISM). By applying BWM, Tarei et al. (2021) conducted expert interviews to group the barriers with their subsequent sub-barriers. The outcome of applying this method was ranking the barriers from 'Best' to 'Worst'.

From their research, a total of 18 sub-barriers were identified. These sub-barriers were later categorized by Tarei at al. (2021) into five main barrier categories, particularly, technical, infrastructural, financial, behavioral, and external as displayed in the table 5.1.

Tarei et al. (2021) conducted expert interviews to validate their barriers by ranking them. These rankings are provided as a reference to highlight the importance of each barrier in the

5 Potential Barriers and Opportunities for Market Diffusion

following table 5.1. However, the significance of those rankings was not discussed further, as the author of the present work also conducted expert interviews to validate all the relevant barriers for this thesis, discussed in section 7.1.

Main barriers	Sub-barriers	Global ranking by Tarei et al. (2021)
	Performance, range and durability	8
	EV technology	12
	Unreliability of suppliers	15
Technical barriers	Development of alternative fuel technology	18
	Shortage of charging stations	1
	Low availability on maintenance, service and repair	9
	Lack of EV manufacturers	5
Infrastructural barriers	Unavailability of reliable electricity	3
	High upfront purchase price	2
	Unknown resale value	11
Financial barriers	Total cost of ownership	4
	Consumer perception on EVs/lack of awareness	7
	Scepticism on safety and reliability	6
	Scepticism on perceived benefits	13
Behavioural barriers	Dealer understanding/reluctance to push EVs	16
	Dependence on external sources for raw materials	14
	Wastage and recycling of battery	17
External barriers	Limited EV incentives and advertisement by government	10

Table 5.1: Barriers affecting the adoption of electric vehicles in India (Tarei et al., 2021).

Literature 2: Understanding and identifying barriers to electric vehicle adoption through thematic analysis

Understanding the importance of the perspective of the customers (end users) in the market diffusion of SEVs, the author of the present work explored literature highlighting the barriers faced by the end users. Upon investigating further, it was identified that Krishna (2021) researched the barriers from the perspective of customers. Therefore, their research was chosen to understand what customers perceive as a challenge in purchasing an (S)EV in India.

A thematic analysis was used to identify the barriers from multiple sources (Krishna, 2021). The aim of the thematic analysis is to analyze and convert the raw data into useful themes or sets of data. Through such thematic analysis, Krishna (2021) was able to identify barriers from the perspective of industry, and most importantly, from the perspective of potential consumers/customers. According to Krishna (2021), the potential customers of electric vehicles rely on the information available through traditional Word of Mouth (WOM) as well as platforms that support electronic Word of Mouth (eWOM). As there is a wide range of information available regarding the EV market on eWOM platforms, the data on the barriers pertaining to EV technology was filtered through thematic analysis and discussed.

In order to understand the credibility of the sources from which the data was collected, Krishna (2021) used techniques such as persistent observation, prolonged engagement, and peer debriefing. The author of the present work agrees with the importance of studying the barriers from the perspective of potential customers along with the barriers faced by the industry, as customers are one of the building blocks of TIS. Therefore, the themes (barriers) identified by Krishna (2021) are studied and elaborated on in table 5.2. Krishna also identified links or relationships among multiple themes (barriers). Understanding these inter-relationships is crucial, especially for manufacturers, as the root causes for the challenges associated with the barriers are identified. In some cases, one potential solution or (proposed) strategy could address the multiple barriers at once, by establishing such relationships between various barriers.

One such inter-relationships proposed was the link between range, infrastructure, and recharge charge duration. For example, improving the range or capacity of the vehicle would mean that an EV can undergo fewer charging sessions as the battery will last longer. This, in turn, would reduce the pressure on (the public) charging stations. Another such inter-relationship is between range, infrastructure, unreliability, and lack of trust. As discussed, improving the range would put less pressure on the charging infrastructure. This will also address the problem of crowding and waiting in lines for charging points, thereby solving the problem of unreliability.

By studying the barriers and their inter-relationships, Krishna (2021) was able to achieve an understanding of the rationality behind consumers' perceptions of EV technology. Therefore, research conducted by Krishna (2021) showed an emphasis on identifying the technical difficulties, and technological barriers and also emphasize multiple intangible factors that are important to consumers while adopting an EV. As a result, the customers' (end users) perspective was incorporated in this thesis.

Barriers (Themes) identified		emes) identified	Description
5	Sales conversion ability	Supply and choice of vehicles	The higher the demand for the technology, the higher is the waiting period to obtain the technology, if the supply chain aspect can not keep up with the demand. Waiting period to obtain an EV is relatively higher than a conventional car, which highly impact the purchase decision. Also, the wide range of options targeting different audiences/customers are lacking in EVs when compared to ICEVs.
		Dealers	Vehicle dealers sometimes, can directly influence the purchase decision. Some instances observed by Krishna (2021) proved that dealers often highlight the barriers, showing reluctance to sell EVs.
		Autonomous driving	There is a false perception among the public that EVs are always autonomous, and due to autonomy, they are vulnerable to hacking. They believe that the data they share with the car is also vulnerable to be exposed.
		Unsafe	Batteries are vulnerable to explosion as their working is associated with either heat absorption or heat dissipation, especially during an accident or an impact.
La	ack of trust in technology	Not environmental friendly	Although there are no tailpipe emissions associated with EVs there are emissions in the process of extraction of raw materials for batteries. Apart from emissions, there are a disputes around the fact that mining activities are in direct violation of human rights.
		Unreliability	Due to the nature of current batteries, they are prone to degradation over time. So, in the long run, EVs are believed to be unreliable as the range of the vehicles decrease with the degradation of the batteries. Also, unreliability comes from the lack of access to charging points in case of emergencies.
		Immaturity of technology	Since EV technology is not fully mature and in the stage of development, many are reluctant to be the early adopters of this technology.
		Cost of purchase and ownership	Expenses associated with EVs are considered to be the most sensitive topic to address. There is common perception that EVs are relatively more expensive than conventional vehicles. The expenses include high cost of purchasing, along with high repair and maintenance costs.
Li	ving with the technology	Infrastructure	From the lack of enough public charging stations to the lack of space for parking and charging in the residential areas, there are many problems associated with the availability of infrastructure. Also, the rural/suburban areas are usually less equipped with the infrastructure when compared to the urban areas.
		Range	Drive range of EVs has always been a point of concern for the owners of the vehicles. The range of the battery increases with the capacity/size of the battery. However, the cost of purchase also increases with the increase in battery capacity.
		Recharge duration	The refuelling or recharging time for EVs are significantly higher than that of conventional vehicles. The larger the capacity of the battery the more time they take to charge.
		Soul and character of the vehicle	Vibration and sound are some of the characteristics that connect the car and the driver. Such characteristics which connect the driver and the car are lacking in electric vehicles.
		Repair	Some car owners find a sense of satisfaction along in repairing their own car, which also leads to saving service and repair costs. EVs are marketed with an 'anti-repair' theme and (or) complex in terms of repairing by owners themselves.
		Culture	Automobile industry is associated with culture, particularly the old school culture. This culture and lifestyle that comes with buying the car are crucial for some car owners. These car owners are not satisfied because EVs are not 'culturally' fulfilling.
	Desirability	lack of fun	The characteristic of fun is associated with the satisfaction of driving. For examples, some users lack the depth in experience because of the lack of option for manual transmission as that influences their purchase decision
	,	Bad looks and futuristic	The looks and the design of the car are considered highly influential while making the purchase decision. Some electric vehicles, however, are not in the mark in the looks and the design, when compared to conventional vehicles.
		Performance	The performance factors such as top speed, acceleration and cornering play a vital role in the purchase decision. Current EVs can not completely replicate the top performance factors that are available in conventional cars.
		Sound	Sound is sometimes associated with the culture of the cars, especially among car enthusiasts. EVs, unless equipped specifically with sound enhancers by OEMs are predominantly silent.
Emotional attachment Due to the nature of their working EVs ar		Emotional attachment	Due to the nature of their working EVs are considered to strip the 'freedom' that certain car owners experience with conventional vehicles.

Table 5.2: Barriers affecting the adoption of electric vehicles from the perspective of customers (Krishna, 2021).

Literature 3: Overcoming barriers to entry in an established industry: TESLA MOTORS

In order to gather the barriers from the perspective of industry, out of the scientific literature explored, research by Stringham et al. (2015) particularly stood out, as they highlighted the barriers that the EV industry was facing at the time (in 2008) when EVs were introduced in the market. Therefore, investigating the barriers faced by Tesla provided insights into what SEV (as an advancement of EV) technology will encounter once they are introduced in the market.

Tesla, being the first electric vehicle company, introduced a radically new invention (Electric Vehicle) that changed the dynamics of the automobile market. As the first company to introduce EVs (Tesla Roadster in 2008) to the market and diffuse on a large scale, Tesla encountered multiple challenges. Considering the similarities between the EV and SEV markets, the challenges faced by Tesla were studied in detail to understand the barriers to SEV technology. Stringham et al. (2015) elaborated on the barriers that Tesla had to overcome to become a leading company in the EV market from the perspective of a new entrant (Tesla) into the market. As a new entrant into the automobile market, Tesla faced multiple barriers to entry such as economies of scale, access to distribution channels, patents, unrecoverable upfront R&D expenditures, and other capital requirements (Stringham et al., 2015). These barriers, along with other barriers identified (explained in the table 5.3 can be extrapolated to the SEV market.

Some of the major barriers faced by Tesla (as a pioneer in EV technology) are elaborated upon in table 5.3. These barriers are incorporated in this research because of the close association of EV technology with that of SEVs. In order to validate these barriers to SEV technology in India, expert interviews are conducted during this thesis which is elaborated on in section 7.1.

Barr	iers to entry	Description
High (initial)) fixed costs	These are the costs faced by a company initially. Costs incurred on the infrastructure/equipment to run the operations while setting up an automobile company.
Economies	of scale	New entrants lack the (financial) resources/ability to scale up the production (build higher number of vehicles). In order to produce such high number of vehicles, companies should have access to much bigger factories. Having such access is only possible if the companies raise enough capital.
Lack of acc channels/ne	ess to distribution	Having the access to distribute the product through distribution channel/network is equally important as the product itself. Because distribution channels play a crucial role in bringing the product to the customers. Lack of such distribution network poses a major challenge in bringing the products to the market.
Network externality or network effect refers to the value of the product. The higher the number of users/customers using the product, the higher the value of the product. Therefore, success of a te depends on the number of users. If the number of customers using any new technology (SEVs for are less, there is a lack of network externality.		Network externality or network effect refers to the value of the product. The higher the number of users/customers using the product, the higher the value of the product. Therefore, success of a technology depends on the number of users. If the number of customers using any new technology (SEVs for example) are less, there is a lack of network externality.
Constantly	evolving markets	The (automobile) market is constantly changing, forcing the automobile companies to constantly adapt to the change, either by constantly innovating the products, or enhancing the total product experience. Failing to do so would push the companies to bankruptcy (by pushing the non-innovating companies out of the market).

Table 5.3: Barriers encountered by Tesla Motors (Stringham et al., 2015).

Literature 4: When and why does transition fail? A model-based identification of adoption barriers and policy vulnerabilities for transition to natural gas vehicles

Hidayatno et al. (2020) explain the barriers that are faced during the transition from older technologies to radically new innovations or technologies that have the potential to disrupt the market dynamics. They explain the barriers faced from the perspective of a policymaker or a government institution. This case study on the transition from conventional vehicles to Natural Gas Vehicles (NGV) in Indonesia clearly explains those barriers (also addressed as deep uncertainties). According to Hidayatno et al., due to several uncertainties, even seemingly successful policies and policy recommendations are prone to failure (Hidayatno et al., 2020). Even after implementing certain policies, these uncertainties hinder the growth of technology. In order to account for such deep uncertainties or barriers, Hidayatno et al. (2020) used agent-based modeling for technology diffusion called Exploratory Modeling and Analysis (EMA). EMA helps in identifying deep uncertainties that exist were identified and categorized into structural, economic, social, and behavioral factors. These deep uncertainties are discussed in table 5.4.

Table 5.4: Barriers encountered during the transition to natural gas vehicles (Hidayatno et al., 2020).

Barriers	Description	
	Structural barriers are associated with the status of the infrastructure. Lack of	
	necessary infrastructure (Fuel supply in the case of NGVs and charging stations	
Structural	in the case of EVs)	
	Economic barrier is associated with the economic status of a particular region or a	
	country. High upfront costs (cost of purchase or lease) and the operational/	
Economic	maintenance costs, especially countries with low average income.	
	When there is a limited awareness (or adoption) of technology among an agents' (car	
	owners') social network, it is considered a social barrier. The tendency to adopt the	
	technology of EVs (in this case NGVs) by an agent increases with the increase in	
Social	awareness and adoption of the technology	
Behavioural	Social and behavioural barriers are closely interlinked. Behavioural barrier is associated with the unavailability of relevant information pertaining to the (adoption of) technology and the agents' ignorance	

Literature 5: Regime shifts to sustainability through processes of niche formation: The approach of strategic niche management

Kemp et al. (1998) offer a new perspective on the barriers and the factors that affect the development and diffusion of sustainable (and new) transport technologies. Through this case study, Kemp et al. (1998) explain the reason for the slow transition to sustainable technologies. In order to fully develop a technology from the prototype phase to the final market-ready product phase, there is a need for overcoming the barriers or the resistance faced, both within and outside the organization producing the disruptive technology. These barriers are elaborated on in table 5.5.

5 Potential Barriers and Opportunities for Market Diffusion

Table 5.5: Barriers resulting in a slow transition to sustainable (and new) transport technologies (Kemp et al., 1998).

Barriers	Description	
Technological factors	Newly introduced technologies faces the challenge to fit in the already existing technological system. For example, there is limited data from the tests conducted on new consumers that can be used to redesign and introduce the technology at a large scale. Therefore complementary products must be introduced before the final market-ready product.	
Government policy and regulatory framework	Lack of investments from the manufacturers is often a consequence of poor policy implementation from the government. This is case because the existing policies or the regulations are often strict that could unintentionally hamper the development of new technologies.	
Cultural and psychological factor	Sometimes the values associated with incumbent technologies may not be available in the new technology (for ex, the sound of car engine is absent in EVs).	
Demand factors	The fact that sometimes the new technologies haven't proven their success and worth poses as a barrier to any (potential) consumer. As a result, there is reluctance towards adopting new technology. The new technology also have to meet certain demands and preferences of the users. According to vehicle manufacturers, although there is a change in the technology, there is little to no change in consumer demands	
Production factors	Unpredictable demand for the new technology is a huge uncertainty for the manufacturers of the new technology. This uncertainty leads to risks associated with scaling up of production and subsequent investments.	
Infrastructure and maintenance	Development of the new technology and the infrastructure required for the technology to function must go hand in hand. Lack of infrastructure prevents the diffusion of technology, whereas the diffusion of technology largely depends on the availability and accessibility of the infrastructure (for ex. charging stations for EVs).	
Undesirable societal and environmental effects of new technologies	There is an uncertainty associated with the problems that the diffusion of the new technology may bring to the society (for ex, emissions from the production of EV batteries).	

5.2 Opportunities for Market Diffusion

Due to the infant nature of the Solar Electric Vehicle industry, and the limited availability of scientific literature on this topic, their full potential is yet to be recognized. However, it has been evident that, due to the introduction of SEVs, they not only solve certain problems faced by EVs, but they also have the opportunity to solve several societal problems, which are discussed below. Some of these opportunities were identified based on the inferences drawn from the electric vehicle industry (in the cases where inferences were drawn, they were validated using expert interviews).

Increasing demand for clean and sustainable transportation:

India, like many other countries, faces significant challenges in terms of air pollution and traffic congestion, particularly in its urban centers. The detrimental effects of these issues on public health and the environment are well recognized. In response, the Indian government has set ambitious targets to combat these problems by reducing greenhouse gas emissions and promoting the use of renewable energy sources (IEA, 2021).

The focus on reducing greenhouse gas emissions aligns with global efforts to mitigate climate change and transition towards a sustainable future. India aims to increase the share of renewable energy in its energy mix, emphasizing the importance of clean and sustainable sources of power. This commitment creates a favorable environment for the adoption of SEVs, which offer the potential to reduce emissions from the transportation sector.

Abundant solar energy resources:

India is blessed with abundant solar energy resources, owing to its geographical location and favorable climate conditions. The country experiences high levels of solar irradiation, which refers to the amount of solar radiation received on the Earth's surface (Irfan et al., 2020). This abundant sunlight makes India an ideal region for harnessing solar energy. The availability of high solar irradiation throughout the country opens up vast opportunities for solar energy generation, including the integration of solar panels on Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs).

By installing solar panels on SEVs, it becomes possible to generate significant amounts of energy directly from the sun. These solar panels, often mounted on the vehicle's roof or body, capture sunlight and convert it into electricity (Newman, n.d.). This solar-generated energy can be used to power the vehicle's propulsion system, reducing the reliance on traditional fossil fuels like gasoline or diesel. As a result, the adoption of SEVs equipped with solar panels can contribute to the diversification of India's energy sources and promote energy security.

Favorable government policies and incentives:

The Indian government has been actively promoting the adoption of electric vehicles through a range of policy and incentive measures (Raju et al., 2021). These include tax incentives, subsidies, and investments in charging infrastructure. The government has also set a target of achieving 30% electric mobility by 2030, therefore, facilitating innovations within electric mobility such as SEVs. This presents a great opportunity to introduce SEVs along with EVs (Expert B, 2023).

Growing manufacturing capabilities:

India has a growing manufacturing sector and a skilled workforce in the automotive industry. This presents an opportunity for the domestic production of SEVs and related components, which can help create jobs and promote the growth of the local economy (Chenoy et al., 2019). The 'Make in India' initiative is one among many initiatives which promote the growth and manufacturing of automobiles, locally, in India. This is also an opportunity for foreign automobile companies to invest and set up manufacturing plants in India while promoting the local automobile manufacturing companies to go global (Bhardwaj, 2021).

Rural Electrification and increased Access to Mobility:

India's rural areas are often disconnected from the electricity grid and rely on diesel generators or other fossil-fuel-based sources for power (Goyal, 2023). This leaves a lot of room for renewable energy-based innovation in rural areas. SEVs can provide an alternative solution by using solar panels to generate electricity for not only the vehicle but also for powering homes and businesses in these rural areas. This can help promote energy access and reduce dependence on fossil fuels. In addition to that, they have the potential to increase access to mobility for people in rural areas and remote regions, where access to public transportation is limited (Frank et al., 2021).

Improved Energy Security:

India's heavy reliance on imported oil and gas creates an economic burden for the nation, as the oil and gas prices are increasing (Sharma, 2023). By promoting SEVs, India can decrease its reliance on imported fossil fuels, enhancing energy security and mitigating vulnerability to global oil price fluctuations. This shift towards highly-efficient SEVs would not only reduce oil imports but also reduce the need to use external energy sources (such as charging from the electricity grid). As most of the available electricity is generated from fossil fuels, there is an opportunity for SEVs to reduce the burden on the electricity grid (and the corresponding emissions from electricity generation) (Buchholz, 2022). According to Araki et al. (2023),

5 Potential Barriers and Opportunities for Market Diffusion

having a density of about 13 SEVs per square kilometer would support temporary resilience centers such as temporary medical care centers, air conditioners for care homes, and charging stations for devices such as mobiles (Araki et al., 2023).

Innovative Business Models:

As SEVs are a relatively new (and disruptive) technology, there is ample opportunity for innovation in the business models of companies introducing this technology. For instance, ride-sharing and last-mile delivery models have proven to be successful in India. The costs incurred by companies using gasoline vehicles are high due to the increasing gasoline cost (TechSci, 2023). However, there are companies like Blu Smart, which is India's first ride-sharing company operating entirely with an EV fleet (Mahabadi, 2022). SEVs offer entrepreneurs and innovative companies like Blu Smart a chance to be sustainable and cost-efficient since they don't have any fuel expenses.

Export Opportunities:

India has the potential to become a major manufacturing and exporting hub for (solar) electric vehicles, batteries, and charging infrastructure (Chenoy et al., 2019). With the 'Make in India' initiative, the country can focus on producing these vehicles locally, which would not only drive growth and development in the Indian EV industry but also create opportunities for exports. By leveraging its manufacturing capabilities and competitive advantages, India can produce high-quality SEVs at a competitive price, making them attractive to international markets.

Job Creation:

According to Chenoy et al. (2019), India is targeting to become the top three automobile manufacturers in the world. Through Automotive Mission Plan 2016-26 (AMP 2026), an estimated 65 million jobs will be created, in order to facilitate the growing demand in the automobile sector, especially facilitating India's transition to electric mobility. Therefore, both skilled and semi-skilled labor are required in order to facilitate the growing manufacturing capabilities and also demand (Chenoy et al., 2019). SEVs have the opportunity to tap into the growth potential of India's manufacturing capability by creating jobs required within the SEV industry.

Integration with existing renewable energy systems and electricity grid:

According to Lopes et al. (2011), EVs have the capability to deliver energy back to the electricity grid, when the vehicles are idle and parked. This way EVs have the ability to provide ancillary services to the electricity grid, especially during the peak hours of electricity usage (Lopes et al., 2011). EVs are also able to store excess energy generated by renewable energy sources, to avoid wastage of excess energy produced by solar and wind parks (and other renewable sources), and inject the same back into the grid, whenever required. SEV, having the base architecture of EVs, both have the ability to generate clean electricity (by themselves) and can also be incorporated into the electricity grid whenever there is a need for additional energy (Newman, n.d.).

5.3 Chapter summary

In this chapter, the barriers specific to technologies close to SEVs, such as EVs were explored, and the theoretical findings from each of the literature are highlighted, and the final list of barriers is presented in this chapter (also in the table 5.6). As discussed in section 3.2.1,

multiple sets of links are possible between the main barriers, their underlying influencing conditions, and the affected building blocks. These links are explained in detail in the section 8.1, and are shown in the table 8.1.

In order to see the potential for SEVs in India, and whether SEVs present a viable option, a few opportunities were discovered from the literature, compiled in the table 5.6.

No.	Barriers	Opportunities
1	Lack of (technical) knowledge	Increasing demand for clean and sustainable transportation
2	Lack of awareness	Abundant solar energy resources
	Supply and choice of vehicles/lack of	
3	competition	Favourable government policies and initiatives
4	Safety (due to the nature of batteries)	Growing manufacturing capabilities
5	Environmental impact	Rural electrification and increased access to mobility
6	Reliability (depletion, wear and tear of the components such as batteries)	Improved energy security
7	Maturity of technology	Innovative business models
8	Cost of purchase and ownership	Export opportunities
9	Limited infrastructure (Charging stations)	Job creation
		Integration with existing renewable energy systems and
10	Range anxiety/driving range	electricity grid
11	Long recharge duration	
12	Soul and character of the vehicle (Sound)	
13	Availability of repair/service and maintenance	
14	Cultural and psychological factors	
15	Lack of product satisfaction (fun)	
16	Performance	
	Government policy and	
17	regulatory framework	
18	Demand factors	
19	Production factors/Economies of Scale	
	Lack of access to distribution	1
20	channels/networks	
21	Lack of network externalities	
22	Constantly evolving markets	
23	Low resale value (value depreciation)	
24	Lack of collaboration among stakeholders	

Table 5.6: Final list of barriers and opportunities obtained from literature

According to Ortt et al. (2013), there is a need for formulating and proposing (niche) strategies in order to circumvent or overcome the barriers faced by a high-tech innovation during largescale diffusion. Therefore, in the following chapter, such strategies are explored.

6 Potential Strategies for Market Diffusion

This chapter highlights the strategies applicable to disruptive technologies like SEVs. It has been identified that SEVs are a relatively new and disruptive technology. As discussed by Hardman et al., these disruptive technologies in the initial phase require (niche) strategies to diffuse in the market (Hardman et al., 2013). Therefore, in this chapter, such (niche) strategies applicable to high-tech innovations are studied. Also, the observations made during the literature review, that are crucial for this research are discussed in section 6.1. After the important observations are explained, the strategies from individual perspectives are analyzed in sections 6.2, 6.3, 6.4. A case study analysis was conducted to research the strategies implemented by existing SEV companies, Aptera Motors and Lightyear. This case study is presented in the section 6.5. In order to validate the results obtained from the literature analysis, interviews are conducted and the findings from the interviews are discussed in the interviews chapter, section 7.2. Finally, the chapter summary on potential strategies is provided in section 6.6.

6.1 Important observations on theoretical strategies

In this section, important observations made in the literature are presented, which have significantly contributed to the research on strategies. It is crucial to explore the relevant strategies discussed in the literature in order to address the barriers faced during the mass adoption of SEVs. Several research literature have been thoroughly reviewed, enabling the identification of various strategies and an in-depth examination of the methodologies discussed in the literature. This comprehensive analysis allows for relevant links between the strategies and the barriers they aim to address, enhancing the overall depth of the analysis.

The literature specifically discussed in this section serves as the foundation for the strategies identified in this research. The examination of the findings and insights presented in each paper offers a deeper understanding of the strategies' relevance and potential effectiveness.

In the subsequent sub-sections, each selected literature will be explored in detail, examining key findings, methodologies, and contributions to the overall understanding of strategies. The following are the key observations (elaborated in the following sections) made during the research:

- 1. Multiple individual strategies can be combined to form one main strategy. These substrategies with the same focus or purpose are grouped together, ultimately completing the main strategy. Classification of sub-strategies into the main strategy has been discussed in detail in section 6.6.
- 2. The strategies identified from the literature are predominantly focused on the industry perspective (and the actors associated with the industry), followed by the government and customers. Through this observation, it was also evident that the industry (and the

actors associated with it) has a higher responsibility to prove the potential of SEVs to the government and other stakeholders, in order for SEVs to attain large-scale diffusion.

3. Some strategies can be applicable to all the stakeholders (government, industry, and customers). So, there is a potential overlap in the proposed strategies among the three different perspectives. Therefore, those strategies that can be implemented by multiple stakeholders have been highlighted in the section 6.6.

Ultimately, all the identified strategies have been discussed, and are classified into strategies applicable to the industry (in section 6.2), the government (in section 6.3), and the customers (in section 6.4). A detailed description of the main strategies identified are provided in the appendix section 2.

6.1.1 Literature 1: Strategies for the diffusion of sustainable energy technologies in developing countries

'T Veld (2020) provides a comprehensive understanding of the different types of strategies that enable the large-scale diffusion of sustainable energy technologies (SETs). These different drivers were formulated by improving and extending the niche strategy framework by Ortt et al. (2013) to address the diffusion of SETs in developing countries specifically. After a thorough review, it was identified that the framework developed by 't Veld (2020) is applicable to the market diffusion of SEVs in India, as it is a subset of SETs in developing countries.

It was also identified that there are many other stakeholders including the focal actor (the company or entrepreneur associated with the technology) that influence the large-scale diffusion of SETs. They are entrepreneurs (the focal actor), competitors, the government, private investors, financial and educational institutes, Non-governmental organizations (NGOs), International aid and development organizations (IDOs), and customers ('t Veld, 2020). This observation was crucial for the present work as it serves as a basis for studying the strategies from different perspectives (government, industry, and customers).

A few counteracting strategies were also proposed by 't Veld (2020) that are applicable to actors such as competitors, private investors, and incumbent firms. While the author of the present work agrees that the influence of individual actors on large-scale diffusion must be studied, but disagrees with the counteracting strategies because they serve as strategies that work against large-scale diffusion. For example, a counteracting strategy 'provide false or misleading information to institutional actors' was discussed by 't Veld (2020) as a counteracting strategy that is applicable to incumbent firms (Smink et al., 2015). Similarly 'delaying the transition process' and 'spreading negative information about the focal actor' were also proposed as counteracting strategies to incumbent firms and customers respectively (Urmee et al., 2016), (Smink, 2015).

Therefore, these counteracting strategies are not discussed in the present work. Other strategies such as the ones applicable to sustainable energy technologies (SETs) in general but not specific to solar electric vehicles are also excluded. For example, 'issuing feed-in tariffs' is discussed as a financial incentive that can be provided to renewable energy plants (Zafar et al., 2018). Although feed-in tariffs are applicable to SETs, they are not directly applicable to SEVs. Therefore, feed-in tariffs are not included. The strategies specifically described by 't Veld (2020) are elaborated in the appendix section 1.

6.1.2 Literature 2: Developing a conceptual model on strategies overcoming barriers for the introduction of radical innovations in niches

In order to address the barriers faced during the development process of radical innovation, Schulz (2019) proposed a set of (niche) strategies. Schulz (2019) classified those (niche) strategies into three types. Type 1 focuses on overcoming the barriers faced during the market diffusion process (Schulz, 2019). Type 2 highlights those that influence the influencing factor, while type 3 focuses on addressing the limitations within the core factors. After a thorough review of the strategies, only the ones applicable to the context of large-scale diffusion of SEVs are discussed in the present work. Although these strategies are classified based on the type of problem they solve, they do not clearly define which actor or perspective can be benefited from the application of such (niche) strategies.

Therefore, by the logical reasoning of the author of the present work (backed by validation from the expert interviews), strategies proposed by Schulz (2019) are further classified into those applicable to the government, industry, and customers. This is included in the appendix section 1.

6.1.3 Literature 3: Barriers and strategies analysis on mass adoption of solar electric vehicles in Indonesia

Dwisatyawati (2022) proposed 17 unique strategies, pertaining to the mass adoption of Solar Electric Vehicles in Indonesia. It was also identified that the research findings (barriers and strategies) by Dwisatyawati (2022) are applicable to developing countries (economies) with similar characteristics and conditions as Indonesia. Therefore, these strategies have been identified to be applicable to the context of large-scale diffusion of SEVs in India. These strategies are elaborated on in the section 1.

Out of the total strategies proposed by Dwisatyawati (2022), a few strategies, such as the "turnkey product strategy", "aggressive penetration strategy", "market positioning strategy" and "get specified strategy" were excluded in the present work. The feasibility of applying these strategies in the context of SEVs has been analyzed by the author of the present work through scientific literature analysis, and expert interviews have been determined to be limited.

6.2 Strategies applicable to industry

The development and diffusion of the SEV sector require a comprehensive approach and initiative from the industry. Therefore, the industry perspective has been identified to be crucial among the stakeholders involved in the large-scale diffusion of SEVS. The transition to sustainable transportation systems, coupled with the increasing demand for green and renewable energy solutions, presents a unique opportunity for the industry to implement innovative strategies. Industrial strategies play a crucial role in facilitating growth and competitiveness in the SEV sector. By implementing these strategies, industry stakeholders can overcome challenges, take advantage of the market opportunities, and contribute to the overall success of the SEV industry. In the context of the SEV sector, various strategies can be explored to facilitate its development and diffusion. These strategies include different aspects such as technological advancements, market positioning, collaboration, etc. Technological research and development (R&D) initiatives focused on improving solar energy conversion efficiency, battery technology, and electric drivetrain systems are key to enhancing the performance and viability of SEVs (Waseem et al., 2019). Additionally, strategic partnerships and collaborations among various actors, research (educational) institutions, and government agencies can facilitate knowledge sharing, and ultimately, the success of the innovation ('t Veld, 2020).

Industrial strategies in the SEV sector offer numerous benefits from an industry perspective. Firstly, they create a favorable environment for innovation, research, and development, facilitating the industry players, especially high-tech firms, to stay at the forefront of technological advancements (Fromhold et al., 2013). This positions them as pioneers in the SEV market, attracting investments, partnerships, and skilled talent. Moreover, these strategies facilitate collaboration and knowledge sharing, which can lead to faster and more efficient problem-solving, reducing barriers to entry (Tuchman, 2015).

In addition to primary industry stakeholders, the successful development and diffusion of the Solar Electric Vehicle (SEV) sector rely on the active involvement and support of various other actors within the industry ecosystem ('t Veld, 2020). These actors, including investors, educational institutes, non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and International Development Organizations (IDOs), competitors, and many more, play crucial roles in shaping the trajectory and impact of the SEV industry. Recognizing the significance of each of the individual actors, and the barriers that can be circumvented by their individual measures, the author of the present work acknowledges the strategies applicable to each individual actors are not discussed in detail in this thesis, in order to discuss the strategies relevant to the perspective are elaborated on in the table 6.1.

6 Potential Strategies for Market Diffusion

No.	Main strategies	Sub-strategies	Adapted from/Source
	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Commercialize scientific research outputs	
		Technology transfer through collaborative P&D	
		Pilot research and development through multiple	
		experiments on the product	
	Research & develop (niche)	Pilot projects involving public (end users)	Dwisatvawati (2022) 't Veld (2020) Schulz (2019) Olsthoorn
1	strategy	Market research on the diffusion of technology	(2017) Fromhold-Eisebith & Werker (2013)
		Hiring skilled employees	
		Ontimizing workforce allocation for strategic focus	
		Applituzing workforce anocation for strategic focus	
		Concrating human capital and entrepreneurs by	Duricety (2022) /t Vold (2020) Schulz (2010)
	Human resource management	educational institutes	Davis at yawati (2022), 1 verd (2020), 30 ruli 2 (2013),
2	strategy	Provide human resources	Expert F (2023), Expert H (2023)
_		Provide education and training	
		Internal knowledge sharing	Dwisatvawati (2022), 't Veld (2020), Schulz (2019),
3	Education niche strategy	Improved accessibility to (technical) information	Zafar et al. (2018), Fromhold-Eisebith & Werker (2013)
4	Lead-user niche strategy	Focusing on lead-users with specific needs	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)
		Seeking loan (from different lenders)	
		Crowd funding campaigns	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), 't Veld (2020),
5	Finance sourcing strategy	Seeking investments from financial institutes	
~		Implementing product subsidies	
6	Subsidized niche strategy	Implementing tax subsidies	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)
7	Dadasian niska stratamu	Redesigning the application of the product	Orth (2012) Schulz (2010) Druisch gwati (2022)
1	Recession mone strategy	Alter the physical aspects of the product	Orit (2013), Schulz (2013), Dwisatyawati (2022)
		(and its system)	
	Dedicated system or	Adapt to eliminate the requirement of	1
8	Stand-alone niche strategy	complementary products and services	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)
		Combining new product with the old	
		product	
		Improving compatibility between the	
	Hybridization or Adaptor	product and existing complementary	
9	niche strategy	services by providing adaptor or converter	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)
		Directly influencing the policy makers through	
		Undersethy influencing the policy makers through	
		NGO's public and media	
	Lobbving strategy	Lobbying through contributions to campaigns	Dwisatvawati (2022), Schulz (2019), Hardman et al. (2013).
10	(Advocacy strategy)	Company representative joining regulatory agencies	Expert D (2023)
		Consumers owns the product while the company	
		maintains juridical ownership	
		Company retains the ownership throughout the lease	
		Contract	
		Enabling shared utilization, access and ownership of	
	Collaborative product	the offered product	
	utilization	Offer subscription option to spread out the cost of	Dwisatvawati (2022), Schulz (2019), Strupeit & Palm (2015),
11	strategy	purchase over a period of time	Bloem (2018)
	Buy-one, give one niche	Selling product to top-end customers and donating	
12	strategy	the same product to poor target market	Dwisatyawati (2022), Schulz (2019)
		Selling the product at a particular (high demand)	
		geographical area	
		Seek support from relevant stakeholder from	4
13	Geographical niche strategy	other locations	Ortt (2013) Schulz (2019) Dwisatvawati (2022)
	aupinedi nono oracogy	Producing high quality products on a small scale	
		Selling the product to a targeted (wealthy) market	1
14	Top-end niche strategy	segment/customers	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Sonali (2016)
		Working together with partners/other stakeholders to	
		remove (common) barriers collectively	4
		Buying bulk natural resources by partnering with	
		Collaborating with companies multilaterally and	4
		internationally	
		Collaborative talent (human resources) pooling with	
		other partners	
		Establish collaborations and alliances with focal actor to	Dwisatyawati (2022), Schulz (2019), Strupeit & Palm (2015),
15	Partnerships niche strategy	reduce power position of incumbent firms	Hardman et al. (2013), 't Veld (2020), Expert D (2023)
		Building and expanding network outside the	
		organization to accelerate the market diffusion process	
		diffusion (sales) of the product	
		diffusion (sales) of the product	
16	Integrated network strategy	and sell the product	Dwisatvawati (2022). Hardman et al. (2013)
.0		Bringing in influencers to raise awareness on the	
		technology, company and/or the product	
17	Marketing strategy	Preannouncing strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), Schulz (2019)
		Targeting other culturally and geographically closer	
		markets to gain validation	4
10	Stopping stopp strategy	Launching products in the market more familiar to the	Dujactyoursti (2022) Olatheore (2017)
10	Stepping stone strategy	Expanding or diversifying the product portfolio to convolo	Dwisatyawati (2022), Oistrioom (2017)
		bigger (target) market	
			1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Table 6.1: Strategies tailore	d for industry perspective
-------------------------------	----------------------------

6.3 Strategies applicable to government

1		Offering products with different designs, specifications	
		or features addressing diverse range of the needs of	
19	Product variants strategy	end users	Dwisatyawati (2022), Sonali (2016)
		Offering other features to make the product attractive	
		Offering the product in combination with other related	
20	Cross-selling strategy	products	Dwisatyawati (2022), Stupeit & Palm (2016), Expert E (2023)
		Focusing on consumer needs, and consumer	
		satisfaction	
		Promising guaranteed (desired) results from the use of	
		the product such as good performance, durability, etc	
	Result-oriented contracting	Informing end users of the guaranteed results (return on	
21	strategy	investment)/Mobility as a service	Dwisatyawati (2022), Strupeit & Palm (2015), Expert E (2023)
		Creating new market spaces or industries, rather than	
		competing within existing ones	
		Focus on a different market/sector first (ex: marine	
22	Blue ocean strategy	sector)	Dwisatyawati (2022), Sharma (2016), Kim & Mauborgne (2004)
		Understanding current trend, demand and competition	
		in a different (or new) market	
		Exploring different (or new) markets with other	
	Explore multiple markets	stakeholders (for ex: competitors) to eliminate certain	
23	strategy	barriers	Ortt et al. (2013), 't Veld (2020), Bloem (2018)

6.3 Strategies applicable to government

Government intervention is crucial in facilitating the diffusion of new and innovative technologies such as SEVs (Painuly, 2001). It is due to their role in promoting electric mobility and reducing reliance on ICEVs, that strategies from the perspective of the government are explored further. The government's involvement is necessary to address various aspects such as facilitating favorable market conditions for the technology through necessary regulations, social acceptance, and the development of supportive policies. Ultimately, supporting the development of the technology by removing barriers, building capacity, promoting research and development, creating an investment-friendly environment, and providing information to promote the adoption of SEVs (Painuly, 2001).

't Veld (2020) claims that to facilitate government intervention in the large-scale diffusion of sustainable energy technologies, several strategies can be employed. These strategies include establishing collaborations and alliances with the industry stakeholders, facilitating skills and knowledge-sharing mediums, exploring new markets, and innovating collaboratively to reduce the upfront cost of the product (Ang, 2008), (Gabriel et al., 2016), (Gabriel, 2016). These strategies are discussed in table 6.2.

6 Potential Strategies for Market Diffusion

N	Bittern adverde erte a	Cut stastavias	A 1
NO.	Mian strategies	Sub-strategies	Adapted from/Source
		Restructuring the sector/Privatization	
		Facilitating competition	
		Removing other controls	
		Public sector participation	
1	Liberalizing the market strategy	Setting up independent regulatory bodies	't Veld (2020), Painuly (2001), Zafar et al. (2018)
		Provide standards and regulations	
2	Guaranteed markets strategy	Ensuring a secure and stable market	't Veld (2020), Painuly (2001), Pratiwi (2016)
		Providing subsidies	Dwisatyawati (2022), 't Veld (2020),
	Economic/financial incentives	Providing scrapping (end of life) incentives	Painuly (2001), Schulz (2019), Ortt (2013), Expert G
3	strategy	Tax exemption/reduction	(2023)
		Government investment	't Veld (2020), Fromhold-Eisebith & Werker (2013),
4	Investment strategy	Promote external (private) investments	Painuly (2001)
	Promotion/awareness campaign	Educating stakeholders	't Veld (2020), Balachandra et al. (2010),
5	strategy	Educational seminars and webinars	Painuly (2001), Pratiwi (2016)
		Pilot research and development	
		Providing funding and grants	
	Research & development (niche)	Establishing research centres	Dwisatyawati (2022), 't Veld (2020), Painuly (2001),
6	strategy	Facilitate external R&D investments	Schulz (2019), Fromhold-Eisebith & Werker (2013)
	Supportive demonstration and cost-		
7	reduction strategy	Providing testing/demonstration facilities	't Veld (2020), Reddy & Painuly (2004)
		Improve accessibility to (technical) information	
		Create jobs aligning with the roles associated	1
		with the development and diffusion of the	
		technology	
8	Initiate (technical) training strategy	Promoting/conducting training workshops	't Veld (2020), Zafar et al. (2018)

Table 6.2: Strategies tailored for government perspective

In practice, governments can adopt supportive policies and measures to encourage the diffusion of SEVs. According to Painuly (2001), these include liberalizing the SEV sector, providing guaranteed markets for SEV developers, offering financial incentives such as subsidies and tax exemptions, initiating information and awareness campaigns, establishing standards and regulations, setting up R&D programs, supporting demonstrations and cost-reduction strategies (Painuly, 2001), (Sen & Ganguly, 2017). Due to the power that the government holds, strategies like liberalizing the sector, providing guaranteed markets, and financial incentives can only be employed by government entities.

Applying these strategies can yield fruitful outcomes for the government and other stakeholders. Governments can stimulate the uptake of SEVs by improving the competitiveness among manufacturers, promoting electric mobility, achieving social and environmental benefits, attracting investments, creating jobs, enhancing energy security, and contributing to the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions (Zafar et al., 2018). Additionally, the diffusion of SEVs can lead to technological advancements, cost reductions, improved accessibility to SEV-related information, and the development of skilled human resources (Painuly, 2001).

It is important to note that government approaches to promoting SEVs may vary across regions and countries, with some governments taking neutral or opposing positions due to the implications of substituting established fossil fuel industries. Institutional capacity and integrity issues sometimes could also hinder government interventions in certain developing countries such as India (Balachandra et al., 2010).

6.4 Strategies applicable to customers

Customers play a crucial role in the large-scale diffusion of any technology, including Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs). Their adoption and acceptance of SEVs directly impact the market demand and growth of the industry (Krishna, 2021). Customers' preferences, needs, and feedback shape the development of SEVs, influencing manufacturers, policymakers, and other stakeholders. Therefore, understanding and engaging customers in the SEV ecosystem is essential for its success.

A major factor that influences the engagement of customers in the large-scale diffusion of technology, is their trust in the high-tech companies developing the technology (Wüstenhagen et al., 2007). Pesch (2014) claims that maintaining the trust of customers is a crucial aspect of the successful large-scale diffusion of technology (Pesch, 2014). One of the ways to gain trust and acceptance is to adhere to the customer/end-user requirements (Chaurey & Kandpal., 2010). Customers could clearly formulate their requirements and expectations from the technology while adhering to the safety standards and other regulations set by the government. This allows the focal actors (high-tech companies developing the technology) to gain their trust by satisfying the customers' needs (Pesch, 2014).

Another (indirect) way to gain the users' trust is to gain the trust of an influential member (for example, the head of a community or a village) of a community first (Uremee et al., 2016). In modern urban and rural communities, the general members of the community (potential users), accept the beliefs of influential community members. This way, influential community members can promote and spread awareness regarding the technology. They not only influence the decisions of other potential users but also can engage in (active) word-of-mouth (WOM) advertising of the technology (Krishna, 2021). In addition to that, active customers and influential community members can also use electronic Word of Mouth (eWOM) platforms to spread information and awareness of a particular technology (Krishna, 2021).

Although, the customers' role is undermined, from the literature it was identified that the measures discussed above can be taken by the customers, to support the large-scale diffusion. Recognizing the importance of the role of customers in large-scale diffusion, these strategies have been highlighted in the table 6.3.

No.	Main strategies	Sub-strategies	Adapted from/Source
1	Formulate requirements strategy	Articulating the specifications and requirements for the technology	't Veld (2020), Chaurey & Kandpal (2010)
		Creating a trend by incorporating the technology at an early stage	't Veld (2020), Urmee & Md (2016),
2	Influential community member strategy	Spreading awareness among communities Expert E (2023)	
		Usage of electronic Word of Mouth (eWOM) platforms	
3	Word of mouth strategy	Word of Mouth (WOM) advertising 't Veld (2020), Kenton (2016), Krishna (202	
		Organize feedback sessions, surveys, user forums, and social	
4	Continuous user engagement strategy	media engagement with companies developing the technology	't Veld (2020), Urmee & Md (2016)

Table 6.3: Strategies tailored for customer perspective

6.5 Case study on strategies: Aptera Motors and Lightyear

A case study is conducted on Apetra Motors, and Lightyear to investigate the measures they've taken to launch and introduce their SEVs in the market. According to Shakir (2002), when the research topic in question addresses a contemporary phenomenon (in this case, the measures taken by existing SEV companies), case studies are a suitable research method to gather data.

6 Potential Strategies for Market Diffusion

Hence case studies are done to gather insights from the public reports made available by Aptera Motors and Lightyear. This case study on Lightyear and Aptera Motors was crucial to understanding the strategies that are being implemented by the pioneers of SEV technology. In addition to that, this case study provided an additional layer of rationale for the applicability of the strategies obtained from the literature to the context of SEVs. In order to obtain the data on the strategies from these companies, firstly, the available scientific literature was explored. Since this case study was based particularly on the measures taken by Lightyear and Aptera, publicly available reports were used to gather information on the strategies as there was limited (direct) scientific literature available.

6.5.1 Aptera Motors

The following strategies are implemented by Aptera Motors. The particular (technical) measures taken by Aptera Motors are discussed below in relation to the most relevant strategies identified from the literature.

- 1. Technological research & development (niche) strategy
 - Employing the usage of the additive manufacturing process (alternative to steel stamping) as it is more efficient to launch new models quickly to manufacture body parts (Aptera, 2022).
 - Incorporating Artificial Intelligence (AI) to optimize part designs for strength and material efficiency, ultimately making the vehicle more rigid.
 - The use of resin-infused sandwich-core construction creates lightweight composite structures, ultimately facilitating advancement in vehicle design.
 - Usage of Automated Guided Vehicles (AGV) to simplify and automate the production process, thereby reducing manufacturing expenses.
- 2. Marketing strategy
 - Hybrid marketing/promotion of the company and the vehicle by scheduling testdrive opportunities with the enthusiasts and organizing events in the markets with potential demand (Aptera, 2022).
 - Through the Summer of Solar Mobility campaign, the active promotion of the technology is done by social media advertising and touring the United States in Apetra's SEV (Aptera, 2023).
- 3. Geographic niche strategy
 - Rolling out the vehicles from the first line of production in Southern California (Aptera, 2022).
 - After Southern California, other major metropolitan cities are targeted.
- 4. Finance sourcing strategy
 - Through Aptera's accelerator program, they encourage crowdfunding by allowing investments from accredited investors.
 - Aptera successfully raised over \$8 million from 553 investors worldwide (Aptera, 2023).

- 5. Partnerships niche strategy, blue ocean strategy
 - Aptera partnered with eco-accelerator SustainabilitySooner to provide a 101 SEV fleet promoting solar mobility among fleet operators.
 - By targeting fleet operators like SustainabilitySooner, Aptera is venturing into a new market space where there is limited competition (Blue Ocean Strategy) (Aptera, 2023).
 - Aptera has formed a strategic partnership with the C.P.C. Group, an experienced and renowned company in the automotive industry that specializes in composite solutions.
- 6. Lead user niche strategy
 - Aptera targeted the first 2000 (lead) users/pioneers of SEV technology to accelerate the first line of production (Aptera, 2023).
- 7. Hybridization or adaptor niche strategy
 - Aptera is adapting to the existing charging infrastructure in the market by integrating the North American Charging Standard (NACS), which was formerly known as the Tesla connector (Aptera, 2022).
- 8. Integrated network strategy
 - By partnering with Maxeon, Aptera is tapping into the expertise of an industry leader in solar innovation, allowing them to leverage high-quality and efficient solar cells for their solar electric vehicles (Aptera, 2022).
 - Aptera motors utilize the highly-efficient 21700 NMC 811 cells by relying on and partnering with EVE Energy Co, Ltd to produce lightweight batteries.
 - Aptera is strategically collaborating with Elaphe, a specialized company with expertise in in-wheel motor technology by developing cutting-edge vehicles at a rapid pace.
 - Aptera's partnership with RedViking enables to optimize its final vehicle assembly, increase production efficiency, and meet its pre-production and production timelines with confidence.
- 9. Human resource management strategy, finance sourcing strategy
 - Aptera appointed a corporate veteran and venture capital partner to be a strategic advisor due to their expertise as an investor and knowledge of the industry. Similarly, the Managing General Partner of Impala Ventures was also appointed as another strategic advisor & investor (Aptera, 2022).

6.5.2 Lightyear

The following strategies are implemented by Lightyear. The particular (technical) measures taken by Lightyear are discussed below in relation to the most relevant strategies identified from the literature.

1. Human Resource Management Strategy

6 Potential Strategies for Market Diffusion

- The appointment of Bart Welten and Floris van de Klashorst as the new Chief Financial Officer (CFO), and the Chief Transformation Officer (CTFO), respectively, indicates that Lightyear has incorporated a strategic approach to managing human resources within the company (Lightyear, 2023).
- 2. Redesign Niche Strategy
 - Lightyear has made the strategic decision to suspend the production of Lightyear 0 (the expensive version of the car) and redirect its focus and resources completely towards Lightyear 2 (the cheaper version of the car), a more affordable solar electric vehicle aimed at a wider audience (Lightyear, 2023).
 - R&D conducted for Lightyear 0 and the learning obtained through its market introduction will be utilized as a basis for the development of Lightyear 2.
- 3. Partnerships Niche Strategy
 - By forming partnerships with leasing and car-sharing companies like Arval, Athlon, LeasePlan, and MyWheels, Lightyear is expanding its market reach and making its Lightyear 2 solar car accessible to a broader audience.
 - Lightyear partnered with the supercar manufacturer, Koenigsegg, which allowed them to tap into Koeningsegg's resources and experience in building high-performance sports cars to ultimately develop cutting-edge innovations (Lightyear, 2022).
- 4. Collaborative Product Utilization Strategy
 - By partnering with companies like Arval, Athlon, LeasePlan, and MyWheels, Lightyear is facilitating the option of leasing and car sharing for the end users. This enables the end users to use the product (SEV) without the need to purchase the vehicle.
- 5. Marketing strategy (preannouncing strategy specifically)
 - Lightyear by participating in CES 2023 (Las Vegas), a tech event, is promoting their product by spreading awareness regarding solar mobility. They showcased not only Lightyear 0 (their existing model), but also (pre-) announced Lightyear 2 (affordable mass market model) by reaching a global audience.
 - Announced waitlist for Lightyear 2 by building anticipation of the product.
 - Lightyear promoted Lightyear 0 by letting the (potential) customers/end users experience the driving of Lightyear 0 through the Destination Daylight campaign (Lightyear, 2022).

6.6 Chapter summary

In this chapter firstly, the strategies identified from the literature are discussed from the perspectives of industry, government, and customers. In addition to that, the strategies implemented by the solar mobility companies, Lightyear and Aptera Motors were discussed, emphasizing the relevance of the findings from the literature to SEV technology. After thoroughly reviewing the literature, it was identified that some of the strategies that were proposed could be classified as sub-strategies and combined into a main strategy. Therefore, such strategies were identified and grouped as sub-strategies in the present work. For example, several

strategies from the literature such as setting up independent regulatory bodies, promoting competition or privatization, and restructuring the sector were discussed individually by Painuly (2001) and 't Veld (2020). However, it was identified that these strategies serve the same purpose of liberalizing the targeted sector. Therefore, a new main strategy (combining the sub-strategies) named "Liberalizing the market strategy" was formed. Such modified strategies (after combining the sub-strategies) are highlighted in red color. This color code (red) has been used to clearly differentiate the main strategies that were modified (combined), from the main strategies which were directly adapted from literature without any modification.

In addition to that, it is also important to acknowledge the strategies with the same name and purpose, that can be implemented by different stakeholders from different perspectives. One such strategy is the Research and Development (niche) strategy. Both the government and industry, have different roles in facilitating research and development. However, it allows for them to work towards the (common) goal of improving the R&D of SEV technology, which in the long term accelerates large-scale diffusion of SEVs. On one hand, the government can provide research funding and grants, while the industry can commercialize the scientific research outputs, on the other hand. However, there are some measures under research and development strategy such as testing the technology through pilot projects, which can be taken by both the government and industry together. Similarly, all the stakeholders involved (government, industry and customers) have different roles in promoting and spreading awareness regarding the technology.

A brief overview of those modified main strategies under individual perspectives is provided below

- 1. Government
 - Liberalizing market strategy
 - Research and development (niche) strategy
 - Initiate (technical) training strategy
- 2. Industry
 - Research and development (niche) strategy
 - Human resource management strategy
 - Finance sourcing strategy
 - Lobbying strategy
 - Collaborative product utilization strategy
 - Partnerships niche strategy
 - Integrated network strategy
 - Marketing strategy
 - Explore multiple markets strategy
- 3. Customers
 - Word of mouth strategy

No.	Main strategies	Adapted from/Source
1	Liberalizing the market strategy	't Veld (2020), Painuly (2001), Zafar et al. (2018)
2	Guaranteed markets strategy	't Veld (2020), Painuly (2001), Pratiwi (2016)
3	Economic/financial incentives strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), 't Veld (2020), Painuly (2001). Schulz (2019). Ott (2013). Expert G (2023)
4	Investment strategy	't Veld (2020) Frombold-Eisebith & Werker (2013) Painuly (2001)
5		
5		(2010), Balachandra et al. (2010), Palluly (2001), Pratiwi (2016)
6	Supportive demonstration and cost-reduction strategy	't Veld (2020), Reddy & Painuly (2004)
7	Initiate (technical) training strategy	't Veld (2020), Zafar et al. (2018)
8	Research & development (niche) strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), 't Veld (2020), Schulz (2019), Olsthoorn (2017), Fromhold- Eisebith & Werker (2013), Painuly (2001),
9	Human resource management strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), 't Veld (2020), Schulz (2019), Davey et al. (2018), Fromhold- Eisebith & Werker (2013), Expert F (2023), Expert H (2023)
10	Education niche strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), 't Veld (2020), Schulz (2019), Zafar et al. (2018), Fromhold- Eisebith & Werker (2013)
11	Lead-user niche strategy	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)
12	Finance sourcing strategy	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), 't Veld (2020),
13	Subsidized niche strategy	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)
14	Redesign niche strategy	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)
15	Dedicated system or Stand-alone niche strategy	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)
16	Hybridization or Adaptor niche strategy	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)
17	Lobbying strategy (Advocacy strategy)	Dwisatyawati (2022), Schulz (2019), Hardman et al. (2013), Expert D (2023)
18	Collaborative product utilization strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), Schulz (2019), Strupeit & Palm (2015), Bloem (2018)
19	Buy-one, give one niche strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), Schulz (2019)
20	Geographical niche strategy	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)
21	Top-end niche strategy	Ortt (2013), Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Sharma (2016)
22	Partnerships niche strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), Schulz (2019), Strupeit & Palm (2015), Hardman et al. (2013), 't Veld (2020), Expert D (2023)
23	Integrated network strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), Hardman et al. (2013)
24	Marketing strategy	Dwisatvawati (2022), Schulz (2019)
25	Stepping stone strategy	Dwisatvawati (2022), Olsthoorn (2017)
26	Product variants strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), Sharma (2016)
27	Cross-selling strategy	Dwisatvawati (2022), Stupeit & Palm (2016), Expert E (2023)
28	Result-oriented contracting strategy	Dwisatvawati (2022), Strupeit & Palm (2015), Expert F (2023)
29	Blue ocean strategy	Dwisatyawati (2022), Sharma (2016), Kim & Mauborgne (2004)
30	Explore multiple markets strategy	Ortt et al. (2013). 't Veld (2020). Bloem (2018).
31	Formulate requirements strategy	't Veld (2020), Chaurey & Kandpal (2010)
32	Influential community member strategy	't Veld (2020). Urmee & Md (2016). Expert F (2023)
52		
33	Word of mouth strategy Continuous user engagement strategy	't Veld (2020), Kenton (2016), Krishna (2021) 't Veld (2020), Urmee & Md (2016)

7 Expert Interviews

Expert interviews conducted during this thesis are discussed in this chapter. Since interviews were only conducted during phases 2, 3, and 4, the chapter is also organized into the interviews conducted from phases 2, 3, and 4 respectively, as shown in the figure 7.1. Firstly, interviews conducted with experts A, and B, and the validation received from them on the barriers identified in this thesis are discussed in section 7.1. In addition to that, the interviews with experts C, D, E, and F, and the validation received from them on the strategies are also reviewed in section 7.2. Ultimately, interviews conducted in phase 4 with experts G and H were used to identify the most important strategies that could be implemented per barrier, discussed in the section 7.3. All the experts were interviewed once whereas Expert G expressed his willingness to participate in a second interview where some additional insights were gained.



Figure 7.1: Classification of interviews into different phases of this thesis

7.1 Interviews - Phase 2

This section highlights the key findings (new information) from the interviews conducted in phase 2. In addition to that, the key findings from the interviews have been linked to the barriers identified from the literature, and the method used to link the findings is presented in figure 7.2.

7 Expert Interviews



Figure 7.2: Method used to link the key findings from the interview with the barriers from literature

Interviews conducted during phase two focused on finding new information on the barriers that the EV industry is facing in India and validating those barriers for SEV technology, along with the potential opportunities from the expert's perspective. Experts A and B were primarily interviewed based on their areas of expertise, and the findings from these interviews are presented in table 7.1.

According to expert A (2023), SEVs present opportunities for foreign companies to tap into the potential of the Indian market, by tapping into the potential of existing distribution networks. Such collaborations are also possible in academia, within Indian universities, and renowned global research institutes. However, it was also highlighted that currently there is limited collaboration between academia and industry, as a consequence, knowledge development and diffusion are hindered. Lack of knowledge development and diffusion in turn affects the competition within the SEV market, as OEMs are hesitant to invest in this technology. The author of the present work agrees with the insights provided by expert A (2023), as the lack of collaboration between industry and academia (and the resulting consequences) has been found to be a barrier in the literature, and also confirmed by expert F (2023).

According to expert B (2023), due to the discovery of lithium reserves in India, there is a huge potential for the cost of batteries to go down. In addition to that, adding a solar panel over the roof of the vehicle reduces the burden on the battery, as the vehicle will have two sources of power. Ultimately, reducing the need for a battery with high capacity, and as a result, the cost of the vehicle can be reduced. However, currently, this is not the case, as EV technology itself is quite new in India, therefore, the cost of ownership is relatively higher than an ICEV. Due to this, there are a limited number of EV models available. Additionally, detailed findings from the interviews with experts A and B are outlined in the table 7.1
	Stakeholders affected	Information gathered on a particular barrier during	Interview-based barriers aligned with barriers
Interviewee	(Perspectives)	open discussion	from literature
		Solar PV technology in India is still developing, and innovation is needed in order to incorporate the solar panel (if they are curved) on the solar cars, as a result, it presents design challenges as well	Lack of (technical) knowledge, Maturity of technology
	Industry (OEMs)	Availability of materials for solar panels is a challenge as with the increase in demand for SEVs the demand for producing solar panels will also increase	Production factors/Economies of scale, Maturity of technology
	Customers (end users)	As majority of the population in India belongs to the middle-class, bearing the high-upfront cost of the vehicle is also a challenge if the vehicle is expensive, although middle-class consumers are target class of consumers.	
Expert A	Industry (financial institutes), Customers (end users)	Some of the (potential) middle class consumers rely on bank loans to support their (S)EV purchase but banks are reluctant to provide loans due to the high-upfront costs when compared to traditional vehicles, ultimately affecting the decision of customers	Cost of purchase and ownership, Demand factors
	Industry (OEMs)	Limited number of companies (only Vayve Mobility) are working on SEV technology in India, and as a result (according to expert A), there is no competition among SEV manufacturers	Supply and choice of vehicles/lack of competition,
	Government, Industry (financial institutes)	Lack of funding from the government and private sector (towards research institutes) to research, develop and diffuse the knowledge pertaining to SEVs	Government policy and regulatory framework, Lack of (technical) knowledge
	Industry (OEMs and financial institutes)	Although there are collaborations within research institutes, no knowledge sharing platforms between research institutes and high-tech companies.	Lack of collaboration among stakeholders
	Customers (end users)	Cost of (Battery) Electric Vehicles is significantly higher than conventional vehicles in the Indian market	Cost of purchase and ownership
	Industry (OEMs), Government (policy makers)	Limited number of (Solar) Electric Vehicle product variants are available, as a result there are less models for end users to choose from	Supply and choice of vehicles/lack of competition, Demand factors
	Customers (end users)	Limited financing capability of potential end users with middle and low income, resulting in less demand for expensive vehicles	Cost of purchase and ownership, Demand factors
	Customers (end users)	Range anxiety is another barrier for the use cases when long distance (outside the city) travelling is required	Range anxiety, long recharge duration
Expert B	Industry (OEMs)	Shortage in SEV components such as solar cells, and semi-conductors resulting in limited supply towards SEVs	Production factors/Economies of scale
	Customers (end users), Industry (OEMs)	Limited number of OEMs are focusing on (Solar) Electric Vehicle technology	Lack of collaboration among stakeholders, Supply and choice of vehicles/Lack of competition
	Industry (OEMs), Customers (end users)	Since the cost of EVs are really high, only high end customers are targeted by some companies	Lack of network externalities, Demand factors, Cost of purchase and ownership
	Industry (OEMs), Customers (end users)	High import taxes on (Solar) Electric Vehicles manufactured outside India, eventually restricting all (S)EV comparies with manufacturing facilities outside India, in order to encourage manufacturing locally, in India.	Government policy and regulatory framework
	Industry (OEMs), Government (policy makers)	Investment in alternative technologies like Hydrogen vehicles could potentially disrupt EV sector	Constantly evolving markets

Table 7.1: Key findings from interviews with experts A and B and their relevance with barriers from literature

An important observation made during the research on barriers is that the barrier 'environmental impact' was highlighted in the literature as a barrier to the adoption of EV technology. However, from the interviews, it was found that the threat of the barrier 'environmental impact' from the perspective of solar EVs is low. This ranking was primarily given based on an assumption that the environmental emissions considered by the usage of solar EVs are lower compared to the traditional EVs, as SEVs make use of clean energy to charge the battery and propel the vehicle forward. The environmental emissions involved in the production of the vehicle and its components such as batteries, and solar PVs are not considered. This resulted in the limitation that environmental emissions associated with solar EVs have been excluded from this thesis, as the socio-technical conditions that affect the environmental impact and the emissions resulting from the production of the vehicle are not discussed in this thesis. Therefore, by listing the barrier 'environmental impact', the author acknowledges the barrier but it is not investigated further in this thesis.

7.2 Interviews - Phase 3

This section highlights the key findings (new information) from the interviews conducted in phase 3. In addition to that, the key findings from the interviews have been linked to the strategies identified from the literature and are presented in figure 7.3. These key findings from the interviews are predominantly related to the measures that are taken currently and also measures that are applicable in the future in the Indian (solar) electric vehicle market.

7 Expert Interviews



Figure 7.3: Method used to link the key findings from the interview with the strategies from literature

During phase 3, firstly, experts C and D were interviewed to understand the current market conditions and the strategies that were being implemented in the EV sector. By interviewing them on the current market conditions of the EV sector, some insights were gained on how well the current market conditions can accommodate a disruptive technology like SEVs. Therefore, the information and validation received from experts C and D were crucial, in order to extend and study the applicability of the strategies found in the literature, to the Indian market. In addition to that, experts E and F were interviewed to understand what could be done in the future to accommodate SEVs in the Indian market. Therefore, the information received from experts E and F is primarily based on the type of strategies that are both, applicable now and also in the future.

According to Expert F (2023), Vayve Mobility is targeting a market where there is a possibility to offer the vehicle with the option of a solar roof, instead of offering a solar-only vehicle. This presents the customers with an option to choose from, as they have a choice to buy the vehicle with or without the additional solar roof. This way, Vayve Mobility expands its presence into the traditional EV market along with the SEV market. According to Expert F (2023), due to the price-sensitive nature of the Indian market, offering the product at an affordable price is the best way to introduce SEVs in the market. Vayve Mobility aims to provide solar electric vehicles at an affordable price of 6000, by making the vehicle smaller and compact, and more suitable for an urban setting. Due to the road and traffic conditions in urban areas in India, there is a huge potential for such small and compact cars.

On the other hand, Expert F claims that, for a SEV company to be successful in India, the purchasing price must be affordable to the end users in the middle-class income range. Therefore, it was inferred that any vehicle with a high purchasing cost of over 15 lakh Indian Rupees (about 17000 EUR) is likely to not succeed in the mass market. Currently, from the perspective of an average Indian customer, the available SEV models from Lightyear and Aptera Motors are highly priced (>25000 EUR), therefore, such models are highly unlikely to succeed in the mass market. In addition to the economic conditions in India, the SEVs must also meet and adapt to the conditions of the Indian roads. Therefore, according to expert F (2023), it is crucial for companies introducing SEVs in the Indian market to meet the economic and geographical (road) conditions in India, which are often different when compared to developed countries. The author of the present work agrees with the above points raised by expert F, as the economic and geographical conditions in India must be taken into consideration before introducing SEVs into the Indian market. This was also confirmed by other experts (particularly expert G) who claimed that for a SEV to be able to diffuse in the mass market, it must make sense for the customers to be able to afford it (from a financial point of view), and the vehicles must be designed to be able to withstand the road conditions in India (from a design point of view).

Interviewee	Stakeholders involved/Perspectives	Information gathered on a particular strategy during open discussion	Strategy applied
		Through Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of (Hybrid &) Electric Vehicles (FAME) I and II	
	Central reversent	policy implementation, the feasibility of EVs are tested and later incentivized	Economic/financial incentives strategy
	Central government	State governments (of around 20 Indian states) introduced their own sub-national policies in	Subsidized highe strategy
		addition to FAME I and II	
		Land, water, electricity, and other resources required for manufacturing are incentivized	
	State government	Initiatives are introduced both on the supply and demand sides of the vehicles	Economic/financial incentives strategy
	Local municipalities	formulated their own initiatives targeting a particular city/region	Geographical niche strategy
		Ministry of Power came up with guidelines and regulations for the charging stations	
	Central government	Improving the density of the charging stations within urban and rural areas with pilot projects	Research and develop (niche) strategy
		Collaboration among multiple industry players, for ex: Gogoro and Zypp Electric to collaborate	
	Industry (OEMS)	and produce EVs, and between TATA and BluSmart to improve charging infrastructure	Partnerships niche strategy/ integrated network strategy
Expert C			Education niche strategy
	Industry (High-tech	50-60% of the sales in EVS originated from high-tech startups led by up and coming (skilled) entrepreneurs	Research and develop (niche) strategy
	companies)		Human resource management strategy
		Shoonya Platform initiated by the government for collaboration among 100+ companies	Partnerships niche strategy
		No road and registration tax for new (S)EVs in Delhi	Economic/financial incentives strategy
		Switch Delhi campaign for switching to electric mobility, by spreading awareness	
	Government and industry		Promotion/awareness campaign strategy
		E-Amrit portal for comparison of different models EVs (for end users)	Promotion/awareness campaign strategy
			Product variants strategy
		Calco of EV/a are improving due to increased outprovide and outproits among sustainers	Influential community member strategy
	Customers/end users	Sales of EVs are improving due to increased awareness and curiosity among customers	Result oriented contracting strategy
			Economic/financial incentives strategy,
		Government's FAME scheme allocated a separate budget to support R&D activities within	Research & develop (niche)
		Government is supporting the general public (end users with average income level), and not the	strategy
	Central government	rich users (so for a costly high end SEVs these policies may not be applicable)	
	State government	Individual state governments (of around 20 Indian states) have their own policies and schemes	
	Central and state	Incentives are provided in the form of demand incentives (subsidies), manufacturing incentives,	Subsidized niche strategy.
	governments	waiving permits and road taxes	Economic/financial incentives strategy
		Production Linked Incentive (PLI) schemes are implemented by the central govt to promote Advanced Chemistry Cell (for battery technologies) and different solar EV components	
			Investment strategy
		Separate PLI scheme is implemented for Solar PV cells to promote the local production of cells	
		Active participation of Indian government in G20 summit to promote and develop climate tech	
		Indian government is commercializing the advanced solutions with the EV sector through	
	Central government	multilateral collaboration	Partnerships niche strategy
	Industry (OEMs)	Companies are identifying the need to target urban areas and regions with high demand for the successful large-scale diffusion of (solar) EVs	Geographical niche strategy
		Companies are collaborating to develop the product from individual component (battery) level to	esegraphical mone cuategy
Export D		the entire vehicle	
Experto		Use partment of Science and Technology is initiating partnerships among multiple Indian universities and foreign universities for knowledge transfer and technology development	Portnorphing picks strategy Research ?
	Industry (OEMs and	Department of Science and Technology developed a platform Science India Forum (SIF) to	develop (niche) strategy,
	research institutes)	promote collaboration among academic institutes	Integrated network strategy
		Log 9 materials (a high tech company) came up with a new battery technology that can help	Research & develop (niche)
	Industry (OEMs)	charge EV batteries at a much faster rate than an average battery	strategy
		and companies have the ability to ensure such guarantees	Result oriented contracting strategy
		Consumers awareness regarding (solar) EVs is happening at a faster rate and at all levels of the	Marketing strategy, Word of mouth
	Customers (end users)	sector including rural areas	strategy, Promotion/awareness campaign
	and customers	regarding (solar) EVs	strategy
		Automakers in industry (who produce both EVs and ICEVs) are advertising their (solar) EV	Marketing strategy, Result-oriented
	industry (OEMs)	products over ICEVs, by promising good performance and other related benefits	contracting strategy
		Consumers prefer investment in a (solar) EV compared to ICEVs after realizing performance	Formulate requirements strategy,
	Customers (end users)	related benefits of EVs	Promotion/awareness campaign strategy
	Industry	Having a brand ambassador (champions) such movie stars, sports stars, influencers, etc to advertise and promote new (solar) EVs	Marketing strategy
		Non Profit Organizations are lobbying for high-tech companies to bring in effective and helpful	
	Industry (NGOs, IDOs)	policies	LODDying strategy

Table 7.2: Key findings from interviews with experts C and D and their relevance with strategies from literature

7 Expert Interviews

Interviewee	Stakeholders involved	Information gathered on a particular strategy during open discussion	Strategy applicable
		Making Solar EVs future proof by incorporating additional features such as autonomous driving, advanced digital systems and connectivity with other vehicles will make them an attractive choice to end users	Cross-selling strategy
		Targeting pre-orders or consumer reservation before the release of the vehicle by making it future proof will attract potential investors	Marketing strategy, Promotion/awareness campaign strategy
	Industry (OEMs)	Use case must stand out from conventional vehicles and traditional EVs. Companies should focus on selling the vehicles to service and delivery fleet operators	Blue ocean strategy, Explore multiple markets strategy, Collaborative product utilization strategy
	Industry (OEMs), Customers (end users)	Solar EVs could be used as backup generators, and a technology with complements the electricity grid, instead of relying on the grid for power. In addition to that it can generate income, by selling additional power (if applicable)	Result oriented contracting strategy
Expert E	Industry, government	Setting up a manufacturing plant in India (if it is a foreign company) would entitle the company to receive government support for the production of SEVs	Geographical niche strategy, Lobbying strategy, Finance sourcing strategy
	Industry (OEMs and research institutes)	Industry and academia have an opportunity to come together and form a unified body to share knowledge and development, and complement each other to develop SEVs together	Partnerships niche strategy, Integrated network strategy, Research and development (niche) strategy
		Industry wide collaborations could be enhanced through Society of Automotive Manufacturers (SIAM) to set up a benchmark and regulations for companies working towards the development of SEVs	Partnerships niche strategy
	Industry (OEMs)	Utilize existing 'Vaahan' portal to be aware of the recent developments and establishments with SEVs	Promotion/awareness campaign strategy
	In order to reach the end users, companies building SEVs have to tap into the consumer passion and Re emotional attachment to the vehicle, and satisfy those needs F6		Marketing strategy, Result oriented contracting strategy, Formulate requirements strategy
	Industry, customers (end users) Creating a spark and establishing a trend for SEVs through community participation and spreading awareness will create curiosity among general public		Influential community member strategy, Word of mouth strategy
	Industry (OEMs), customers (end users)	Targeting a particular class of end users (use case: short commute within the city), and building a car that is flexible to navigate through the city traffic	Explore multiple markets strategy
		Creating a new category (small and compact) of electric vehicle with additional solar roof. This allows the vehicle and company to be flexible, and not just a solar-only vehicle, attracting both EV and SEV enthusiasts	Blue ocean strategy, Explore multiple markets strategy, Cross-selling strategy
	Industry	Making the SEV small makes it efficient in terms of energy usage (20 km/kWh)	Redesign niche strategy
		view to (potential) end users, without relying on government incentives and subsidies	Redesign niche strategy
		Tier 2 and tier 3 cities, along with major cities are also being targeted to attract a wide range of potential end users	Geographical niche strategy, Stepping stone strategy
Expert F		Ample focus on serving the needs of the customers, and their requirements must be carefully evaluated with that of what is feasible, from the point of view of the design of the vehicle. At the same time, it is crucial that those requirements align with the vehicles standards and regulations	Formulate requirements strategy
of Vayve Mobility)	Industry (OEMs), customers (end users)	Incorporating hybrid mode of marketing/promoting the vehicle both by offering a virtual experience online and physical test drives through experience centres in various markets.	Marketing strategy, Promotion/awareness campaign strategy
	Industry (OEMs and research institutes)	Best way for the industry and academia to collaborate is to conduct the research and demonstration projects jointly	Research and development niche strategy, Partnerships niche strategy
		Utilizing the existing supply chains that are already mature and certified helps the company in building their product	Integrated network strategy
	Industry	Optimizing the human resources (workforce reduction) is a strategy that companies (such as Lightyear, and Aptera Motors) use to direct the (financial) resources towards the right areas, and the departments where it is needed	Human resource management strategy
	Industry (OEMs), customers (end users)	Vayve Mobility is planning to introduce another model of the car (taxi), in the future, which potentially could bean opportunity for ride-sharing and ride-hailing companies to incorporate SEVs	Blue ocean strategy, Explore multiple markets strategy, Product variants strategy

Table 7.3: Key findings from interviews with experts E and F and their relevance with strategies from literature

7.3 Interviews - Phase 4

Experts G & H (2023), also highlighted some of the barriers that could potentially influence the market diffusion of SEVs in India. The key findings on the barriers are provided in table 7.4. During phase 4, Expert G was interviewed in two separate interviews. During the first interview, the barriers from the perspective of Expert G (2023) were discussed.

Table 7.4: Key findings from interviews with experts G and H and their relevance with barriers from literature

	1		Interview has a discussed in a divide bandana for a
Interviewee	Actors affected	open discussion	literature
Interviewee		Due to the price constitue nature of the Indian market, the capital costs for the companies, and	Cost of purchase and ourporchip
Expert G		the unfront cost for the end users in this industry are relatively higher	Production factors/Economies of Scale
		Limited EV models are available, and no SEVs are commercial varianting	Supply and choice of vehicles/lack of competition,
	Industry (OEMs), Customers (end users)	OEMs are reluctant to produce more vehicles, as there is a limited demand for (S)EVs	Demand factors, Supply and choice of vehicles/lack of competition
		In the use case of long drives it will be inconvenient to go long distances without stopping multiple times for charging with the existing models in the market	Lack of infrastructure (charging stations), Range anxiety/driving range Long recharge duration
	Government, Industry, Customers (end users)	If EVs are towards the end of their life there are no regulations on sustainably scrapping the vehicle or even in the resale market	Low resale value (value depreciation), Reliability (wear and tear of components such as batteries)
	Industry (financial institutes), Customers (end users)	Due to lack of enough (S)EVs banks are reluctant to provide loans when compared to traditional vehicles	Lack of network externalities
		Solar engineering team needs significantly more (financial) resources when compared to the teams developing other parts of the vehicle, as the other parts such as batteries are significantly advanced in innovation when compared to the curved solar panels incorporated in SEVs.	Constantly evolving markets
Expert H		Although there are developments in the solar technology suitable for SEVs, manufacturing them at a large scale for lower costs is another challenge	Production factors/Economies of scale
		(Curved) solar panel suppliers specific to SEVs are very limited compared to suppliers for parts such as	Production factors/Economies of scale,
		batteries	Lack of access to distribution channels/networks
		SEVs are not yet competitive as there are limited no of companies that are working on this technology,	
	Industry (OEMs)	and hardly any companies are commercial till date	Supply and choice of vehicles/lack of competition

Additionally, the validation of the linkage between the barriers and strategies was received by asking the experts to highlight the strategies which they think are important in circumventing the barriers. All the barriers were linked with the corresponding strategies. Expert H (2023), highlighted certain strategies identified in this thesis to be the most important ones, as they address the majority of the underlying conditions behind the identified barriers.

According to Expert H (2023), from the perspective of a startup/high-tech company, (external) investment in resources is the most crucial strategy among all the discussed strategies. The development of the first SEV product, launching it in the market, and surviving in the market require a significant amount of financial resources. Therefore, sourcing the necessary financial resources ('Finance sourcing strategy') is required for all the activities carried out within the industry. Similarly, the financial burden on the end users can also be reduced by implementing subsidies and incentives ('Economic/financial incentives strategy') on SEV technology. From the interview with Expert H (2023), it could be inferred that the strategies pertaining to the financial aspects, discussed in this thesis, can be combined. For example, 'Finance sourcing strategy', 'Investment strategy', and 'Economic/financial incentives strategy'. Although these strategies primarily focus on the financial aspects (and solving the financial problems) of the technology, the stakeholders who are able to implement these strategies are different. Therefore, the stakeholders who are involved in implementing the strategy, and also those who benefit from implementing the strategy are highlighted in the table 8.5.

According to Expert H (2023), 'Research and Development (niche) strategy' is equally important but strategies associated with the financial aspects take precedence because sufficient financial resources are essential for activities such as investment in R&D, building the first prototype or the market ready product, reducing the upfront cost of the vehicle by providing incentives. Therefore, the 'Research and Development (niche) strategy' is also considered an important strategy, and given the second priority (ranking). Similarly, 'Partnerships niche strategy', 'Marketing strategy', 'Advertising strategy', and 'Geographical niche strategy' are also discussed. The justification for their importance and their ranking is provided in the table 7.5.

7 Expert Interviews

Important strategies according to expert's opinion	Ranking based on their importance	Justification
Finance sourcing strategy Economic/financial incentives strategy Investment strategy	1	These strategies emphasize on the financial aspects of the TIS of SEVs, and by implementing these strategies the barriers that arise due to financial problems can be circumvented
Research and development (niche) strategy	2	In order to come up with an SEV, research and development is crucial in having a prototype/functional product (SEV). R&D is crucial in bringing the technology from the concept phase to the design phase, and ultimately in to the market
Partnerships niche strategy	3	For startups/high-tech companies, it is crucial to engage with large companies and other stakeholders to take the product (SEV) to the market. This can be done by utilizing the resources and the expertise of the partner company, thereby mitigating the risks and facilitating the market reach
Marketing strategy Word of mouth strategy Promotion/awareness campaign strategy Geographical niche strategy Continuous user engagement strategy	4	These strategies emphasize on the promotional activities that are needed to educate the market and attract attention among the stakeholders, especially the end users involved to bring the product to the market
Product variants strategy	5	Variation in the products are needed in order to attract potential customers. And, this is linked with Research and development strategy because, without the first functioning product, the variations in products are not possible.

Table 7.5: Justification of the importance of the strategies discussed in the interview with Expert G & H (2023)

In the second interview with Expert G (2023), the key finding was that, in order for SEVs to be successful in the market, there should be some affordable finance schemes. This can be in the form of incentives that government provides, or bank loans provided specifically for purchasing SEVs. Moreover, this corroborates what was discussed during the interview with Expert H, especially when it comes to the financial aspect. Therefore, from both these interviews, it has been inferred that the most important socio-technical conditions affecting the large-scale diffusion of SEVs in India are associated with the financial aspects. Financial aspects can be in the form of barriers and/or strategies. High 'cost of purchase and ownership', and lack of funds for scaling up the production ('economies of scale') are considered one of the main barriers because of this aspect. However, on the other hand, offering the product at a cheaper price by providing 'Economic/financial incentives' or providing bank loans for the purchase of the SEVs is considered one of the important strategies. According to Expert G (2023), such options can be classified as 'affordable financing'.

It was evident from the interviews that the majority of the barriers associated with SEV technology can be circumvented by the strategies discussed in table 7.5. Firstly, all the possible strategies that can circumvent a barrier are listed in the table 8.5 against that particular barrier. Secondly, the most important strategy (that can circumvent a particular barrier) can be selected from the table 7.5 based on all the possible strategies that can circumvent that particular barrier in the order of ranking provided.

7.4 Chapter summary

This section reiterates the findings from expert interviews, and the most important findings from all the interviews are highlighted.

Firstly, two interviews (Expert A, Expert B) were conducted with the primary focus on identifying and validating the barriers that hinder, and opportunities that facilitate the large-scale diffusion of SEVs. In phase 3, four interviews (Expert C, Expert D, Expert E, and Expert F) were conducted to validate the theoretical strategies identified in this thesis. Finally, Expert G and Expert H were interviewed to gather opinions on the most important strategies that can be applied out of the 34 strategies identified. Based on the opinions of experts G and H, the links between strategies and barriers were formed and validated.

Although, only two interviews were specifically focused on validating the barriers (presented in the section 8.1, all the experts were asked for their opinions on what they think the biggest barrier to SEV technology is, as the first question during the interviews. As a result, it was found that 6 out of 8 experts confirmed (during the open discussion part of the interview) that the upfront cost of the vehicles ('cost of purchase and ownership') in India is the biggest and an immediate threat to SEVs, due to the price-sensitive nature of the Indian market. In addition to that, some of the other barriers such as the 'lack of (technical) knowledge and awareness', 'lack of competition', and 'lack of collaboration among stakeholders' have been identified to pose a high threat to the market diffusion of SEVs. In order to overcome those barriers, some of the strategies emphasized particularly by the experts are 'Economic/financial incentives strategy', 'Partnerships niche strategy', 'Promotion and awareness campaign strategy', 'Geographical niche strategies eliminating or circumventing the barriers associated with the financial aspects are considered the most important by the experts.

In this chapter, the results obtained from each phase of this thesis are outlined. These results are obtained by extending the original TIS framework considering the application of solar electric vehicle technology with a geographical focus on India as depicted in the figure 8.1.



Figure 8.1: Extension of original TIS framework to SEVs in India

8.1 Results from phase 2

This section outlines the results obtained from phase 2 of this thesis. Firstly, the results obtained from the analysis of the barriers from the literature are highlighted. Then, the validation received from the experts on these barriers is discussed. Ultimately, the outcome from the results obtained from phase 2 is the status of TIS building blocks for SEVs in India.

Results from analysis of the barriers from literature

In order to understand the status of each of the TIS building blocks, and the influence of the identified barriers on the status of each of the building blocks, the cause or reason behind the barrier has been explored, and linked to the relevant influencing conditions. This is done by carefully analyzing all the identified barriers, influencing conditions, and the TIS building blocks.

The process of linking the influencing conditions with the barriers involved an analysis where each identified barrier was correlated with the most relevant influencing condition from the TIS framework. This correlation was established by identifying the relationships between the barriers and the underlying conditions. Schulz (2019) presented multiple combinations of links between the influencing conditions, and the TIS building blocks, represented by the four different illustrations (examples) in the figure 8.2. In the figure, only 4 influencing conditions (out of seven), and four TIS building blocks (out of 7) were shown to explain the process of linking them with each other, in a simplified manner. Each of these example illustrations presents a different set of links, resulting in the main barrier. These scenarios are explained with a few examples from the table 8.1 to show the relevant links. It was also identified that, although different sets of links are possible, it is not necessary that all seven influencing factors can be the underlying cause behind a main barrier, and have an influence on a particular building block (Schulz, 2019). And, there are certain links that are not relevant (with no direct influence on the barriers), as a result, such links have no influence on TIS building blocks (Ortt et al., 2013). Therefore, such links with no direct influence on the barriers are not investigated further.



Figure 8.2: Link between TIS building blocks and underlying influencing conditions of the main barrier adapted from Schulz (2019)

- Example 1: In example 1, it is possible that only one influencing condition is found to be the cause behind a barrier, and possibly influencing only one TIS building block. For instance, the barrier 'lack of collaboration among stakeholders' exists because of the influencing condition 'socio-cultural aspects', ultimately affecting the TIS building block 'network formation and coordination'.
- Example 2: In example 2, it is possible that different barriers are caused by different influencing conditions, ultimately affecting the same TIS building block. For instance, the main barriers 'lack of awareness among customers' and 'cultural and psychological factors', are caused by different influencing conditions 'knowledge and awareness of technology' and 'socio-cultural aspects' respectively, ultimately affecting the same TIS building block 'customers'.

- Example 3: In example 3, it is possible that the main barrier is influenced by only one influencing condition, but ultimately affects two different TIS building blocks. For instance, the main barrier 'cost of purchase and ownership' is primarily caused by the influencing condition 'natural, human and financial resources', ultimately affecting both 'product price' and 'customer' building blocks.
- Example 4: In example 4, several combinations of links are possible. For instance, two TIS building blocks are influenced by the same influencing conditions which ultimately causes the main barrier. As can be seen from the barrier 'Government policy and regulatory framework', 'Macroeconomic and strategic aspects' are the underlying influencing condition that affects both the TIS building blocks of 'Innovation-specific institutions' and 'Product price'.

All the possible (direct) links can be categorized into at least one of the example illustrations provided above. The same approach and logical reasoning were used in framing all the (direct) links discussed in the table 8.1.

Table 8.1: Barriers, underlying influencing conditions, and the affected TIS building blocks

Barriers identified	Associated influencing condition(s)	Affected TIS Building block(s)
	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Product performance and quality Production system Customers
Lack of (technical) knowledge	 Knowledge and awareness of application and market Natural, human and financial resources 	 Network formation and coordination Innovation-specific institutions
Lack of awareness	 Knowledge and awareness of technology Socio cultural aspects 	• Customers
Supply and choice of vehicles/lack of competition	Competition	 Product price Customers Network formation and coordination
Safety (due to the nature of batteries)	Knowledge and awareness of technology Socio-cultural aspects Natural, human and financial resources	Product performance and quality
Environmentarimpact		
Reliability (depletion, wear and tear of the components such as batteries)	Knowledge and awareness of technology Socio-cultural aspects Knowledge and awareness of application and market	 Product performance and quality Production system
Maturity of technology	Knowledge and awareness of technology Competition Macro-economic and strategic aspects	 Product performance and quality Production system Product price
Cost of purchase and ownership	 Knowledge and awareness of technology Natural, human and financial resources Knowledge and awareness of application and market Macro-economic and strategic aspects 	Product price Customers
Limited infrastructure (Charging stations)	Macro-economic and strategic aspects Natural, human and financial resources	Complementary products and services
Range anxiety/driving range	Knowledge and awareness of technology Knowledge and awareness of application and market Socio-cultural aspects	 Product performance and quality Customers
Long recharge duration	 Knowledge and awareness of technology Natural, human and financial resources Knowledge and awareness of application and market 	Product performance and quality Customers
Soul and character of the vehicle (Sound)	Competition Socio cultural aspects Knowledge and awareness of technology	Customers Product performance and quality
Availability of repair/service and maintenance	Natural, human and financial resources Knowledge and awareness of application and market	Complementary products and services
Cultural and psychological factors	Knowledge and awareness of technology Socio cultural aspects	• Customers
Lack of product satisfaction	Competition Socio cultural aspects Natural, human and financial resources	Customers Product performance and quality
Performance	 Knowledge and awareness of application and market Natural, human and financial resources 	 Product performance and quality Product price Customers
Government policy and regulatory framework	Macro-economic and strategic aspects	 Innovation-specific institutions Product price
Demand factors	Natural, human and financial resources Socio cultural aspects Knowledge and awareness of technology Accidents and events	Production system Product price Customers
Production factors/Economies of Scale	 Macro-economic and strategic aspects Natural, human and financial resources Knowledge and awareness of technology Knowledge and awareness of application and market 	 Production system Product price Network formation and coordination
Lack of access to distribution channels/networks	 Macro-economic and strategic aspects Competition 	Network formation and coordination
Lack of network externalities	Socio cultural aspects Knowledge and awareness of technology Accidents and events	Product price Customers
Constantly evolving markets	Competition Knowledge and awareness of technology Macro-economic and strategic aspects Natural, human and financial resources	Product performance and quality Innovation-specific institutions
Low resale value (value depreciation)	Competition	Product performance and quality Customers
Lack of collaboration among stakeholders	Socio cultural aspects Competition	• Network formation and coordination

Ultimately, all links obtained from the analysis were assessed, and once all the relevant links were formed, potential strategies circumventing the barriers are proposed in the section 8.3.

Results from interviews in phase 2

It is interesting to highlight that perspectives from both interviews conducted during phase 2 are different. Expert A is associated with research (academia), while Expert B is involved in policy-making (government) with a focus on electric mobility. It can be observed from the table 8.2 that validation received on the identified (list of) barriers, i.e., the ranking of a barrier from high to low, and the results from both interviews align for the most part. However, a clear distinction can be observed in the validation received for the barriers such as lack of infrastructure, government policy and regulatory framework, constantly evolving markets, and the collaboration among stakeholders. Since the perspectives of both interviewees are different, the barriers highlighted above have been validated from different perspectives.

		Expert A		Expert B	
		Information		Information	
		gathered on	Level of	gathered on	Level of
		particular barrier	threat to	particular barrier	threat to
		during	large-scale	during	large-scale
No.	Barriers	open discussion	diffusion	open discussion	diffusion
1	Lack of technical (knowledge)	✓	High		Medium
2	Lack of awareness		High		High
	Supply and choice of vehicles/lack of				
3	competition	✓	High	✓	High
4	Safety (due to the nature of batteries)		High		Medium
5	Environmental impact		Low		Low
	Reliability (depletion, wear and tear of the				
6	components such as batteries)		High		High
7	Maturity of technology	✓	High		High
8	Cost of purchase and ownership	✓	High	✓	High
9	Limited infrastructure (Charging stations)	✓	High	✓	Low
10	Range anxiety/driving range		Medium	✓	High
11	Long recharge duration		High	✓	Medium
	Soul and character of the vehicle				
12	(Sound)		Low		Low
13	Availability of repair/service and maintenance		Medium		Low
14	Cultural and psychological factors		Low		Medium
15	Lack of product satisfaction (fun)		Low		Low
16	Performance		Medium		Low
	Government policy and				
17	regulatory framework	✓	High	✓	Low
18	Demand factors	✓	High	✓	High
	Production factors/Economies of				
19	Scale	✓	High	✓	High
	Lack of access to distribution				
20	channels/networks		Medium		Medium
21	Lack of network externalities		High	✓	High
22	Constantly evolving markets		Low	✓	High
23	Low resale value (value depreciation)		Medium		Low
24	Lack of collaboration among stakeholders	✓	High	✓	Low

Table 8.2: Validation received from experts A and B on the barriers

For instance, expert B (2023) highlighted the fact that the majority of EV charging is taking place, overnight in residential charging stations (EV charging points at home). Hence the consumers do not find the lack of infrastructure to be as challenging, compared to the high initial cost of the vehicle. This scenario also depends upon the use case, and the region in question. Expert B (2023) gave an example of consumers traveling within a city (New Delhi), with daily travel requirements being under 50 km. Hence it is labeled as a low-level barrier. However, expert A (2023) claims that the availability of infrastructure (charging stations) is concentrated in the cities (urban areas) and the states with favorable policies. Expert A (2023) perceived this as a high-level barrier, from the point of view of India (as a whole), including the population living in rural areas where the availability of infrastructure is a challenge. According to Dwisatyawati (2022), the lack of sufficient charging infrastructure can be considered as the enabler for SEV technology, as the reliance of SEVs on the charging infrastructure is less compared to traditional EVs. The author of the present work agrees

that SEVs indeed require fewer charging sessions, thereby reducing the reliance on charging infrastructure. Considering the scope geographical scope of this thesis (urban setting), the barrier of 'Limited infrastructure (charging stations)' is considered to be low.

Both, Expert A (2023), and Expert B (2023), emphasized that the cost of purchasing an electric vehicle is higher compared to the other options available in the market. It was also emphasized that the high costs are mainly due to the lack of competition and collaboration among responsible stakeholders, resulting in limited models of EVs in the market.

Based on the current status of (S)EV technology in India, the barriers identified from the literature review are also classified based on the level (or magnitude) of their threat to large-scale diffusion.

Categorizing the barriers on their level of threat to the technology diffusion

They are classified into high, medium, and low levels of influence they have on large-scale diffusion, from the perspective of multiple stakeholders such as the government (policy makers), companies (industry), and customers. High-level barriers (highlighted in red color) pose a major problem and are an immediate threat to the large-scale diffusion of SEVs in the market, from the perspective of all the stakeholders involved. The barriers are labeled as Low-level barriers (highlighted in green color) if they are a threat to none or only a small proportion of the stakeholders. Medium-level barriers (highlighted in orange color) are still a threat to some proportion of the stakeholders but not all.

Status of TIS building blocks based on the barriers identified

According to Ortt & Kamp (2022), the building blocks are required to be complete and compatible in order for large-scale diffusion to be possible. If the building blocks are not complete or absent, it poses a challenge for innovation. Therefore, the completeness or the status of TIS building blocks is determined by associating the identified barriers with the building blocks. The link between the barriers and the building blocks is explained in section 8.1. If all (or multiple) of the barriers associated with a particular building block are identified as high-level barriers, then the function is incomplete. On the other hand, if the majority of the barriers associated with a particular building block are low-level barriers, then the function is complete or full. A building block is partially complete if not all the barriers influencing that particular function are high-level barriers (so, multiple medium and low-level barriers). Ultimately from this analysis, the influence of a barrier on a particular building block will be determined.

Through this analysis, it was observed that out of seven TIS building blocks, two are incomplete, four are partially complete, and only one is complete. The confirmation received from 6 out of 8 experts as discussed in the section 7.4 on the most important barrier ('Cost of purchase and ownership', corroborates the result obtained on the status of the building block, 'Product price', as can be observed from the table 8.3.

TIS building blocks	Identified barriers that influence a particular building block	Status of TIS building block	Perspectives/ Stakeholders
	Performance		
	Safety		
	Maturity of technology		
	Reliability		
	Lack of product satisfaction		
	Constantly evolving markets		
	Lack of (technical) knowledge		Customora
	Low resale value		Industry and
Product performance and quality	Environmental impact	Partially complete	Government
	Economies of scale/Production factors		
	Demand factors		
	Performance/Lack of competition		
	Maturity of technology		
	Lack of network externalities		Customers
	Lack of (technical) knowledge		Industry, and
Product price	Cost of purchase and ownership	Incomplete	Government
	Production factors/Economies of scale		
	Demand factors		
	Lack of knowledge and awareness		Industry.
Production system	Maturity of technology	Incomplete	Government
	Availability of repair/service and maintenance		Customers,
Complementary products and services	Infrastructure (charging stations)	Complete	Industry
	Production factors/Economies of scale		
	Lack of (technical) knowledge		
	Lack of competition (supply and choice of vehicles)		
	Lack of access to distribution channels		
Network formation and coordination	Lack of collaboration among stakeholders	Partially complete	Industry
	Cost of purchase and ownership		
	Low resale value (value depreciation)		
	Reliability and Safety		
	Performance/lack of competition		
	Range anxiety/driving range,		
	Long recharge duration,		
	Limited infrastructure (charging stations)		
	Soul and character of vehicle (sound)/		
	Cultural and psychological factors		
	Lack of knowledge and awareness		
Customers	Lack of network externalities	Partially complete	Customers
	Government policy and regulatory		
	framework		
	Lack of (technical) knowledge		
	Collaboration among stakeholders		Industry.
Innovation-specific institutions	Constantly evolving markets	Partially complete	government

Table 8.3: Status of TIS building blocks for SEVs in India

8.2 Results from phase 3

The validation received from the expert interviews is primarily based on the feasibility of the implementation of the strategies identified. These strategies are ranked from high to low based on the feasibility of implementing a particular strategy (to circumvent barriers) to diffuse SEVs at a large scale in India.

Categorizing the strategies on the feasibility of implementation

In order to have a clear understanding of the status of each of the strategies, the interviewees were asked to rank the strategies from high to low. A high (indicated in fill color green in the table) ranking indicates that the feasibility of applying that particular strategy (from the perspective of the expert) in India is potentially high (or good). Similarly, a low (indicated in the fill color red in the table) ranking denotes the potential feasibility in India is low (or limited).

After validating the results from expert interviewees C and D, it was determined that the timeline of the application of strategies is crucial. For example, the Indian EV market was already liberalized, therefore the "Liberalizing the market strategy" is already in place and it has proven to be a highly effective strategy. On the other hand, a few strategies such as the "buy-one give-one strategy" or "stepping stone strategy" were relatively new and their applicability in the initial stage of their implementation is potentially low. Finally, according to Expert D (2023), strategies such as "Hybridization or Adaptor niche strategy" were already tested while introducing technologies such as hybrid electric vehicles in India and were proven to be the least effective among the identified strategies. It was inferred from the interview that the Indian government is not supporting the use of hybrid electric vehicles because battery-electric vehicles were given the preference. Hence 'Hybridization or Adaptor niche strategy' is given a low ranking.

After interviewing Expert F (perspective of Vayve Mobility), it was identified that by offering the product at a cheaper price of about \$6000, they (Vayve Mobility) eliminated the need to implement multiple different strategies in order to diffuse their product in the market. By doing so, multiple barriers were circumvented at once, thereby, proving the feasibility of those strategies (from the perspective of the company) to be low. Especially, the barrier ('cost of purchase and ownership') that has been identified to be the biggest threat to SEVs can be circumvented by introducing the product at a cheaper price.

The final results obtained from the validation of the identified strategies are presented in table 8.4

		Expert C		Expert	D	Expert F	
		Information gathered on particular strategy during	Validation on the	Information gathered on particular strategy during	Validation on the	Information gathered on particular strategy during	Validation on the
No.	Main strategies	open discussion	feasibility	open discussion	feasibility	open discussion	feasibility
1	Liberalizing the market strategy		High		High		Medium
2	Guaranteed markets strategy		Medium		High		Medium
3	Economic/infancial incentives strategy	~	⊢ign	×	⊢ign		High
4	Investment strategy		⊢ign	×	nign Maalium	- 1	High
5	Currentive demonstration and east reduction	v	підп	×	Medium	v	High
6	strategy		High		Medium		Medium
7	Initiate (technical) training strategy		Medium		High		High
	Research & development (niche)						
8	strategy	✓	High	✓	High	✓	High
a	Human resource management	1	High		High	1	Medium
10	Education niche strategy		High		High		Medium
11	Lead-user niche strategy		High		High		Low
12	Finance sourcing strategy		High		High		High
13	Subsidized niche strategy	✓	Medium	✓	High		Low
14	Redesign niche strategy		Low		Low	√	Low
	De disete de content en						
15	Dedicated system or Stand-alone niche strategy		Low		Low		Low
15		Ŷ	LOW		LOW		LOW
16	hybridization or Adaptor		Low		Low		Low
17	Lobbying strategy (Advocacy strategy)		High	1	High		Low
	Colleborative product utilization		. ngri				LOW
18	strategy		High		High		Low
	Buy-one, give one niche		- ingit		g.i		LOW
19	strategy		Low		Low		Low
20	Geographical niche strategy	✓	Medium	✓	High	✓	High
21	Top-end niche strategy		Medium		Medium		Low
22	Partnerships niche strategy	✓	High	✓	High	✓	Medium
23	Integrated network strategy	✓	High	✓	Medium	✓	Medium
24	Marketing strategy		Medium	✓	High	✓	High
25	Stepping stone strategy		Low		Medium	✓	High
26	Product variants strategy	✓	High	✓	High	✓	High
27	Cross-selling strategy		Low		Depends on value addition (High or low)	¥	Low
	Result-oriented contracting						
28	strategy	✓	Medium	✓	Medium		Low
29	Blue ocean strategy		Medium		Medium	✓	High
30	Explore multiple markets strategy		High		Medium	✓	Medium
31	Formulate requirements strategy		Low	✓	Low	✓	High
32	Influential community member strategy	✓	Medium		Medium		High
33	Word of mouth strategy	✓	High	×	High		High
34	Continuous user engagement strategy	✓	High		High		High

Table 8.4: Validation received from experts C and D and F on the strategies

8.3 Results from phase 4

A guideline was followed to link the barriers with suitable strategies. This guideline was prepared based on the insights gained from the Best Strategy Framework. According to Dwisatyawati (2022), a strategy could potentially circumvent multiple different main barriers. On the other hand, a particular main barrier could be circumvented by many different

strategies. As a result, multiple combinations of links between barriers and strategies are possible. Therefore, the author of the present work identified the linkages based on the links identified by Dwisatyawati (2022), i.e., by mapping relevant strategies with every underlying cause (influencing condition) behind a barrier, as explained in the figure 8.3.

Dwisatyawati (2022) argued that expert interviews can be conducted to assign ranking (points) to the barriers and strategies to validate the links. Expert validation improves the credibility of the links that were formed based on the analysis of the links identified from the literature. Agreeing with Dwisatyawti (2022), in this thesis, experts were asked to rank the strategies that have the potential to circumvent a maximum number of barriers. The higher the number of barriers they have the potential to circumvent, the better rank is assigned to those strategies. As shown in table 7.5, these strategies are ranked based on expert opinion.

Although the scoring model proposed by Dwisatyawati (2022) can be followed to decide the best strategy, it can only be followed to assign the best strategy from the perspective of a company (industry). Therefore, the scoring model has been extended to this thesis research to identify the best strategy per perspective, also referred to as the 'important strategy' in this thesis. This is extended to the perspectives of the present work by mapping the important strategies ranked by the experts to the perspectives of the strategies classified in the chapter 6. These perspectives/stakeholders involved are incorporated into the table 8.5.



Figure 8.3: Guideline on multiple sets of links between the underlying influencing conditions of a main barrier and the suitable strategies

Firstly, all the relevant strategies (per barrier) are linked based on the guidelines presented in figure 8.3. Secondly, from the multiple strategy links present per barrier, the important strategy decision is made by identifying those strategies that are ranked the highest by experts.

Example: As can be observed from the table 8.5, the barrier 'Demand factors', can be circumvented using 11 different strategies, based on 4 different underlying influencing conditions.

And, these underlying influencing conditions can be addressed by different stakeholders from different perspectives. This barrier (Demand factors) can be circumvented from the perspective of the government by providing (tax) incentives to attract potential customers (*Economic/financial incentives strategy*). From the perspective of the industry, it can be circumvented by relocating or establishing the company at a location where the demand for the technology is higher (*Geographical niche strategy*). Also, from the perspective of the end users, it can be circumvented by actively engaging throughout the development process of the technology (*Continuous user engagement strategy*). Based on the insights gained from Experts G and H, it could be inferred that, although multiple strategies are possible to circumvent the barrier 'Demand factors', 'Economic/financial incentives strategy', is the most important strategy. This is determined by the ranking provided in the table 7.5.

If there is more than one strategy present that is ranked by the expert in the available links per barrier, the important strategy decision is made by identifying the strategy that could benefit a maximum number of stakeholders, upon its implementation. As shown in table 8.5, the barrier 'limited infrastructure' can be circumvented by two different strategies, 'Economic/financial incentives strategy' and 'Investment strategy' (both given the rank 1) that have been identified to be important according to experts. In order to make the important strategy decision for the barrier 'limited infrastructure', it has been identified that when the government implements an 'Economic/financial incentives strategy' all the stakeholders involved including the industry and customers can directly benefit from this strategy. However, when an 'Investment strategy' is implemented, only the companies involved in improving the infrastructure are directly benefited. Therefore, the 'Economic/financial incentives strategy' has been chosen. A similar approach and logical reasoning were used to form all the remaining links shown in the table 8.5. This table shows that although each barrier can be circumvented by implementing multiple different strategies, there is one important strategy that can be chosen, based on the ranking provided by the experts and the justification provided above.

Table 8.5:	Linkages	between	barriers	and	strategies,	along	with	$_{\rm the}$	perspectives/	stakeholders
involved	l									

Parriara identified	Influencing condition/o)	Nieke strategies that are applicable	Important strategy decision	Perspective/stake
Barriers identified	initiaencing condition(s)	Initiate (technical) training strategy,	important strategy decision	noiders involved
	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Research and development (niche) strategy Initiate (technical) training strategy,	-	
	Knowledge and awareness of application and market	Supportive demonstration and cost reduction strategy	-	
Lack of (technical) knowledge	Natural, human and financial resources	Research and development (niche) strategy, Finance sourcing strategy Human resource management strategy	Finance sourcing strategy	Government, Industry (companies)
	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Promotion/awareness campaign strategy, Marketing strategy		Government,
Lack of awareness	Socio-cultural aspects	Influential community member strategy	Promotion/awareness campaign strategy	Industry and Customers
		Liberalizing the market strategy,		
Supply and choice of vehicles/lack of competition	competition	Guaranteed markets strategy, Product variants strategy	Product variants strategy	Industry (OEMS)
competition	competition	riouuci vananis sirategy	r loudot variants strategy	Industry (OEIVIS)
	Socio-economic factors	Continuous user engagement strategy	4	
	Natural, human and financial resources	Initiate (technical) training strategy, Education niche strategy	Research and development	Industry (OEMS)
Safety (due to the nature of batteries)	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Research and development (niche) strategy	(niche) strategy	Customers
Environmental impact		Result oriented contracting strategy		
		Promotion/awareness campaign strategy,		
	Socio-cultural aspects	Education niche strategy	-	
Reliability (depletion, wear and tear of	Knowledge and awareness of application and market	Inclesign filore strategy	Research and development	Industry (OEMS),
the components such as batteries)	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Research and development (niche) strategy	(niche) strategy	Customers
	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Top end niche strategy	-	
	Macro-economic and strategic aspects	Lobbying strategy		
Maturity of technology	competition	Research and development (niche) strategy, Investment strategy	Investment strategy	Government, Industry
	Macro-economic and strategic aspects	Lobbying strategy		
	Knowledge and awareness of application and market	Subsidized niche strategy		
		Supportive demonstration and cost-reduction strategy,		
	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Hybridization niche strategy	-	Covernment
Cost of purchase and ownership	Natural, human and financial resources	Promotion and awareness campaign strategy, Economic/financial incentives strategy	Economic/financial incentives	Industry and Customers
		Investment strategy	onatogy	outonoro
		Subsidized niche strategy,		
	Natural, human and financial resources	Collaborative product utilization strategy		
		Economic/financial incentives strategy,	1	
Lindhad information (Observices		Initiate (technical) training strategy,	The second state of the se	Government,
stations)	Macro-economic and strategic aspects	Education niche strategy	strategy	Customers
		Marketing strategy,		
	Knowledge and awareness of application and market	Word of mouth strategy	-	
	Socio-cultural aspects	Supportive demonstration and cost reduction strategy	-	Industry and
Range anxiety/driving range	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Formulate requirements strategy	Marketing strategy	Customers
	Knowledge and awareness of application and market	Research and development (niche) strategy		
	Natural, human and financial resources	Result-oriented contracting strategy, Marketing strategy		
		Investment strategy		
		Geographical niche strategy,	Research and development	Industry and
Long recharge duration	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Human resource management strategy	(niche) strategy	Customers
	Competition	Research and development (niche) strategy	-	
Soul and character of the unbio	Socio-cultural aspects	Product variants strategy, Partnerships niche strategy	Research and development	Industry and
(Sound)	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Word of mouth strategy	(niche) strategy	Customers
	Knowledge and awareness of application and	Research and development (niche) strategy, Word of mouth strategy		
	Knowledge and awareness of application and market	word of mouth strategy	-	
Availability of repair/service and maintenance	Natural human and financial resources	Integrated network strategy, Initiate (technical) training strategy	Research and development (niche) strategy	Industry and Customers
			(******) ***********************	
		Human resource management strategy,		
	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Initiate (technical) training strategy	-	Government,
Cultural and psychological factors	Socio-cultural aspects	Education niche strategy, Promotion and awareness campaign strategy	Promotion and awareness campaign strategy	Industry and Customers
, ,	competition	Promotion/awareness campaign strategy		
		Product variants strategy		
	Natural, human and financial resources	Integrated network strategy		
		Collaborative product utilization strategy.		
I ask of product asthetestics	Sasia sultural essente	Cross-selling strategy,	Dreduct veries to state	Industry,
Lack of product satisfaction	Socio-cultural aspects	Continuous user engagement strategy	Froduct variants strategy	Customers
	Knowledge and awareness of application and market	Result-oriented contracting strategy	Research and development	
Performance	Natural, human and financial resources	Research and development (niche) strategy	(niche) strategy	Industry
Government policy and		Investment strategy, Economic/financial incentives strategy	Economic/financial incentives	Government, Industry and
regulatory framework	Macro-economic and strategic aspects	Promotion and awareness campaign strategy	strategy	Customers

8.3 Results from phase 4

	Natural human and financial resources	Liberalizing the market strategy, Economic/financial incentives strategy, Lobbying strategy, Research and develop (niche) strategy		
	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Buy-one give one niche strategy, Geographical niche strategy Blue ocean strategy		
	Accidents and events	Promotion/awareness campaign strategy, Marketing strategy, Continuous user engagement strategy	Economic/financial incentives	Government
Demand factors (NA)	Socio-cultural aspects	Promotion/awareness campaign strategy,	strategy	Customers
	Macro-economic and strategic aspects	Lobbying strategy		
	Knowledge and awareness of application and market	Promotion/awareness campaign strategy, Word of mouth strategy, Influential community member strategy, Continuous user engagement strategy, Geographical niche strategy		
	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Supportive demonstration and cost reduction strategy, Research and development (niche) strategy		
Production factors/Economies of Scale	Natural, human and financial resources	Research and development (niche) strategy, Finance sourcing strategy	Finance sourcing strategy	Industry
	Macro-economic and strategic aspects	Human resource management strategy, Investment strategy, Economic/financial incentives strategy, Geographical niche strategy, Partnerships niche strategy, Integrated network strategy		
Lack of access to distribution channels/networks	Competition	Liberalizing the market strategy, Investment strategy, Geographical niche strategy, Blue ocean strategy	Economic/financial incentives strategy	Government, Industry
	Socio-cultural aspects	Integrated network strategy, Blue ocean strategy, Explore multiple markets strategy		
	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Collaborative product utilization strategy, Cross-selling strategy, Geographical niche strategy		
Lack of network externalities	Accidents and events	Marketing strategy, Word of mouth strategy	Geographical niche strategy	Industry (OEMs), Customers
	Macro-economic and strategic aspects	Liberalizing the market strategy, Guaranteed markets strategy		
	Natural, human and financial resources	Continuous user engagement strategy, Word of mouth strategy		
	competition	Human resource management strategy, Investment strategy, Economic/financial incentives strategy, Geographical niche strategy		
Constantly evolving markets	Knowledge and awareness of technology	Investment strategy, Blue ocean strategy, Explore multiple markets strategy, Geographical niche strategy	Investment strategy	Government, Industry and Customers
Low resale value (value depreciation)	competition	Research and development (niche) strategy, Promotion and awareness campaign strategy, Supportive demonstration and cost reduction strategy	Research and development (niche) strategy	Government, Industry
	Socio-cultural aspects	Result-oriented contracting strategy, Supportive demonstration and cost-reduction strategy		
Lack of collaboration among stakeholders	competition	Partnerships niche strategy, Integrated network strategy	Partnerships niche strategy	Industry (OEMS and institutes)

9 Conclusion and Recommendations

In this chapter, the conclusions obtained and the recommendations originating from this research are discussed. Firstly, the conclusions are discussed by answering the sub-research questions including the main research question in the section 9.1. Also, the final recommendations for the different stakeholders involved/perspectives are outlined in the section 9.2.

9.1 Conclusion

In this section, firstly, the answers to the sub-research questions will be discussed, ultimately leading to the answer to the main research question.

Why does solar mobility present a viable option, and how can parallels between the electric vehicle (EV) sector and Solar Electric Vehicles (SEVs) be drawn to understand their applicability and potential in India?

In the past few years, there has been more awareness and emphasis on the transition to electric mobility in India. This provides an opportunity for innovation within electric mobility, and SEVs are one such innovation. SEVs present a viable option in India because of their ability to solve the problems associated with EV technology, as the efficiency of solar PV technology improves. Additionally, there is also the geographical advantage for SEVs as India receives ample sunlight throughout the year. Moreover, the policies (namely FAME I and II) from the government supporting the transition to electric mobility have the ability to support further innovations in this sector. Altogether, these factors present a viable option for SEVs in India.

In order to justify the viability of SEVs in India, and draw parallels between SEVs and EVs three layers of rationale were provided. A calculated assumption was made that the base architecture of a Solar Electric Vehicle is that of a Battery Electric Vehicle (Rationale I). It was also evident from the research that SEVs and EVs share a similar architecture, with solar roof as an additional component in SEVs. Therefore, in this thesis research, the socio-technical aspects of EVs were studied in detail and logical parallels were drawn between EVs and SEV technology. In order to prove the credibility of the parallels drawn between EVs and SEVs, expert interviews were conducted (Rationale II). Additionally, the outcome of the case study on the companies, Lightyear and Aptera Motors corroborated the findings from the literature, particularly on strategies implemented (Rationale III). These case studies were used as a means to extend the findings from the literature to SEV technology. Additionally, the establishment of Vayve Mobility, as the first SEV company in India, and by interviewing the Co-founder and COO of the company (Expert F), it was clear that SEVs have the potential to disrupt urban mobility in India.

What according to the existing theories in literature could be labeled as barriers that hinder and opportunities that facilitate the introduction and diffusion of SEVs in India?

In this thesis, it was found that a total of 24 barriers hinder and 10 opportunities that facilitate the market diffusion of SEVs in India, from three different perspectives, government (policymakers), industry (companies), and customers (end users).

Firstly, the barriers discussed in several pieces of literature on EVs were identified and highlighted in this thesis. Due to the similarities between EV and SEV technologies, the barriers to EVs have been extended to SEVs based on the validation received from the experts on these barriers through expert interviews. Identifying these barriers was crucial to determine the status of the building blocks of TIS for SEVs in India. Based on the guidelines provided in the TIS framework by Ortt & Kamp (2022), and Schulz (2019), the links between the identified barriers from literature and the underlying influencing conditions were formed, and highlighted in the table 8.1. After identifying the links between the barriers and their underlying influencing conditions, their effect on the building blocks was also determined and discussed in table 8.3. It was found that only the complementary products and services building was complete, whereas the building blocks, product price, and production system were incomplete. As discussed in section 8.1, the availability of repair/service and maintenance centers, including the less reliance of SEVs on the charging infrastructure makes the status of the building block 'complementary products and services', complete. In addition to that, it was also evident from this research based on the opinions of 6 out of 8 experts, that the upfront cost of the vehicles is the biggest threat to the market diffusion of SEVs in India, thereby rendering the status of the building block, 'product price', incomplete.

Moreover, the remaining building blocks, product performance, and quality, network formation and coordination, customers, and innovation-specific institutions remain partially complete.

What are the strategies available to address the barriers faced by SEVs (high-tech innovations) according to the existing literature? How can these identified strategies be used to develop and diffuse SEV technology at a large scale in India?

A total of 34 strategies have been identified in this thesis, which has been divided into the strategies applicable to the government, industry, and customers. All the identified strategies have been highlighted in the table 6.4. As SEVs are considered a high-tech innovation, the niche strategies developed by Ortt et al. (2013) were used as a starting point to explore the strategies that could potentially be implemented to diffuse SEVs at a large scale, by addressing the barriers identified (according to the previous research question).

In order to understand their feasibility in the Indian market, expert interviews were conducted. Interviews with experts C and D were conducted to understand the strategies that are already being implemented in the market, and also validate the feasibility of the strategies obtained from the literature. On the other hand, interviews with experts E and F focused on strategies that are being implemented now and also in the future.

Every barrier identified in this thesis can be circumvented using multiple strategies that were discussed. In order to facilitate the development and diffusion of SEVs in India, identifying the cause behind a particular barrier, and circumventing that cause by implementing strategies is essential. This way, by determining the cause behind a particular barrier, relevant strategies can be selected and implemented. Ultimately, these strategies can be implemented by stakeholders (perspectives) individually or multiple stakeholders can come together to overcome those barriers.

Based on existing frameworks, what are the possible links between the barriers and the strategies identified? From the established link between strategies and barriers, how can the best strategy be selected per barrier?

9 Conclusion and Recommendations

The possible links between the barriers and strategies were framed by identifying all the (direct) underlying causes of the barriers. By identifying these causes, all the relevant strategies with the potential to circumvent that particular barrier are mapped. These links were framed using the guidelines formulated based on the Best Strategy framework proposed by Dwisatyawati (2022). This framework discusses the scoring models that can incorporated to link the barriers with the strategies. Additionally, the insights gained from expert interviews were used to rank the most important strategies, and the justification for these ratings was provided in the table 7.5. Based on the guidelines provided in the best strategy framework and the ranking given to strategies by the experts, it was identified that strategies associated with the financial aspects take precedence over other strategies, because the lack of required financial resources prevents the development, and launching of the product, ultimately, preventing the introduction of the product in the market. Similarly, ranking (and the justification) was also provided for other strategies.

The best strategy per barrier can be selected by considering the strategies that received the highest ranking from the experts, followed by checking if the highly-ranked strategy is in the list of relevant strategies linked with that specific barrier. In the case when two or more strategies are given the same ranking, the important strategy decision is made by selecting the strategy that can benefit multiple stakeholders upon its implementation.

This section puts forward the main research question of this thesis "What are the sociotechnical conditions that affect the market diffusion of Solar Electric Vehicles in the Indian market?"

After identifying the disruptive nature of SEVs, it was evident that SEV technology is in its early stages of innovation in India. Therefore, as it is a technology that is in the phase prior to its large-scale diffusion, the Technological Innovation System framework proposed by Ortt & Kamp (2022) has been incorporated into the present work. In this thesis, all the socio-technical that affect the market diffusion of Solar Electric Vehicles in India, specifically, a total of 24 barriers, 10 opportunities, and 34 different strategies from three different perspectives were proposed. These perspectives are of the government (policy makers), industry (companies/OEMs), and customers (end users).

There are multiple barriers that pose an immediate threat to SEV technology such as the high upfront cost of the vehicle. This is a barrier because of the price-sensitive nature of the Indian market, and the limited purchasing power of the majority of the population belonging to the middle-class income range. As a result companies or SEVs with high upfront costs (>17000 EUR) such as the existing SEV models from Lightyear and Aptera Motors are expected to face market entry barriers from a financial point of view, as well as a design point of view. This barrier can be circumvented by making SEVs more affordable by SEV companies or implementing 'affordable financing' policies through financial institutes such as banks. By offering the SEV at a cheaper price (\$6000), Vayve Mobility is expected to eliminate the biggest threat (barrier) and also the necessity to implement some of the other strategies discussed in this thesis. Ultimately, the barriers associated with the financial aspects can be circumvented by implementing either affordable financing options or offering the product at a competitive price. This way, the TIS building block 'Product price' can be addressed, thereby facilitating the success of SEVs in the mass market in India.

An interesting observation made during the interviews was that there were many instances where the opinions of the interviewees aligned, but there were also instances where the opinions sought from the experts seemed to not align. For example, most of the experts agreed that the 'lack of (technical) knowledge and awareness', 'lack of competition', and 'cost of purchase and ownership' are some of the immediate threats to the adoption of SEVs. However, as a result of interviewing experts from different backgrounds, a few differences in the opinions were identified. For example, Expert B (Deputy Director at the Ministry of Transport) highlighted that the government has been taking various initiatives to develop electric vehicles. However, Expert A (Assistant Professor at the Indian Institute of Technology (IIT) raised the issue of lack of funding from the government, and the private sector towards research institutes for the R&D of SEVs, resulting in a lack of innovation. From these insights, it could be inferred that although the government has implemented supportive policies to support the development of Battery Electric Vehicles, due to the limited presence of SEVs in the Indian market, there is limited attention, particularly towards SEVs. Ultimately, this also reflects the lack of awareness among the end users (customers).

It was also identified that there is a lack of initiative from research institutes in collaborating with high-tech companies such as Vayve Mobility to conduct projects jointly. Therefore, there is a gap that needs to be bridged between academia and industry in order to facilitate an innovative environment to develop the technology as a whole.

In the context of the Indian SEV industry, a complex vicious cycle of barriers (pattern) was discovered. The key issue revolves around the limited advancement in technology and the limited availability of SEV models in the market. This not only affects consumer awareness but also limits the development of required policies. Policymakers require a diverse range of SEV models to formulate effective and favorable policies that are needed. However, in order to encourage companies to develop more SEV variants, there is a need for government initiatives (investment) and incentives. As a result, there is less awareness among consumers, and as a result, there is insufficient demand from the perspective of the companies. This creates a vicious cycle of barriers, where each barrier contributes to another, making it challenging to break this cycle to facilitate the growth of the SEV industry in India. In order to overcome this loop of barriers, the implementation of the strategies ranked by the experts, highlighted in the table 7.5, are considered crucial Therefore, in line with the vicious cycle problem discussed above, the following set of recommendations is provided in this thesis.

9.2 Recommendations

The recommendations originating from this thesis research are discussed in this section and are divided into the perspectives identified in this thesis.

9.2.1 Government of India

The following recommendations apply to the actors/stakeholders involved in policymaking and related ministries within the Government of India.

1. Government-backed solar panel innovation: Collaborate with research institutes and private companies to accelerate the development of innovative (curved) solar panel technologies tailored for SEVs. Government funding and incentives can facilitate breakthroughs in solar technology. By doing so India, not only can catch up to the global advancements in solar PV technology but also develop self-sustaining SEVs.

- 9 Conclusion and Recommendations
 - 2. Streamlined solar panel material supply chain: Establish partnerships with suppliers to ensure a consistent supply of materials for manufacturing solar panels. Encourage domestic production and explore sustainable sourcing options to meet the rising demand.
 - 3. Collaborative Loan Programs: Collaborate with financial institutions to introduce specialized loan programs for SEV purchases. These programs can ease the financial burden, especially on middle-class consumers, and make SEVs more accessible and attractive to potential customers.
 - 4. Research Grant Allocation: Increase government and private sector funding for research institutions such as IITs, NITs, and companies specializing in SEV technology. Funding research and conducting projects jointly can lead to valuable insights and technological advancements.
 - 5. Collaboration Platforms: Establish knowledge-sharing platforms that bridge the gap between academia, government, and industry. Regular seminars, webinars, and workshops can promote collaboration, fostering a holistic ecosystem for knowledge diffusion.
 - 6. Affordability Measures: Implement policies that encourage the development and adoption of more cost-effective SEV models, particularly in the middle-class price range. This could involve providing incentives, subsidies, or tax benefits to manufacturers and consumers.
 - 7. Incorporate Zero Emission Mandate: Implement a New Energy Vehicle mandate similar to China's and a zero-emission vehicle mandate akin to California's, setting ambitious targets for EV adoption and emissions reduction. Enact regulations requiring OEMs to manufacture new energy and zero-emission vehicles, driving industry-wide innovation and sustainable practices.
 - 8. **Revise Subsidy Criteria**: Tailor FAME I and II schemes to explicitly include SEVs, considering their potential for cost reduction through solar panels. Adjust subsidy conditions to accommodate high-performance solar-equipped vehicles.
 - 9. Battery Regulation: Develop clear regulations for battery end-of-life and second-life usage to ensure responsible disposal and repurposing of batteries. This can also boost consumer confidence and environmental sustainability.

9.2.2 Industry: Companies, OEMs, research institutes

The following recommendations apply (and are not limited) to the actors/stakeholders involved in creating, designing, prototyping, developing, and introducing SEVs in the market.

1. University Collaborations: Universities in India and abroad should join and actively collaborate on SEV research. Joint research initiatives between Indian and international universities can accelerate knowledge development and diffusion in the field. Many university student teams such as Eindhoven University of Technology and Delft University of Technology have been working on solar electric vehicles for quite a while now. Universities and research institutes in India could benefit from the knowledge that can be exchanged by collaborating with these university teams.

- 2. Cross-industry collaborations: Within the industry itself, partnerships with research institutes and (technical) training centers to collectively address skill gaps and accelerate the transition to electric mobility. Prioritize skill development programs to build the workforce to design, develop, and manufacture SEVs.
- 3. Market-Oriented Branding: Leverage (social-media) influencers and brand ambassadors to promote SEVs and improve consumer confidence by creating a trend. Also, collaborating with non-profit organizations to advocate and lobby for SEV adoption, creates a positive public perception.
- 4. Strategic Market Development: Focus on creating awareness and demand for SEVs, especially among the younger (tech-savvy) generation, through promotion campaigns in platforms like nationwide sports events (like Indian Premiere League) to increase visibility.
- 5. **Supply Chain Resilience**: Explore diverse sourcing options for critical materials, reducing dependency on specific regions. Collaborate with international partners to ensure a stable supply chain for SEV components. Collaborating with international parties, in the early stages of the development of SEVs, facilitates the possibility of becoming independent by building a robust domestic supply chain.
- 6. **Futuristic Design**: Follow the trends set by Aptera Motor's approach by incorporating autonomy, connectivity, and advanced (curved) solar technology features into SEVs. Designing vehicles that are future-proof appeals to potential investors and attracts potential consumers.
- 7. Market Diversification: Identify niche markets like service goods and delivery vehicles under the blue ocean strategy. Focus on less competitive sectors with high demand, such as fleet operations, for SEV deployment. As ride-sharing and ride-hailing services are quickly growing in India, tapping into those markets will attract fleet operators toward SEVs.
- 8. Collaborative Utilization Models: Consider innovative business models like leasing or renting SEVs for multiple users, as implemented by Lightyear through their collaboration with LeasePlan (Lightyear, 2022). This strategy could make SEVs financially viable while addressing the challenge of low-profit margins.

9.2.3 Customers (end users)

The following recommendations apply to the end users, in adopting, supporting, and spreading awareness regarding SEVs.

- 1. **Consider long-term cost savings**: Being aware of the long-term cost savings associated with SEVs, including lower operational and maintenance costs compared to internal combustion engine vehicles, can help the end users make an informed decision. One such way of saving costs over the long term includes exploring the available subsidies and incentives that can help reduce the financial burden of high upfront costs.
- 2. Awareness and adoption campaigns: The concept of network externalities applies equally to both, industry and customers. As the number of people using SEVs increases the value of the product will also increase (Stringham et al., 2015). Spreading a (positive) word through WOM and E-WOM platforms has proven to be successful in making the end users informed decisions (Krishna, 2021). Launch targeted awareness campaigns

9 Conclusion and Recommendations

highlighting the benefits of SEVs in specific use cases, such as short-distance commuting or ride-hailing and sharing applications. Leverage media trends and community participation to create curiosity and interest.

3. **Participation in Feedback Loops**: Actively engage with companies like Vayve Mobility that are introducing innovative SEVs by providing real-time data on the performance of the vehicle. Participate in early-stage purchases and provide valuable feedback for improvements. Co-operating by providing real-time data and feedback can help the companies in improving and making the technology more efficient.

9.2.4 Limitations and recommendations for future research

In this section, first, the limitations that were observed during this thesis are explained. The recommendations originated from the limitations of this thesis and are presented as future scope.

- 1. The influence between Actors: The study provides limited insight into the interplay and influence of one actor on another within the context of SEVs and their strategies, as the main focus of this thesis was identifying the role of each actor (perspective) and their influence on the market diffusion of SEVs. Therefore, less emphasis was given to how each of these identified actors influence each other.
- 2. Geographic and Economic Constraints: The findings are applicable mainly to developing countries like India and areas with ample sunlight. It may not fully encompass nations outside these criteria. As the spending capacity of the people in other countries may be higher or lower than in India-like markets, some of the findings in this thesis may not apply. Similarly, countries that receive less sunlight compared to India might have a different set of barriers, which may need a different set of strategies.
- 3. Dynamic Future Scenarios: The applicability of findings is applicable for the current landscape of EV technology based on the data gathered from the literature might be outdated. As circumstances evolve, new barriers may emerge, necessitating adjustments in strategies.
- 4. **Specific Vehicle Focus**: The research concentrates on Solar Electric Vehicles that share the foundational architecture of Battery Electric Vehicles, with the addition of solar panels, limiting its scope to this specific vehicle type.
- 5. **Barrier Confirmation**: Due to limited data availability on companies like Aptera Motors and Lightyear, the rationale analysis primarily focuses on strategies. Further research and validation could add more credibility to the identified barriers comprehensively.
- 6. Strategy Effectiveness and ranking: The research evaluates the feasibility of the implementation of the strategies in the Indian market but doesn't delve deeply into the impacts of post-implementation of the strategies. As the insights gained into strategies before their implementation will vary from insights gained on the post-implementation and the success of the strategy. For example, the subsidized niche strategy is one strategy implemented to remove the barrier of high upfront costs of new technology. However, in the long term, the same strategy can work against the technology. Therefore, such post-implementation (long-term) impact of these strategies is yet to be analyzed. Also, the strategy ranking was only provided to the most important strategies in the opinion

of the experts. In the expert interviews, after carefully reviewing the list of strategies, experts ranked only a few of the strategies that were important (from 1 to 5). In order to keep the interviews within the time limit requested by the experts, although all the strategies were validated and categorized based on their feasibility, all 34 strategies were not ranked by the experts (in order of importance).

7. Linkages between strategies and barriers: Hundreds or even thousands of (direct and indirect) linkages are possible among the 24 barriers and 34 strategies, including the data obtained from interviews. While only the links that are relevant and make sense logically (from the point of view of the framework) are discussed, there may also be some in-direct links that are (logically) possible but are not discussed due to time-constraint.

Recommendation for future research

As SEVs are a radically new innovation, there is huge potential for future research in this area. Therefore, the limitations of this research can be forwarded as a recommendation for the future scope.

The primary scope for the area of research in SEVs is the perspectives from which the barriers and strategies can be evaluated. In this thesis, primarily, government, industry, and customer perspectives have been identified. Although these perspectives provide an overview of the most important stakeholders involved, it has been identified that there is more scope for further and more in-depth research pertaining to certain actors such as the challenges encountered by research institutes, (curved) solar PV suppliers, entrepreneurs, electricity companies, charging point operators, fleet operators, financial institutes, etc. There is a scope for researching in depth from all the perspectives mentioned above. Also, the opportunities identified in this thesis can be linked to strategies. Due to the limited number of opportunities for SEVs identified in this thesis, the links between the opportunities and the strategies could not be framed completely. Once more such opportunities (drivers) are discovered for SEVs, a complete set of links between the opportunities and the strategies can be formulated. This research can also be carried forward to countries outside the geographical and economic constraints mentioned in this thesis. For example, it has been pointed out by Expert F (2023) that the purchasing power (capacity to afford a vehicle) in European countries is relatively higher than in India, therefore the opportunities to introduce high-end SEVs are plenty. Similarly, the experts with knowledge particularly on SEVs are very limited, particularly in India, therefore, an expert from the only SEV company in India was interviewed. On the other hand, there are other SEV companies outside India, such as Sono Motors (from Germany) and Lightyear (from the Netherlands) who are focusing on the European market. An interesting research focus could be the comparison between the experience of these two companies as the pioneers of SEVs in Europe. Due to the recent layoffs from both of these companies, it was difficult to interview experts from these companies. However, with the advancements in Solar EV technology, there is great potential for these companies to grow and introduce SEV models in the market soon.

9.3 Contribution of this research

As discussed in section 1.4, there is limited attention towards SEVs in the Indian market, and also limited research directly addressing the barriers and strategies that influence the

9 Conclusion and Recommendations

market diffusion of SEVs in India. This research bridges this knowledge gap by identifying and discussing the barriers and strategies for SEVs relevant to the Indian context. More importantly, the valuable expert opinions on the socio-technical conditions discussed in this thesis provide insights into the current market conditions that are posing a threat to SEV technology, and the measures that can be taken or implemented to address those threats. Additionally, this thesis was successful in emphasizing the barriers and strategies from the point of view of the important stakeholders, such as the policymakers, companies, and end users, and their roles in facilitating the large-scale diffusion of SEVs in India.

The TIS framework proposed by Ortt and Kamp (2022) is based on the conditions in the European and North American countries. By implementing the TIS framework for the context of SEVs in India, it has been adapted to the situation in a developing country. Additionally, this thesis builds up on the research on the niche strategies discussed by Ortt et al. (2013) and other strategies discussed in the literature by extending and modifying those to address the barriers encountered in the Indian market, from multiple perspectives. Upon validating the barriers by categorizing them from a high to low level of threat, and that of the strategies on the feasibility of implementation from their high to low level of influence on the market diffusion of SEVs, this thesis corroborated the barriers and strategies discussed by various researchers.

Also, this thesis complemented the Best Strategy Framework proposed by Dwisatyawati (2022), by validating the links between the barriers and strategies through expert interviews, thereby consolidating the approach to map the strategies applicable to the barriers. Ultimately, by studying the links proposed in this thesis, the readers can identify all the strategies that are applicable and the most important strategy that can selected to address a particular barrier encountered during the large-scale diffusion of SEVs in India.

9.4 Relevance of this research

9.4.1 Relevance to Sustainable Energy Technology (SET)

The Delft University of Technology offers a master's program in Sustainable Energy Technology, with a deep focus on the societal transition towards self-sufficient and sustainable energy alternatives. The relevance of this thesis on Solar Electric Vehicles aligns with the author's specialization in Electric Mobility, Power, and Economics & Society. The concept of SEVs was particularly introduced in the courses Electrical Machines and Drives, Electric Vehicles and Charging Technology. The frameworks implemented (particularly Technological Innovation Systems, and Niche Strategy Framework) in this thesis were first introduced in the course Sustainable Energy Innovations and Transitions. In this course, the relevance of these frameworks to various sustainable energy technologies (SETs) was discussed. The courses mentioned above served as the foundational basis for the research on this thesis topic. Ultimately, by utilizing the knowledge gained on the technical aspects of SEVs, and societal aspects of SETs, the socio-technical aspects of SEVs in India were discussed in this thesis.

References

A&E Television Networks. (2017). Climate change history. History.com. https://www.history.com/topics/natural-disasters-and-environment/history-of-climate-change

Adams, W. (2015). Conducting Semi-Structured Interviews, pages 492-505

- Akpan, U. F. & Akpan, G. E. (2012). The Contribution of Energy Consumption to Climate Change: A Feasible Policy Direction. International Journal of Energy Economics and Policy, 2 (1), 21-33. Retrieved from https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/ijeeep/issue/31899/350661?publisher=http-www-cag-edu-tr-ilhan-o zturk
- Alliance, R. T. (2019). From oil crisis to energy revolution how nations once before planned to kick the oil habit. Retrieved from https://rapidtransition.org/stories/from-oil-crisis-to-energy-revolution-how-nations-once-before-pl anned-to-kick-the-oil-habit/
- Aptera. (2023). Driving into the Summer of Solar Mobility. Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/summer-of-solar-mobility/
- Aptera. (2023). Aptera's Investment Window is Pausing This Week. Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/investment-closing/
- Aptera. (2023). Aptera Motors Receives First Fleet Order from SustainabilitySooner.com Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/sustainabilitysooner-fleet-order/
- Aptera. (2022). How Aptera's AGVs Revolutionize Vehicle Assembly. Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/how-apteras-agvs-revolutionize-vehicle-assembly/
- Aptera. (2022). Aptera Joins Forces with C.P.C. Group to Accelerate Production. Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/cpc-group-agreement/
- Aptera. (2022). Aptera Motors is First EV Maker to Integrate Tesla Charging built by Lectron. Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/tesla-charging/
- Aptera. (2022). Solar is in Production with Maxeon Solar Cells. Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/solar-production-with-maxeon/
- Aptera. (2022). Aptera Announces Battery Cell Supplier: EVE Energy Co., Ltd. Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/aptera-announces-battery-cell-supplier-eve-energy-co-ltd/
- Aptera. (2022). Aptera and leading in-wheel powertrain maker Elaphe announce strategic deal for electric motors. Retrieved from:

https://aptera.us/aptera-and-leading-in-wheel-powertrain-maker-elaphe-announces-strategic-deal-f or-electric-motors/

- Aptera. (2022). Industry 4.0: Aptera and RedViking Revolutionize Manufacturing. Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/industry-4-0-aptera-and-redviking-revolutionize-manufacturing/
- Aptera. (2022). Aptera Motors Welcomes Doug Lui as Strategic Advisor. Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/aptera-motors-welcomes-doug-lui-as-strategic-advisor/
- Aptera. (2022). Aptera Welcomes Brian Snow to its Board of Directors. Retrieved from: https://aptera.us/aptera-welcomes-brian-snow-to-its-board-of-directors/
- Ang, S. H. (2008). Competitive intensity and collaboration: Impact on firm growth across technological environments competitive intensity and collaboration: Impact on firm growth across technological environments. Strategic Management Journal, 29:1057–1075
- Araki, K., Ota, Y., Maeda, A., Kumano, M., and Nishioka, K. (2023). Solar electric vehicles as energy sources in disaster zones: Physical and social factors. Energies, 16(8).
- Balachandra, P., Kristle Nathan, H. S., and Reddy, B. S. (2010). Commercialization of sustainable energy technologies. Renewable Energy, 35(8):1842–1851
- Barker, P. and Bing, J. (2005). Advances in solar photovoltaic technology: an applications perspective. In IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting, 2005, pages 1955–1960 Vol. 2.
- Bhardwaj, N. (2021). India's automotive ecosystem: A primer for investors. India Briefing. Retrieved from: https://www.india-briefing.com/news/indias-automotive-ecosystem-a-primer-for-investors-23333. html/
- Bilgen, S. (2014). Structure and environmental impact of global energy consumption. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 38, 890–902. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2014.07.004
- Bloem, C. (2018). 5 reasons your company should partner up with its competition. Inc. Retrieved from: https://www.inc.com/craig-bloem/why-partnering-with-competitors-is-often-best-move-your-com pany-can-make.html.
- Bose, B. K. (2010). Global warming: Energy, environmental pollution, and the impact of power electronics. *IEEE Industrial Electronics Magazine*, 4(1), 6–17. https://doi.org/10.1109/MIE.2010.935860
- Brigham, K. (2022). Why solar electric vehicles might be the next generation of EVs. Retrieved from https://www.cnbc.com/2022/11/22/how-sono-aptera-and-lightyear-are-making-solar-powered-evsa-reality.html
- Buchholz, K. (2022). Chart: How much of India's electricity is generated from renewable Sources? The Wire. Retrieved from: https://thewire.in/energy/chart-india-renewable-energy-generation
- Bureau, E. (2010). Mahindra & Mahindra buys 55% in Reva to power electric car biz. Retrieved from: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/small-biz/sme-sector/how-adobe-document-cloud-can-emp ower-the-indian-msme-ecosystem/articleshow/102311256.cms

- Carrington, D. (2021). Electric vehicles close to the 'tipping point' of mass adoption. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/jan/22/electric-vehicles-close-to-tipping-point-ofmass-adoption
- Carvalho, F. P. (2017). Mining industry and sustainable development: Time for change. In *Food and Energy Security* (Vol. 6, Issue 2, pp. 61–77). Wiley-Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/fes3.109
- Chandran, R. (2003). Reva a successful failure? Retrieved from: https://www.siliconindia.com/magazine_articles/reva-a-successful-failure-USN908755325.html
- Chaturvedi, B. K., Nautiyal, A., Kandpal, T. C., & Yaqoot, M. (2022). Projected transition to electric vehicles in India and its impact on stakeholders. *Energy for Sustainable Development*, 66, 189–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ESD.2021.12.006
- Chaurey, A. and Kandpal, T. C. (2010). Assessment and evaluation of PV based decentralized rural electrification: An overview. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 14(8):2266–2278
- Chenoy, D., Ghosh, S. M., & Shukla, S. K. (2019). Skill development for accelerating the manufacturing sector: the role of 'new-age' skills for 'Make in India.' *International Journal of Training Research*, 17(sup1), 112–130. https://doi.org/10.1080/14480220.2019.1639294
- Danstrong. (2013). TOYOTA'S HYBRID SUCCESS STORY Toyota Media Site. Toyota Media Site. https://media.toyota.co.uk/toyotas-hybrid-success-story/
- Dhote, T., Chaitanya, P. K., Mandot, J. (2023). Mahindra Electric Cars: Challenges of Driving a Revolution in the Indian Market. Asian Journal of Management Cases, 35–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/09728201211035038
- Dijk, M., Orsato, R. J., & Kemp, R. (2013). The emergence of an electric mobility trajectory. *Energy Policy*, 52, 135–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2012.04.024
- Donkers, A., Yang, D., Viktorović, M. (2020). Influence of driving style, infrastructure, weather and traffic on electric vehicle performance. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 102569. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRD.2020.102569
- Döringer, S. (2021). 'the problem-centered expert interview'. combining qualitative interviewing approaches for investigating implicit expert knowledge. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 24(3):265–278.
- Duarte Souza Alvarenga Santos, N., Rückert Roso, V., Teixeira Malaquias, A. C., & Coelho Baêta, J. G. (2021). Internal combustion engines and biofuels: Examining why this robust combination should not be ignored for future sustainable transportation. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 148, 111292. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2021.111292

Dwisatyawati, M. P. (2022). Barriers and strategies analysis on mass adoption of solar electric vehicles in Indonesia a technological innovation system study. Retrieved from: http://repository.tudelft.nl

Expert A (2023). Expert interview. Expert B (2023). Expert interview Expert C (2023). Expert interview Expert D (2023). Expert interview Expert E (2023). Expert interview Expert F (2023). Expert interview Expert G (2023). Expert interview

- Edelstein, S. (2021). With EV1, GM sparked the era of the electric car but didn't follow through. Retrieved from https://www.greencarreports.com/news/1131994_report-with-ev1-gm-sparked-the-era-of-the-electr ic-car-but-didn-t-follow-through
- Ertmer, P.A. (1999). Addressing first- and second-order barriers to change: Strategies for technology integration. ETR&D 47, 47–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02299597
- Frank, L., Dirks, N., and Walther, G. (2021). Improving rural accessibility by locating multimodal mobility hubs. Journal of Transport Geography, 94:103111
- Fromhold-Eisebith, M. and Werker, C. (2013). Universities' functions in knowledge transfer: A geographical perspective. The Annals of Regional Science, 51
- Gabriel, C.-A. (2016). What is challenging renewable energy entrepreneurs in developing countries. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews, 64:362–371.
- Gabriel, C.-A., Kirkwood, J., Walton, S., and Rose, E. L. (2016). How do developing country constraints affect renewable energy entrepreneurs? Energy for Sustainable Development, 35:52–66
- Goel, S., Sharma, R., and Rathore, A. K. (2021). A review on barrier and challenges of electric vehicle in India and vehicle to grid optimisation. Transportation Engineering, 4:100057
- Goyal, P. (2023). Electric vehicles can disrupt rural india. The Times of India. Retrieved from: https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/blogs/voices/electric-vehicles-can-disrupt-rural-india/
- Gupta, S. (2023a). Pune startup to launch India's 1st solar-powered ev that runs at 1/3rd the Cost. The Better India. Retrieved from: https://www.thebetterindia.com/309924/eva-indias-first-solar-powered-electric-car-by-pune-startu p/
- Hardman, S., Steinberger-Wilckens, R., and van der Horst, D. (2013). Disruptive innovations: The case for hydrogen fuel cells and battery electric vehicles. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 38(35):15438–15451

- Heinrich, M., Kutter, C., Basler, F., Mittag, M., Alanis, L., Eberlein, D., Schmid, A., Reise, C., Kroyer, T., Neuhaus, D., and Wirth, H. (2020). Potential and challenges of vehicle integrated photovoltaics for passenger cars.
- Hekkert, M. P., Suurs, R. A., Negro, S. O., Kuhlmann, S., and Smits, R. E. (2007). Functions of innovation systems: A new approach for analysing technological change. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 74:413–432.
- Hidayatno, A., Jafino, B. A., Setiawan, A. D., & Purwanto, W. W. (2020). When and why does transition fail? A model-based identification of adoption barriers and policy vulnerabilities for transition to natural gas vehicles. *Energy Policy*, 138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2020.111239
- Hunt, R. (2023). Aptera Motors: Guide to the Solar Electric Vehicle Manufacturer. HC. Retrieved from: https://history-computer.com/aptera-motors-history/#:~:text=Aptera%20Motors%20was%20found ed%20in,eventually%20re%2Dfounded%20in%202019.
- Irfan, M., Zhao, Z. Y., Ikram, M., Gilal, N. G., Li, H., & Rehman, A. (2020). Assessment of India's energy dynamics: Prospects of solar energy. *Journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy*, 12(5). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5140236
- IEA (2021), Air quality and climate policy integration in India, IEA, Paris. License: CC BY 4.0. https://www.iea.org/reports/air-quality-and-climate-policy-integration-in-india
- Khatri, P. (2021). India had electric 2-wheelers 40 years ago: Proof. CarToq. Retrieved from https://www.cartoq.com/india-had-electric-2-wheelers-40-years-ago-proof/
- Kim, C. and Mauborgne, R. (2004). What is blue ocean strategy? Blue 0cean. Retrieved from https://www.blueoceanstrategy.com/what-is-blue-ocean-strategy/.
- Krishna, G. (2021). Understanding and identifying barriers to electric vehicle adoption through thematic analysis. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2021.100364
- Krishnan, R., Sanjay, J., Gnanaseelan, C., Mujumdar, M., Kulkarni, A., and Chakraborty, S. (2020). Assessment of Climate Change over the Indian Region. Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. Springer Open
- Lightyear. (2023). We decided to fully focus on Lightyear 2 Retrieved from: https://lightyear.one/articles/lightyear-decides-to-fully-focus-on-lightyear-2
- Lightyear. (2023). Lightyear appoints Bart Welten as Chief Financial Officer and Floris van de Klashorst as Chief Transformation Officer. Retrieved from:
- https://lightyear.one/press-releases/lightyear-appoints-bart-welten-as-chief-financial-officer Lightyear. (2023). Hello planet — The Lightyear 2 waitlist is now open! Retrieved from:
 - https://lightyear.one/articles/hello-planet-the-lightyear-2-waitlist-is-now-open
Lightyear. (2023). Clean mobility made accessible — Four companies add Lightyear 2 to their fleets. Retrieved from:

https://lightyear.one/articles/clean-mobility-made-accessible-four-companies-add-lightyear-2-to-th eir-fleets

Lightyear. (2023).World gets its first glimpses of Lightyear 2 at CES 2023 as waitlist officially opens. Retrieved from:

https://lightyear.one/articles/world-gets-its-first-glimpses-of-lightyear-2-at-ces-2023-as-waitlist-off icially-opens

- Lightyear. (2022). 2022 Highlights Progress measured by a mission of clean mobility. Retrieved from: https://lightyear.one/articles/2022-highlights-progress-measured-by-a-mission-of-clean-mobility
- Lightyear. (2022). Trailblazing technologies Lightyear partners with megacar manufacturer, Koenigsegg. Retrieved from:

https://lightyear.one/articles/trailblazing-technologies-lightyear-partners-with-megacar-manufactur er-koenigsegg

- Livemint (2021). Govt extends FAME scheme till 2024. mint. Retrieved from https://www.livemint.com/news/india/govt-extends-fame-scheme-to-promote-electric-mobility-till -2024-11624688932461.html.
- Lopes, J. A. P., Soares, F. J., & Almeida, P. M. R. (2011). Integration of electric vehicles in the electric power system. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 99(1), 168–183. https://doi.org/10.1109/JPROC.2010.2066250
- Luthra, S. (2022). COP27: India committed to create carbon sink of 2.5-3 bn tn of CO2 equivalent by 2030. Retrieved from https://www.livemint.com/news/india/cop27-india-committed-to-create-carbon-sink-of-2-5-3-bn-t n-of-co2-equivalent-by-2030-11667910909887.html
- Mahabadi, P. (2022). Blu smart mobility giving tough competition to ride-hailing companies. E-vehicle info. Retrieved from: https://e-vehicleinfo.com/blu-smart-mobility-giving-tough-competition-to-ride-hailing-companies/
- Maini, C. K. (2005). REVA Electric car: a case study of innovation at RECC. In Int. J. Technology Management (Vol. 32, Issue 2).
- Melin, H. E., Rajaeifar, M. A., Ku, A. Y., Kendall, A., Harper, G., and Heidrich, O. (2021). Global implications of the EU battery regulation. Science, 373(6553):384–387
- Mirchi, A., Hadian, S., Madani, K., Rouhani, O. M., & Rouhani, A. M. (2012). World energy balance outlook and OPEC production capacity: Implications for global oil security. *Energies*, 5(8), 2626–2651. https://doi.org/10.3390/en5082626
- Newman, B. (n.d.). Solar-powered cars Retrieved from https://www.tno.nl/en/sustainable/renewable-electricity/solar-safety/solar-powered-cars/

- Nouni, M. R., Jha, P., Sarkhel, R., Banerjee, C., Tripathi, A. K., & Manna, J. (2021). Alternative fuels for decarbonisation of road transport sector in India: Options, present status, opportunities, and challenges. *Fuel*, 305, 121583. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FUEL.2021.121583
- Nykvist, B. and Nilsson, M. (2015). Rapidly falling costs of battery packs for electric vehicles. Nature Climate Change, 5:329–332.
- Olsthoorn, S. (2017). Dutch cooling technology in the desert: A market study on district cooling for Dutch companies based on niche strategies to commercialise high-tech products. Retrieved from: http://repository.tudelft.nl
- Ortt, J. R. and Kamp, L. M. (2022). A technological innovation system framework to formulate niche introduction strategies for companies prior to large-scale diffusion. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 180
- Ortt, J. R., Langley, D. J., and Pals, N. (2013). Ten niche strategies to commercialize new high-tech products.
- Ortt, J. R., & Schoormans, J. P. I. (2004). The pattern of development and diffusion of breakthrough communication technologies. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 7(4), 292–302. https://doi.org/10.1108/14601060410565047
- Painuly, J. (2001). Barriers to renewable energy penetration; a framework for analysis. Renewable Energy, 24(1):73–89
- Pandya, N. (2023). Vayve Mobility all set to launch India's first solar-powered car "Eva". Urban Transport News. Retrieved from: https://urbantransportnews.com/news/vayve-mobility-all-set-to-launch-indias-first-solar-poweredcar-eva
- Paterson, S., Vijayaratnam, P., Perera, C., & Doig, G. (2016). Design and development of the Sunswift Eve solar vehicle: A record-breaking electric car. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part D: Journal of Automobile Engineering*, 230(14), 1972–1986. https://doi.org/10.1177/0954407016630153
- Peres, R., Muller, E., & Mahajan, V. (2010). Innovation diffusion and new product growth models: A critical review and research directions. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 27(2), 91–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJRESMAR.2009.12.012
- Pesch, U. (2014). Sustainable development and institutional boundaries. Journal of Integrative Environmental Sciences, 11(1):39–54
- PTI (2018). Government hikes FAME-I outlay to Rs 895 crore. The Economic Times. Retrieved from: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/economy/policy/government-hikes-fame-i-outlay-to-r s-895-crore/articleshow/66792984.cms?from=mdr

- Pratiwi, L. (2016). Barriers and strategies for transition to electric vehicles in brics countries: Case study of South Africa, India, and Brazil. Retrieved from: http://repository.tudelft.nl
- Raju, P., Agarwal, A., and Nannapaneni, P. (2021). Faster adoption and manufacturing of (hybrid &) electric vehicles in India (FAME) – what's new. Retrieved from: https://www.legal500.com/developments/thought-leadership/faster-adoption-and-manufacturing-of -hybrid-electric-vehicles-in-india-fame-whats-new/
- Reddy, S. and Painuly, J. (2004). Diffusion of renewable energy technologies—barriers and stakeholders' perspectives. Renewable Energy, 29:1431–1447.
- Ritchie, H., Roser, M., & Rosado, P. (2020) . CO₂ and Greenhouse Gas Emissions". Published online at OurWorldInData.org. Retrieved from: 'https://ourworldindata.org/co2-and-greenhouse-gas-emissions'
- Sen, S. and Ganguly, S. (2017). Opportunities, barriers and issues with renewable energy development – a discussion. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 69:1170–1181.
- Schulz, J. (2019). Developing a conceptual model on strategies for overcoming barriers for the introduction of radical innovations in niches THESIS RESEARCH PROJECT. Retrieved from: http://repository.tudelft.nl
- Shakir, M. (2002). The selection of case studies: Strategies and their applications to IS implementation cases studies. (Vol. 3). http://www.massey.ac.nz/~wwiims/research/letters/
- Sharma, S. (2023). India's reliance on imported crude oil at record high of 87.3% in fy23. The Indian Express. Retrieved from: https://indianexpress.com/article/business/commodities/indias-reliance-on-crude-oil-imports-risesto-87-per-cent-in-apr-jan/
- Shepard, J. (2005). RECC Lunches Reva Electric Vehicle in Monaco. Retrieved from: https://eepower.com/news/recc-launches-reva-electric-vehicle-in-monaco/#
- Simpson, J. D. and Barlingen, W. V. (2014). The history of the electric car. Energy.gov. Available at: https://www.energy.gov/articles/history-electric-car
- Smink, M. (2015). Incumbents and institutions in sustainability transitions.
- Smink, M. M., Hekkert, M. P., and Negro, S. O. (2015). Keeping sustainable innovation on a leash? exploring incumbents' institutional strategies. Business Strategy and the Environment, 24:86–101.
- Stringham, E. P., Miller, J. K., and Clark, J. R. (2015). Overcoming barriers to entry in an established industry: Tesla motors

- Strupeit, L. and Palm, A. (2016). Overcoming barriers to renewable energy diffusion: business models for customer-sited solar photovoltaics in Japan, Germany and the United States. Journal of Cleaner Production, 123:124–136. Advancing Sustainable Solutions: An Interdisciplinary and Collaborative Research Agenda.
- Sudarshan (2021). History of Electric Vehicles (EVs) in India. Retrieved from: https://electricworldofdark.in/history-of-electric-vehicles-evs-in-india/
- 't Veld, Y. (2020). Strategies for the diffusion of sustainable energy technologies in developing countries. Retrieved from: http://repository.tudelft.nl
- Tarei, P. K., Chand, P., & Gupta, H. (2021). Barriers to the adoption of electric vehicles: Evidence from India. Journal of Cleaner Production, 291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.125847
- TechSci. (2023). The thriving market for electric vehicles in last mile delivery. MarketResearch.com. Retrieved from: https://blog.marketresearch.com/the-thriving-market-for-electric-vehicles-in-last-mile-delivery
- Tuchman, R. (2015). 5 reasons you need to work with your competitors. Entrepreneur. Retrieved from https://www.entrepreneur.com/growing-a-business/5-reasons-you-need-to-work-with-your-compet itors/245375.
- Urmee, T. and Md, A. (2016). Social, cultural and political dimensions of off-grid renewable energy programs in developing countries. Renewable Energy, 93:159–167
- Vidhi, R., & Shrivastava, P. (2018). A review of electric vehicle lifecycle emissions and policy recommendations to increase EV penetration in India. *Energies*, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/en11030483
- Waseem, M., Sherwani, A. F., and Suhaib, M. (2019). Integration of solar energy in electrical, hybrid, autonomous vehicles: a technological review. SN Applied Sciences, 1
- Wüstenhagen, R., Wolsink, M., and Burer, M. J. (2007). Social acceptance of renewable energy innovation: An introduction to the concept. Energy Policy, page 2683â2691.
- Young, C. (2023). 7 companies that are leading the way for solar-powered cars. Interesting Engieering. Retrieved from: https://interestingengineering.com/transportation/7-companies-that-are-leading-the-way-for-solarpowered-cars
- Zafar, U., Rashid, T. U., Khosa, A. A., Khalil, M. S., and Rahid, M. (2018). An overview of implemented renewable energy policy of Pakistan. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 82:654–665.
- Åke Lundvall, B. (2010). National Systems of Innovation: Toward a Theory of Innovation and Interactive Learning. Anthem Press.

Appendix A

1 Functions of Innovation Systems: A broader perspective

Technological change is not always purely technical. In order for it to be sustainable, changes in social aspects such as user practices, regulations, and industrial networks are needed. Therefore, it is imperative to understand technological growth from a broader perspective by paying attention to the dynamics of innovation processes (Hekkert et al., 2007).

According to Hekkert et al., the innovation system approach revolves around the idea that the innovation and diffusion of technology depend on both individual and collective actions (Hekkert et al., 2007).. The rate and direction of technological change in a society are determined by the institutions and economic structures in that innovation system. In addition to that, they are also affected by the competition between the existing incumbent and emerging technologies. Therefore, it is crucial to understand the relationship between incumbent technology (and its innovation system) the emerging technology, and its innovation system. Hence the innovation systems of incumbent technologies are given the name 'regime', while that of the emerging technologies are labeled 'niches'.

In modern society, these innovation systems are not always associated with a single nation or region because basic knowledge creation happens in different geographical areas and among various sectors around the world. As a result, national innovation systems (NSI) and sectoral innovation systems (SSI) often influence technological progress. Due to the presence of a large number of actors, network relations, and institutions at a national level, mapping the dynamics within NSI is a complex activity. NSI typically contains indicators such as R&D efforts, patents, educational institutions, university-industry collaborations, and the availability of venture capital. When compared to NSI, Technology Specific Innovation Systems (TSIS) have less number of actors, network relations, and institutions, which makes a dynamic analysis of TSIS possible.

Similar to Ortt and Kamp's TIS building blocks, Hekkert et al. also elaborate on several sets of functions that apply when relating one key activity of an innovation system with another. They are briefly described below.

- 1. Entrepreneurial activities: To generate new business opportunities, entrepreneurs put a lot of effort into creating knowledge, networks, and markets. In order to create knowledge and understand the functioning of technology, entrepreneurs experiment with technology under various circumstances. Moreover, entrepreneurs can either be new entrants or incumbent companies with an aim to diversify their business strategy.
- 2. Knowledge development: Research and development, and knowledge creation are essential for any innovation system as knowledge is considered to be a fundamental resource for the functioning of the modern economy (Åke Lundvall, 2010). R&D projects, patents, and investments in R&D are considered to be the crucial aspects of 'learning by searching' and 'learning by doing'.

Appendix A

- 3. Knowledge diffusion through networks: This function associated R&D with the governments, competitors, and the market and is essential for exchanging information among different networks. Policy decisions and R&D go hand in hand. Workshops and conferences are ideally the way to change the information within various networks.
- 4. Guidance of search: Industry, government, and the market are the components that influence this function. However, these components alone are not the influence on the guidance of search. In order to keep the process of guidance of search interactive, exchanging knowledge and ideas between technology producers and users is essential.
- 5. Market formation: New technologies (and new entrants) into the market after often considered inefficient on the date of their recognition in the market. This is a huge barrier to the market diffusion of such technologies. Therefore, creating niche markets can assist the actors associated with such technologies to learn about them and develop them further.
- 6. **Resources mobilization**: Apart from knowledge, financial and human capital are the basic resources required within an innovation system. These resources (especially funds) can be made available either by the government or the industry to develop specific technological knowledge.
- 7. **Creation of legitimacy**: In order for a technology to diffuse in the mass market, it either has to become a part of the incumbent regime or overthrow it. Therefore, a certain degree of resistance from the parties with vested interests is expected. To overcome this resistance, advocacy coalitions are essential to put new technology on the agenda, lobby for resources and favorable tax regimes.

These functions address the two major flaws identified in the concept of the innovation system. The static nature and the lack of sufficient attention at the micro level are the two flaws that are solved by applying the FIS framework (proposed by Hekkert et al.) to an innovation system. Mapping these seven functions provides insights into the dynamics of the innovation system.

Appendix B

1 Expert interviews

The type of interviews conducted are semi-structured. The questions asked during the expert interviews are listed below. These questions are discussed here in order to provide an understanding of the flow of the interviews. The discussion during the interviews is focused on gathering new information and validating the results obtained from the desk research. These questions are used as a guide to ensure a proper flow of conversation throughout the interview.

Introductory questions:

1. May I request you to kindly introduce yourself and your role in the Solar Electric Vehicle industry in India, just for the purpose of context-setting for our conversation?

Next, I would like to have an open conversation about SEVs in India:

2. What is your opinion on the development and adoption of Solar Electric Vehicles in India?

3. What kind of learnings that we got from the EV sector can also be applied to Solar Electric Vehicles?

3. In my research I've seen the opportunities that SEVs bring to India especially because it has abundant solar energy available, such as the reduced load on the electricity grid, and reduced emissions. What according to you are some opportunities or problems that SEVs will solve?

4. We have seen that some barriers like high cost of purchase and limited charging infrastructure were there when EVs were introduced and are still prevalent. What are some of the major barriers that SEVs would face while introducing the technology?

Other questions (Knowledge barrier and opportunities):

1. What challenges do you think exist from the perspective of manufacturers, distributors, of EVs, or SEVs in general? 2. What are some of the key research areas that need to be addressed in order to advance the development of SEVs? 3. What are the barriers in collaborating with companies outside India, like Tesla? Could you give some insights on how such collaborations can help and what are some of the other examples that you can provide? 4. One of the main barriers for any customer to buy EVs is the price. What other problems or complaints do you hear from an average or potential EV consumer?

Policy-related questions

1. What are some of the existing regulatory or policy barriers that could prevent the adoption of Solar Electric Vehicles in India, and how can they be addressed?

2. What kind of support or incentives can the government offer to encourage the adoption of Solar Electric Vehicles in India, and what impact might these measures have on the industry and the economy?

Appendix B

3. What are the barriers, according to you, that policymakers will face when introducing favorable policies for Solar Electric Vehicles in India?

4. One of the problems which I hear quite often is that if the incentives to purchase or manufacture solar EVs, many people will adopt them. What are the problems that government will face in increasing the incentives?

5. Do you think there are any favorable policies in place specifically for SEVs, or are the existing policies such as FAME II enough to introduce the product into the market?

Perspectives from the point of view of different stakeholders

1. How can collaboration between academia, industry, and government be facilitated to promote the development of SEVs? And what are the challenges that you face in encouraging such collaborations?

2. Can you provide any insights on how the barriers to SEV adoption may evolve in the future, and how stakeholders can prepare for these changes?

BARRIERS THAT WERE IDENTIFIED FROM THE LITERATURE REVIEW WERE DISCUSSED AFTER THESE QUESTIONS.

Final remarks:

1. Do you have any remaining remarks on this interview?

2. Do you know anyone else in your network or if you can refer me to anyone else that can provide more insights for my research that would be great.

- 3. Are you interested to receive the final report?
- 4. Could I contact you later to ask questions for additional information if needed?

Appendix C

1 List of strategies based on master thesis reports

Perspective/Stakeholders					
No.	Strategies	involved	Source		
	Technological research & develop niche				
1	strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
	Pilot research & develop niche strategy and				
2	Pilot project niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019)		
3	Market research & develop niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
4	Human resource niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
5	Crowdsourcing niche strategy	Industry/customers	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
6	Finance sourcing niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
7	Changing behaviour strategy	Industry/customers	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
8	Adaptor Niche Strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
9	Direct- and Indirect lobbying niche strategy	Industry/government/customers	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
	Campaign funding & Joining regulatory				
10	agency niche strategies	Industry/government	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
11	Leasing niche strategy	Industry/customers	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
12	Sharing platform niche strategy	Industry/customers	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
13	Buy-one, give-one niche strategy	Industry/customers	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
14	Partnerships niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
15	Different application niche strategy	Industry/customers	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
16	Education niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Ortt (2013)		
17	Lead-user niche strategy	Industry/customers	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Ortt (2013)		
18	Subsidies niche strategy	Industry/government	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Ortt (2013)		
19	Redesign niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Ortt (2013)		
20	Stand-alone niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Ortt (2013)		
21	Dedicated System Niche Strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Ortt (2013)		
22	Hybridization niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Ortt (2013)		
23	Geographical niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Ortt (2013)		
24	Top-end niche strategy	Industry	Schulz (2019), Dwisatyawati (2022), Ortt (2013)		

Table 1: Strategies applicable to radical innovations in niches by Schulz (2019)

Appendix C

		Stakeholders	
No.	Strategies	involved/perspectives	Adapted from/Source
1	Liberalize energy sector	Government	't Veld (2020), Painuly (2001)
2	Provided guaranteed market	Government	't Veld (2020), Painuly (2001)
_			't Veld (2020), Balachandra et al. (2010), Painuly (2001).
3	Provide financial incentives	Government	Sen & Ganguly (2017) Zafar et al. (2018)
1	Investments	Government	't Veld (2020) Painuly (2001)
5	Initiate information and awareness compaigns	Government	(2020), Falachapdra et al. (2010), Painuly (2001)
	Dravide standards and regulations	Government	t Veld (2020), Balachandra et al. (2010), Painuly (2001)
0		Government	
/	Take Institutional measures	Government	T Veid (2020), Painuly (2001), Zatar et al. (2018)
8	Set up R&D programs	Government	't Veld (2020), Painuly (2001)
9	Adopt facilitating measures	Government	't Veld (2020), Painuly (2001)
	Provide supportive demonstration and		
10	cost-reduction strategies	Government	't Veld (2020), Reddy & Painuly (2004)
11	Public sector participation	Government	't Veld (2020), Zafar et al. (2018)
12	Improved accessibility to information	Government	't Veld (2020), Zafar et al. (2018)
	Stimulate educational institutes to initiate		
13	related workshops and training	Government	't Veld (2020), Zafar et al. (2018)
	Establish collaborations and alliances with		(2020), Ealar of al. (2010)
	focal actor to reduce power position of		
14	incumbent firms	Compositors (Industry)	24) (ald (2020) Cabriel at al. (2010)
14	Competitor grants the feed estar second to	competitors (industry)	1 VEIU (2020), Gabriel et al. (2010)
45	Competitor grants the tocal actor access to		
15	company resources	Competitors (Industry)	't Veld (2020), Ang (2008)
	Exchange certain skills, knowledge and		
16	information	Competitors (Industry)	't Veld (2020), Tuchman (2015)
	Teach focal actor skills to strengthen their		
17	position in the market	Competitors (Industry)	't Veld (2020), Tuchman (2015)
18	Explore new markets with focal actor	Competitors (Industry)	't Veld (2020), Bloem (2018)
19	Open up opportunities for economies of scale	Competitors (Industry)	't Veld (2020), Bloem (2018)
- 10	Provide financial resources to focal actor and		
20	austomars of food actor	Einopoial institutos (industry)	/t \/ald (2020)
20	Dravida riak agnital	Financial institutes (industry)	(Veld (2020)
21		Financial institutes (industry)	t veid (2020), Sen & Ganguly (2017)
		Educational Institutes	
22	Commercialize scientific research outputs	(industry)	't Veld (2020), Fromhold-Eisebith & Werker (2013)
		Educational institutes	
23	Provide human resources	(industry)	't Veld (2020), Davey et al. (2018)
		Educational institutes	
24	Diffusion of information	(industry)	't Veld (2020), Fromhold-Eisebith & Werker (2013)
		Educational institutes	
25	Technology transfer through collaborative R&D	(industrv)	't Veld (2020), Fromhold-Eisebith & Werker (2013)
		Educational institutes	
26	Provide chean consultancy services	(industry)	't Veld (2020) Fromhold-Fisehith & Werker (2013)
20	i rovido oricap consultanto, convideo	Educational institutes	
27	Equilitate external P&D investments	(inductry)/government	/t Vold (2020) Fromhold Finghith & Worker (2012)
21			
		Educational Institutes	
28	Provide education and training	(industry)	T Vela (2020), Fromhold-Eisebith & Werker (2013)
29	Provide education and training	NGOs and IDOs	rt Veld (2020), Yaqoot et al. (2016)
30	Initiate information and awareness campaigns	NGOs and IDOs	't Veld (2020), Yaqoot et al. (2016)
31	Assist with product demonstrations	NGOs and IDOs	't Veld (2020), Yaqoot et al. (2016)
32	Assist government with policy making	NGOs and IDOs	't Veld (2020), Van Alphen et al. (2008)
	Act as intermediary between customer and focal		
33	actor	NGOs and IDOs	't Veld (2020), Van Alphen et al. (2008)
34	Formulate clear system requirements	Customers	't Veld (2020), Chaurey & Kandpal (2010)
35	Influential community members can create trust	Customers	't Veld (2020) Urmee & Md (2016)
36	Engage in word-of-mouth advertising	Customers	't Veld (2020), Kenton (2016), Krishna (2021)
37	Community participation	Customers	't Veld (2020), Homon (2010), Histina (2021)
29	Influence and shape regulatory charges	Incumbent firms (industry)	't Vold (2020), United a Ma (2010)
30	Cooperate with food actor and become control		t velu (2020), Hekkelt & Neylo (Su)
	Cooperate with focal actor and become early	Lesson benefit and the state of the	
39	movers	Incumbent firms (industry)	't Veld (2020), Hekkert & Negro (sd)

Table 2: Strategies applicable to multiple actors associated with sustainable energy technologies by 't Veld $\left(2020\right)$

	Perspective/				
No.	Strategies	Stakeholders involved	Source		
1	Blue ocean strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Sharma (2016), Kim & Mauborgne (2004)		
2	Preannouncing strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Monataguti et al. (2001)		
3	Aggressive penetration strategy	Industry	Monataguti et al. (2001), Hardman et al (2013), Sharma (2016), Dwisatyawati (2022)		
4	In-house network strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Hardman et al. (2013), Thomas & Maine (2019)		
5	Market positioning strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Hardman it al. (2013), Thomas & Maine (2019),Kamp (2017), Sharma (2016)		
6	Local implementation strategy	Industry/customers	Dwisatyawati (2022), Alam et al. (2010)		
7	Incentives strategy	Industry/government	Dwisatyawati (2022), Iqbal et al. (2021)		
8	Turnkey product strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Strupeit & Palm (2015)		
9	Return oriented contracting strategy	Industry/customers	Dwisatyawati (2022), Strupeit & Palm (2015)		
10	Existing social network strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Strupeit & Palm (2015)		
11	Cross-selling and financing strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Strupeit & Palm (2015)		
12	Product variants strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Naor et al. (2015), Kamp (2017), Sharma (2016)		
13	Complimentary technologies, products and services strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Naor et al. (2015), Hardman et al (2014), Sharma (2016)		
14	Local strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Van den Berg (2017), Strupeit & Palm (2015), Iqbal et al. (2021), Alam et al. (2010)		
15	Stepping stone strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Olsthoorn (2017)		
16	Network building strategy	Industry	Dwisatyawati (2022), Olsthoorn (2017), Van den Berg (2017) Dwisatyawati (2022), Olsthoorn (2017)		

Table 3: Strategies pertaining to the mass adoption of solar electric vehicles by Dwisatyawati (2022)

2 Strategy description

- 1. Liberalizing the sector strategy: Liberalizing the sector strategy mainly involves restructuring, privatization, facilitating competition, and establishing independent regulatory bodies to establish the market and initiate the competition. The objective of this strategy is to aim to create a transparent and fair market environment that facilitates investment and growth (Painuly, 2001).
- 2. Guaranteed markets strategy: Guaranteed markets strategy focuses on creating a stable and secure market for a technology (for example, SEVs) by implementing necessary policy regulations that facilitate a guaranteed demand for the technology. This includes having targets for technology adoption, providing financial incentives, etc. By guaranteeing a market, the objective of this strategy is to attract investments, encourage innovation, and accelerate large-scale diffusion (Pratiwi, 2016).
- 3. Economic/financial incentives strategy: The economic/financial incentives strategy aims to encourage the adoption and diffusion of a technology by providing various financial incentives and benefits to consumers, manufacturers, and other stakeholders. This strategy includes implementing tax credits, subsidies, and grants to reduce the upfront costs of purchasing technology and to incentivize its use (Painuly, 2001).

Appendix C

- 4. **Investment strategy**: The investment strategy, particularly in the context of government investments, aims to bring in (private) investments to support the growth and development of a specific industry. This strategy facilitates an environment that attracts private investors through incentives, favorable policies, and support mechanisms. By promoting external investments, governments can tap into additional financial resources and expertise, bringing in innovation, job creation, and overall economic progress (Pratiwi, 2016).
- 5. **Promotion/awareness campaign strategy**: The promotion/awareness campaign strategy focuses on spreading awareness among stakeholders through various channels such as educational workshops, seminars, and webinars. These initiatives aim to raise awareness about the benefits and potential of a particular technology or concept, in this case, promoting SEVs. By providing basic information, these campaigns educate stakeholders, encouraging their active participation and support in the adoption and diffusion of SEVs (Balachandra et al., 2010).
- 6. Technological research & develop (niche) strategy: The technological research & development (niche) strategy involves R&D, funding research centers, and bringing in external investments to advance solar electric vehicle technology. It encourages innovation, addresses challenges, and facilitates necessary collaborations for researching and developing the technology (Dwisatyawati, 2022), (Fromhold-Eisebith and Werker, 2013).
- 7. Supportive demonstration and cost-reduction strategy: The supportive demonstration and cost-reduction strategy aims to promote technology adoption by demonstrating the capability of the technology and reducing associated costs. This strategy involves organizing technology demonstrations and initiating pilot projects to provide experience and build confidence among customers/end users. It also focuses on bringing down the costs of technology through economies of scale and technological advancements (Reddy and Painuly, 2004).
- 8. Initiate (technical) training strategy: The initiate (technical) training strategy aims to improve accessibility to technical information and develop the necessary skills and expertise for the development and diffusion of technology. This strategy involves making available the technical resources and knowledge, such as manuals, guidelines, and online platforms. It also focuses on leveling up the skills of the current workforce aligned with the specific roles associated with the technology (Zafar et al., 2018).
- 9. Human Resource Management Strategy: The Human Resource Management Strategy involves hiring skilled employees, generating human capital through educational institutes, and providing necessary human resources to support organizational goals. This strategy aims to attract talented individuals, develop their skills, and create a supportive work environment. By implementing an effective Human Resource Management Strategy, organizations can optimize their workforce, enhance employee capabilities, and drive sustainable success (Dwisatyawati, 2022), (Fromhold-Eisebith and Werker, 2013), ('t Veld, 2020).
- 10. Education niche strategy: The education niche strategy involves providing necessary education and training within an organization to improve employee knowledge and skills. This strategy involves conducting training programs, workshops, and educational initiatives to facilitate continuous learning and professional development. Additionally, it promotes internal knowledge sharing, collaboration and information exchange among employees (Dwisatyawati, 2022), (Zafar et al., 2018), (Ortt et al., 2013).

- 11. Lead user niche strategy: The lead-user niche strategy involves identifying and collaborating with lead users who are at the forefront of innovation and have unique needs and preferences. This strategy focuses on understanding the lead users' requirements and insights to develop innovative solutions that can meet their specific demands (Ortt et al., 2013), (Schulz, 2019).
- 12. Finance Sourcing Strategy: The Finance Sourcing Strategy involves exploring ways to secure financial resources for the implementation of projects or initiatives. This strategy includes seeking loans from different lenders, launching crowd funding campaigns, and seeking investments from financial institutions (Schulz, 2019), ('t Veld, 2020).
- 13. Subsidized Niche Strategy: The Subsidized Niche Strategy involves implementing product subsidies and tax subsidies to incentivize the adoption and usage of specific products. Product subsidies provide direct financial support or discounts on the purchase of the intended product, making it more affordable for consumers. Tax subsidies involve providing tax incentives or exemptions to individuals or businesses that are associated with the product (Ortt et al., 2013), (Dwisatyawati, 2022).
- 14. **Redesign niche strategy**: The Redesign Niche Strategy involves exploring alternative applications of a product to meet the immediate needs and preferences of the target market. This strategy potentially involves redesigning the product to make it simpler, adaptable more user-friendly, or more cost-effective (Ortt et al., 2013), (Schulz, 2019).
- 15. Dedicated system or Stand-alone niche strategy: The Dedicated System or Standalone Niche Strategy involves changing the physical aspects of a product or the associated system to create a self-sustainable solution with less reliance on complementary products or services. This strategy aims to provide customers with a comprehensive and selfsufficient solution that meets their needs without the need for additional components (Ortt et al., 2013), (Schulz, 2019).
- 16. Hybridization or Adaptor niche strategy: The Hybridization or Adaptor Niche Strategy involves combining a new product with an existing product to improve compatibility for a better user experience. This strategy focuses on improving the compatibility between the new product and existing complementary services by providing necessary adaptors or converters that bridge the gap between the two (Ortt et al., 2013), (Schulz, 2019).
- 17. Lobbying strategy: The Lobbying Strategy involves directly or indirectly influencing policymakers to influence public policy decisions. Direct lobbying involves engaging in direct contact with policymakers, to advocate for specific policies or changes. Indirect lobbying involves influencing policymakers through channels like NGOs, public opinion, and media campaigns. This strategy may also involve lobbying through financial contributions to political campaigns or having company representatives join regulatory agencies to influence decision-making processes (Schulz, 2019), (Hardman et al., 2013).
- 18. Collaborative product utilization strategy: The Collaborative Product Utilization Strategy focuses on facilitating shared access, utilization, and ownership of a particular product/technology. Through this strategy, consumers can maintain ownership of the product while the company maintains juridical ownership. It may involve offering leasing options where the company retains ownership throughout the lease contract. Through this strategy subscriptions also can be provided to the customers, allowing them to spread out the cost of purchase over a period of time (Schulz, 2019), (Strupeit & Palm, 2016).

- 19. **Buy-one, give-one niche strategy**: The Buy-One, Give-One Niche Strategy involves selling a product to top-end/upper-class customers while simultaneously donating the same product to a target market in need. This strategy aims to create a positive social impact by addressing the needs of poor or lower-class communities (Dwisatyawati, 2022), (Schulz, 2019).
- 20. Geographical niche strategy: The Geographical Niche Strategy involves targeting and focusing on a specific geographical area with relatively high demand for a product. Companies implementing this strategy identify regions or markets where there is a specific need or preference for their product and concentrate their efforts on serving those areas effectively (Ortt et al., 2013), (Schulz, 2019).
- 21. **Top-end niche strategy**: The Top-End Niche Strategy focuses on producing highquality products on a small scale and targeting a particular group of customers or a specific market segment composed of high-end customers (Ortt et al., 2013), (Schulz, 2019).
- 22. Partnerships niche strategy: The Partnerships Niche Strategy involves collaborating and forming partnerships with other stakeholders involved to collectively address (common) barriers and challenges. By working together with partners, companies can leverage their combined resources, expertise, and networks to overcome challenges that may be difficult to overcome individually (Dwisatyawati, 2022), (Strupeit & Palm, 2016), (Hardman et al., 2013).
- 23. Integrated network strategy: The Integrated Network Strategy focuses on building and expanding networks, both within and outside the organization, to accelerate the market diffusion process. It involves leveraging external networks and partnerships to enhance market reach, tap into new customer segments, and utilize existing distribution channels (Dwisatyawati, 2022), (Hardman et al., 2013).
- 24. Marketing strategy: The Marketing Strategy involves various approaches to raise awareness and promote a particular technology, company, or product. One approach is to bring in the influencers who have a strong presence and following in the (target) market. Another strategy is the preannouncing strategy, which involves building anticipation and excitement by introducing the idea of the product or announcing it ahead of the official launch or release of the product (Dwisatyawati, 2022), (Schulz, 2019).
- 25. Stepping stone strategy: The Stepping Stone Strategy involves targeting culturally and geographically closer markets as a stepping stone to gain validation and establish the presence of the company in that market first. Focusing on similar markets or those with closer proximity to the company's existing operations or customer base allows for a relatively easier entry and reduces potential barriers or challenges associated with entering completely new and unfamiliar markets (Dwisatyawati, 2022), (Olsthoorn, 2017).
- 26. **Product variants strategy**: The Product Variants Strategy involves expanding or diversifying the product portfolio to serve a larger target market for the large-scale diffusion of the product. This strategy involves offering products with different designs, specifications, or features that address a diverse range of needs and preferences of end users (Dwisatyawati, 2022), (Sharma, 2016).
- 27. Cross-selling strategy: Cross-selling strategy involves offering the product in combination with other related or attractive products. This strategy aims to attract customers and bring in revenue by encouraging the customers to purchase additional products that

complement or enhance their main product (Strupeit & Palm, 2016), (Dwisatyawati, 2022).

- 28. **Result-oriented contracting strategy**: Result-oriented contracting strategy involves promising the customers of guaranteed results from the use of the product, such as good performance, etc. By providing such assurances regarding the benefits and value customers can expect, this strategy builds confidence and trust in the product. Companies communicate the guaranteed results to end users, highlighting the return on investment (ROI) (Dwisatyawati, 2022), (Strupeit & Palm, 2016).
- 29. Blue Ocean Strategy: Blue Ocean Strategy encourages organizations to create new demand and explore untapped market spaces by offering innovative products in similar/new markets at lower costs and higher efficiency, thus rendering competition irrelevant. It involves finding new and alternative ways to solve customer needs and challenges while creating a unique customer experience (Sharma, 2016), (Kim and Mauborgne, 2004).
- 30. Explore multiple markets strategy: The explore multiple markets strategy involves expanding the reach of the technology by exploring and entering different or new markets, and serving different customer needs. This strategy requires understanding the current trends, demand, and competition in those markets to identify opportunities and potential challenges. It may involve collaborating with other stakeholders, including competitors, to overcome common barriers and utilize collective resources and expertise (Ortt et al., 2013), ('t Veld, 2020), (Bloem, 2018).
- 31. Formulate requirements strategy: The formulate requirements strategy emphasizes the importance of aligning with customer and end-user requirements in the product, to gain trust and acceptance. Customers have the opportunity to clearly articulate their expectations and specifications for the technology while complying with safety standards and government regulations ('t Veld, 2020), (Chaurey and Kandpal, 2010).
- 32. Influential community member strategy: The influential community member strategy involves utilizing the influence and trust that influential members within a community hold. The role of an influential community member is to actively promote and create awareness about the technology among the community members ('t Veld, 2020), (Urmee and Md, 2016).
- 33. Word of mouth strategy: The word of mouth strategy involves utilizing (electronic) Word of Mouth (eWOM) platforms and traditional Word of Mouth (WOM) to spread the (positive) word and promote the technology. eWOM platforms, such as social media, online forums, and review websites, allow for the diffusion of information and recommendations about the product ('t Veld, 2020), (Krishna, 2021).
- 34. Continuous user engagement strategy: The continuous user engagement strategy focuses on actively engaging and maintaining a strong connection with users throughout their entire journey with the technology. It emphasizes interaction, feedback, and communication from customers to ensure user satisfaction and establish a sense of loyalty and involvement ('t Veld, 2020).

